The value of Tai Chi to enhance physical and psychosocial health for people with multiple sclerosis

Dissertation zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades Doktor der Philosophie an der Kulturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Universität Bayreuth

> vorgelegt von Janina Burschka aus Würzburg

Bayreuth, 2015

Dissertation zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades Doktor der Philosophie an der Kulturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Universität Bayreuth.

Vorgelegt vonJanina Burschka1. GutachterProf. Dr. Peter KuhnUniversität Bayreuth2. GutachterProf. Dr. Walter SchmidtUniversität Bayreuth

Annahme der Dissertation 16.6.2015

Janina Burschka: The value of Tai Chi to enhance physical and psychosocial health for people with multiple sclerosis, Dissertation, © January 2015

About the structure of this manuscript:

- 1. This cumulative dissertation is based on three publications. A theoretical framework to these articles is outlined in the first three chapters of this document.
- 2. The chapters include the following information: Chapter 1 provides an overview on the theoretical background. Chapter 2 delineates scientific interest and formulates core research questions. Chapter 3 provides a brief summary of the main findings within a concluding discussion and points out perspectives for future research. Chapter 4 consists of the articles' published versions and an overview on each author's contribution. The articles were reprinted with the journals' permission.
- 3. The Appendix includes all supplementary materials that were published online when the articles were released. The format of these documents was slightly adapted to improve readability within this document.
- 4. The References Section exclusively contains all sources mentioned in Chapters 1 to 3. You will find the sources of each publication within its original references section (Chapter 4). Citation is based on the APA guidelines (6th edition). For quotations and paraphrases the corresponding page numbers are included. Sources cited without a page number refer to the whole article.
- 5. This manuscript was designed for online publication. Links are displayed in colour. To facilitate navigation, a link to the table of contents (toc) is included at the bottom of each page (except for the first page of each chapter).

Abstract

Background

The contribution of exercise to physical and psychosocial health is beyond dispute. Especially individuals with chronic diseases, such as multiple sclerosis (MS), have much to gain from being physically active. MS predominantly occurs during young adulthood. Dependent on disease activity, it leads to a gradual decline of mobility, social participation, and quality of life. A long-term perspective is essential for effective MS management.

Research interest

Pharmacological treatment primarily relies on early intervention to counter disease activity. To detect functional impairment as early as possible, the development of assessment tools is necessary. Further strategies to impede or even restore functional damage are scarce. Only recently, exercise has been recognised as an essential part of MS management. Despite substantial evidence in support of physical activity, specific recommendations on choice and dose of available exercise programs are lacking. There are strong arguments in favour of Tai Chi, a Chinese martial art, to meet the specific needs of this target population. Particularly the principle of mindfulness, which is entangled with the concept of Tai Chi, could be a valuable asset in coping with MS.

Strategies

We evaluated dynamic characteristics of walking behaviour, comparing 37 persons with MS to 25 healthy controls. To describe the change of speed in walking behaviour, we analysed its approximation to three different velocity profiles in two time-framed walking tests. In sum, the observed differences varied depending on test duration (6 versus 12 minutes), disease severity (mild versus moderate disability level) and observed parameter (mean walking speed versus temporal change of walking speed). Our findings indicate an early influence of MS on walking behaviour. We present the linear decline of walking speed as a new, clinically relevant feature of walking ability in persons with MS. The decline in walking speed is particularly suitable to assess walking behaviour with regard to fatigue, because it better reflects the individual's subjective constraints than the commonly assessed parameter mean walking speed.

We analysed both the concept of Tai Chi and research on Tai Chi with special regard to *methodology*. The concept of Tai Chi is highly pluralistic. Scientific research on Tai Chi is just as manifold. Such divergent investigation makes it difficult to collect convergent evidence. The complexity within this field should receive more attention. Tai Chi is a complex intervention that requires an elaborate and well-designed scientific approach. A first step

into this direction is to improve the quality of reporting and standardisation. In addition, the inclusion of high quality qualitative research should be pushed forward.

We devised a standardised Tai Chi program and analysed its therapeutic value for persons with MS. We evaluated the program within a 6-month intervention, comparing a Tai Chi group (n = 15) to a group that received treatment as usual (n = 17). We found a consistent pattern of beneficial effects on the following parameters: balance, coordination, fatigue, depression, and life satisfaction.

Conclusion

Dynamic characteristics of walking behaviour could support improved monitoring of mobility in MS. Tai Chi is a promising opportunity for persons with MS to engage in long-term physical activity and foster both physical and psychosocial resources.

Keywords: multiple sclerosis, physical activity, exercise, mobility, walking test, complex intervention, research methodology, Tai Chi, mindfulness

Zusammenfassung

Hintergrund

Die Bedeutung körperlicher Aktivität für die physische und psychosoziale Gesundheit steht außer Frage. Insbesondere die Betroffenen chronischer Erkrankungen wie Multipler Sklerose (MS) können von körperlicher Aktivität profitieren. MS tritt vor allem im jungen Erwachsenenalter auf und führt – abhängig von der Kranheitsaktivität – zu einer allmählich fortscheitenden Einschränkung von Mobilität, sozialer Teilhabe und Lebensqualität. Eine langfristig vorausschauende Perspektive ist unerlässlich, um eine effektive Behandlung zu gewährleisten.

Forschungsinteresse

Der Erfolg einer medikamentösen Behandlung hängt vor allem davon ab, wie schnell auf einen Krankheitsschub reagiert werden kann. Um funktionelle Beeinträchtigungen frühzeitig zu erfassen, ist es notwendig, geeignete Messverfahren zu entwickeln. Neben einer medikamentösen Therapie gibt es aktuell keine wirksamen Strategien, um das Fortscheiten der Erkrankung aufzuhalten oder sogar rückgängig zu machen. Erst vor kurzer Zeit wurde körperliche Aktivität als ein essentielles Element in der Behandlung von MS erkannt. Während die aktuelle Studienlage den Wert körperlicher Aktivität für MS Betroffene eindeutig hervorhebt, fehlt es an genauen Empfehlungen zur Auswahl und Anwendung verfügbarer Bewegungsprogramme und Sportarten. Es gibt klare Argumente dafür, dass Tai Chi, eine chinesische Kampfkunst, sich sehr gut für die speziellen Bedürfnisse dieser Zielgruppe eignet. Vor allem das Prinzip der Achtsamkeit, das mit Tai Chi untrennbar verbunden ist, könnte für die Therapie von MS bedeutsam sein und sich als besonders hilfreich erweisen.

Strategien

Wir untersuchten dynamische Kenngrößen im Gehverhalten 37 MS Betroffenener und 25 gesunder Kontrollpersonen. Um die Geschwindigkeitsveränderung im Gehverhalten zu beschreiben, untersuchten wir deren Annäherung an drei verschiedene Geschwindigkeitsprofile während zweier Gehtests mit Zeitlimitierung. Die Ausprägung der Gruppenunterschiede variierte in Abhängigkeit der Testdauer (6 Minuten gegenüber 12 Minuten), des Behinderungsgrades (geringfügig gegenüber moderat) und der beobachteten Kenngrößen (mittlere Gehgeschwindigkeit gegenüber Verlangsamung der Gehgeschwindigkeit). An unseren Ergebnissen lässt sich ablesen, dass sich MS frühzeitig auf die Gehfähigkeit der Betroffenen auswirkt. Wir schlagen den linearen Abfall der Gehgeschwindigkeit als einen neuen, klinisch relevanten Parameter vor, um die Gehfähigkeit MS Betroffener zu erfassen. Der lineare Trend eignet sich insbesondere, um das Gehverhalten im Hinblick auf Fatigue zu untersuchen, da dieser Parameter das subjektive Empfinden MS Betroffener besser widerspiegelt als die üblicherweise gemessene mittlere Gehgeschwindigkeit.

Wir analysierten das Konzept, das sich hinter dem Namen Tai Chi verbirgt, sowie die Art und Weise, wie Tai Chi bisher wissenschaftlich untersucht wurde. Dabei fand die Forschungsmethodik eine besondere Berücksichtigung. Das Konzept Tai Chi ist überaus vielfältig. Analog dazu hat sich die Forschung über Tai Chi in viele verschiedene Richtungen verzweigt. Eine solch divergente Herangehensweise erschwert die Zusammenführung und Interpretation der gewonnenen Ergebnisse. Es ist notwendig, der Komplexität in diesem Gebiet mehr Aufmerksamkeit zu schenken. Tai Chi als Intervention ist sehr komplex. Dies erfordert eine ausgeklügelte und durchdachte wissenschaftliche Strategie. Der erste Schritt in diese Richtung ist eine bessere Berichterstattung und Standardisierung. Zusätzlich sollten gezielt qualitative Forschungsmethoden stärker mit einbezogen werden.

Wir entwickelten ein standardisiertes Tai Chi Programm und untersuchten dessen therapeutischen Wert für MS Betroffene. Dazu evaluierten wir das Programm im Rahmen einer 6-monatigen Intervention und verglichen die Tai Chi Gruppe (n = 15) mit einer Kontrollgruppe (n = 17), die ihre übliche Behandlung beibehielt. Unsere Analyse ergab ein einheitliches Muster positiver Effekte in den folgenen Variablen: Gleichgewicht, Koordination, Fatigue, Depression und Lebenszufriedenheit.

Schlussfolgerung

Die Untersuchung der Gehfähigkeit von MS Betroffenen sollte dynamische Kenngrößen des Gehverhaltens berücksichtigen. Tai Chi ist eine vielversprechende Möglichkeit für MS Betroffene, sich langfristig körperlich zu betätigen und ihre physischen und psychosozialen Ressourcen zu stärken.

Schlüsselwörter: Multiple Sklerose, körperliche Aktivität, Bewegung, Sport, Gehtest, Gehfähigkeit, komplexe Intervention, Tai Chi, Achtsamkeit

Table of Contents

Abstract

 1.1 What is multiple sclerosis? 1.1.1 Prevalence and socio-economic scope 1.1.2 Aetiology, pathogenesis and pathophysiology 1.1.3 Symptoms and clinical presentation 1.1.4 Diagnosis, diagnostics and treatment 1.2 Why is physical activity important for MS management? 1.2.1 The chances of physical activity 1.2.2 Mechanisms of exercise induced benefits 1.2.3 Evidence for exercise-induced effects 1.2.4 Recommendations on physical activity in MS 1.3 Why could Tai Chi be particularly suitable? 1.3.1 Tai Chi is gentle and accessible 1.3.2 Tai Chi can be adapted to specific needs 	1 2 4 9 11 12 13 14 15 15 16 16
 1.1.1 Prevalence and socio-economic scope	1 2 4 9 11 12 12 13 14 15 15 16
 1.1.2 Aetiology, pathogenesis and pathophysiology 1.1.3 Symptoms and clinical presentation 1.1.4 Diagnosis, diagnostics and treatment 1.2 Why is physical activity important for MS management? 1.2.1 The chances of physical activity 1.2.2 Mechanisms of exercise induced benefits 1.2.3 Evidence for exercise-induced effects 1.2.4 Recommendations on physical activity in MS 1.3 Why could Tai Chi be particularly suitable? 1.3.1 Tai Chi is gentle and accessible 1.3.2 Tai Chi can be adapted to specific needs 	2 4 9 11 12 13 14 15 15 16 16
 1.1.3 Symptoms and clinical presentation 1.1.4 Diagnosis, diagnostics and treatment 1.2 Why is physical activity important for MS management? 1.2.1 The chances of physical activity 1.2.2 Mechanisms of exercise induced benefits 1.2.3 Evidence for exercise-induced effects 1.2.4 Recommendations on physical activity in MS 1.3 Why could Tai Chi be particularly suitable? 1.3.1 Tai Chi is gentle and accessible 1.3.2 Tai Chi can be adapted to specific needs 	4 9 11 12 12 13 14 15 15 16 16
 1.1.4 Diagnosis, diagnostics and treatment 1.2 Why is physical activity important for MS management? 1.2.1 The chances of physical activity 1.2.2 Mechanisms of exercise induced benefits 1.2.3 Evidence for exercise-induced effects 1.2.4 Recommendations on physical activity in MS 1.3 Why could Tai Chi be particularly suitable? 1.3.1 Tai Chi is gentle and accessible 1.3.2 Tai Chi can be adapted to specific needs 	9 11 12 13 14 15 15 16 16
 1.2 Why is physical activity important for MS management? 1.2.1 The chances of physical activity 1.2.2 Mechanisms of exercise induced benefits 1.2.3 Evidence for exercise-induced effects 1.2.4 Recommendations on physical activity in MS 1.3 Why could Tai Chi be particularly suitable? 1.3.1 Tai Chi is gentle and accessible 1.3.2 Tai Chi can be adapted to specific needs 	11 12 13 14 15 15 16 16
 1.2.1 The chances of physical activity 1.2.2 Mechanisms of exercise induced benefits 1.2.3 Evidence for exercise-induced effects 1.2.4 Recommendations on physical activity in MS 1.3 Why could Tai Chi be particularly suitable? 1.3.1 Tai Chi is gentle and accessible 1.3.2 Tai Chi can be adapted to specific needs 	12 12 13 14 15 15 16 16
 1.2.2 Mechanisms of exercise induced benefits	12 13 14 15 15 16 16
 1.2.3 Evidence for exercise-induced effects	13 14 15 15 16 16
 1.2.4 Recommendations on physical activity in MS 1.3 Why could Tai Chi be particularly suitable? 1.3.1 Tai Chi is gentle and accessible 1.3.2 Tai Chi can be adapted to specific needs 	14 15 15 16 16
 1.3 Why could Tai Chi be particularly suitable? 1.3.1 Tai Chi is gentle and accessible 1.3.2 Tai Chi can be adapted to specific needs 	15 15 16 16
1.3.1 Tai Chi is gentle and accessible 1.3.2 Tai Chi can be adapted to specific needs	15 16 16
1.3.2 Tai Chi can be adapted to specific needs	16 16
	16
1.3.3 Tai Chi could help to overcome barriers to exercise participation	
2 Research interest	19
3 Discussion and perspectives	23
3.1 What did we ask?	23
3.2 What did we do?	24
3.3 What did we learn?	26
3.4 Which questions remain?	29
4 Publications	31
Authors' contributions	32
4.1 An exploration of impaired walking dynamics and fatigue in multiple sclerosis	33
4.2 Research on Tai Chi as a sport in healthcare	41
4.3 Mindfulness-based interventions in multiple sclerosis	57
Appendix	67
References	99
Acknowledgements	105
Curriculum Vitae	

1 Background

In the first section of this chapter (1.1), we introduce MS as a disease with many faces but without cure. While the knowledge on pathological mechanisms and treatment strategies has been growing, there is still a need for innovative strategies to complement MS therapy. We provide an overview on the state of the art research, focusing on the importance of physical activity for persons with MS in the second section (1.2). While the effects of physical activity tend to be beneficial, there is a lack of specific recommendations for available exercise programs. On this basis, we highlight the martial art Tai Chi as a particularly suitable type of exercise for people with MS in the third section (1.3).

1.1 What is multiple sclerosis?

Multiple sclerosis is an autoimmune disease of the central nervous system (CNS). Its main feature are chronic inflammatory processes within the brain and spinal cord. Depending on the severity and dissemination of affected areas, a variety of different symptoms can occur. These processes lead to a gradual decrease in multiple functional areas. Disease onset predominantly occurs during early adulthood, causing considerable impact on both, affected individuals and society. Despite extensive research efforts and remarkable advances in treatment possibilities, the cause of MS remains a mystery, its course unpredictable and a cure has yet to be discovered. This uncertainty puts to the test the coping skills of affected individuals and their families. Additionally, the multi-dimensional and intangible phenotype of MS challenges scientists and healthcare providers.

1.1.1 Prevalence and socio-economic scope

About 2.1 million people are affected by MS worldwide (DeLuca & Nocentini, 2011, p. 197). It is important to note that the estimated incidence rates differ between countries relative to the rigour and quality of disease investigation. Medical progress (such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) techniques) and an increased life expectancy partially contribute to a longitudinal rise observed in MS incidence and prevalence rates.

In Europe, more than 500.000 people are estimated to live with MS (Flachenecker et al., 2014, p. 1). With the intention of enabling systematic acquisition and analysis of data on MS in Europe, the European Register for Multiple Sclerosis (EUReMS) project was set up in 2010 (Flachenecker et al., 2014). The incidence of MS is highest during early adulthood, between the ages of 20 and 40 (Kamm, Uitdehaag & Polman, 2014, p. 132). The lifetime risk of developing MS is 2.5% in women and 1.4% in men (Kamm et al., 2014, p. 133).

The progressive accumulation of disability along the disease course contributes to a rising economic burden. Even within the first 5-10 years after diagnosis, the unemployment rate of people with MS is 70-80%, (DeLuca & Nocentini, 2011, p. 203). The main reasons for unemployment are fatigue and cognitive impairment. While about 40% of unemployed persons with MS would like to go back to work, this is extremely difficult to accomplish without giving up obtained disability benefits (DeLuca & Nocentini, 2011, p. 203). In 2006, the annual health care costs per patient were estimated to range from €18.000 in mild disability, to €62.000 in severe disability (Kobelt, Berg, Lindgren, Fredrikson & Jönsson, 2006, p. 918).

1.1.2 Aetiology, pathogenesis and pathophysiology

The aetiology of MS is unknown. Its onset seems to depend on a combination of genetic susceptibility and environmental factors (Kamm et al., 2014, p. 133 - 134). Triggered by a viral infection or infectious agent, the immune response initiates a chronic inflammation of the central nervous system (Kamm et al., 2014, p. 133; Compston & Coles, 2008).

Inflammation and neurodegeneration

Briefly summarized, these inflammatory processes lead to tissue damage and neurodegeneration. Prior to the time of MRI techniques, the evaluation of neural tissue damage occurred predominantly *post mortem* – on the basis of visible lesions of sclerotic tissue, disseminated across the CNS (Murray, 2009, p. 4). These "plaques" constitute the core of MS pathology (DeLuca & Nocentini, 2011, p. 199). On MR images, they appear as white spots. Upon closer inspection, three different stages of plaque development can be differentiated: demyelination, axonal loss and sclerosis.

It is not clear to what extent the inflammatory and neurodegenerative processes interact with one another. Further, it is unknown whether one precedes the other (Compston & Coles, 2008, p. 1509; Kamm et al., 2014, p. 134). These two possibilities are referred to as outside-in model (neuronal damage is caused by an auto-immune reaction) and inside-out model (neuronal injury causes an auto-immune reaction) (Kamm et al., 2014, p. 132 - 134). In sum, MS pathology involves the following processes: acute and/or chronic inflammation, demyelination, lack of myelin producing cells (oligodendrocytes), excess of sclerotic tissue (astrocytes) as well as degeneration of axons and neurons (Frohman, Racke & Raine, 2006). The severity and interplay of these processes significantly influences the balance between functional impairment and functional recovery.



Figure 1: Clinical course of multiple sclerosis. The figure shows the connection and interplay between the processes involved in MS pathology: inflammation, symptom presentation and neurodegeneration. If disease activity does not exceed a certain degree (clinical threshold), damage can remain undetected by the individual. However, as soon as the capacity of the CNS to compensate for damage reaches its limit, functional disturbances in various domains occur. Along its course, MS can lead to an increasing loss of axons, a decreasing brain volume and a progressive accumulation of disability. (This figure was reprinted from The Lancet, Compston, A. & Coles, A. (2008). Multiple sclerosis. 372(9648), p.1508 with permission from Elsevier.)

Functional impairment and functional recovery

On the one hand, the pathological processes cause tissue damage and functional impairment that is disseminated across the CNS. In sum, the excitation, conduction, and synaptic transmission of signals become increasingly attenuated (Compston & Coles, 2008). Demyelination impedes saltatory conduction across affected axons. Additionally, it enables non-synaptic transmissions of electrical impulses (ephaptic transmission) and spontaneous depolarisation (Compston & Coles, 2008, p. 1509). Apart from this, the damage to the axons themselves leads to a gradual disconnection and demise of the neural network. On the other hand, there are two adaptive mechanisms working towards functional recovery. Firstly, myelin producing cells counteract the pathological processes by repairing the axons' myelin sheath (remyelination) (Luessi, Kuhlmann & Zipp, 2014). Secondly, neuroplasticity enables adaptive remapping of cortical representations (functional reorganization)

(Tomassini et al., 2012, p. 3). In this case, additional cortical regions that are not typically involved in a task are activated to compensate the neuronal damage (Döring, Pfueller, Paul & Dörr, 2012, p. 8; Tomassini et al., 2012).

Defining the course of MS

In summary, the symptomatic phenomena of MS depend on localization and severity of the involved pathological processes (see Figure 1). In large part, early stages of MS are determined by the waxing and waning of acute inflammation and plaque activity. Later stages of the disease are characterized by a slight but continuously expanding inflammation around former plaques and diffuse neurodegenerative processes (Kamm et al., 2014, p. 134). This differentiation between the sudden appearance/exacerbation of symptoms and their steady

worsening, defines the course of MS. In addition to this, the presence of acute relapses and the extent of their remission are key criteria. A relapse is defined as an acute progression of the disease. In this context, it is important to differentiate between real relapses and pseudo relapses (for additional information see Frohman et al., 2013): A *relapse* in MS "is a reflection of a sub-acute to acute focal inflammatory event in the CNS that has damaged myelinated axons or neurons, which has lead to failure of neurological signalling." (Vollmer, 2007, p. 9)

A *pseudo relapse* reflects "a change in neurological function in patients with MS due to physiological processes other than a new inflammatory process in the CNS (e.g., fever) that lead to increased conduction delay and block in previously damaged white matter and that is reversible when the physiologic stress is removed." (Vollmer, 2007, p. 6)

The disease course is variable and usually categorized according to a definition formulated by Lublin and Reingold in 1996. The definition includes four main types that differ in frequency of occurrence (DeLuca & Nocentini, 2011, p. 199; Lublin & Reingold, 1996). Approximately 85% of new diagnoses are relapsing-remitting MS (see Figure 2). About 80% of these patients transition into secondary-progressive MS at individual time points (see Figure 4). Primary-progressive MS is less frequent (10%) (see Figure 3). Relapsingprogressive courses are rare (5%) (see Figure 5). In 2013, this scheme of categorization was revised, for example to include information about the current state of disease activity (Lublin et al., 2014).

1.1.3 Symptoms and clinical presentation

The manifestation of symptoms in MS depends on the balance between functional impairment (severity of inflammation and extent of neuronal damage) and functional recovery (degree of remyelination and success of cortical reorganization) (Tomassini et al., 2012). Theoretically, a multitude of symptoms can appear depending on the localization of damage within the CNS (Compston & Coles, 2008, p. 1503). Yet, there are MS specific patterns regarding predominantly affected areas (DeLuca & Nocentini, 2011, p. 198).

Prevalent symptoms comprise impaired *motion control* (such as disturbed coordination and balance, spasticity, paresis, ataxia, impaired ability to speak or swallow), *visual impairment, sensory dysfunction* (such as pain and paraesthesia) and *autonomic dysfunction* (such as bladder, bowel and sexual dysfunction) (Döring et al., 2012, p. 1). About 60 - 80% of MS patients reported that a rise in body temperature leads to a temporary worsening of their symptoms (*Uhthoff's Phenomenon*) (Döring et al., 2012, p. 6; Frohman et al., 2013). According to Frohman & colleagues (2013), this phenomenon "can be triggered by factors including the perimenstrual period, exercise, infection, fever, exposure to high ambient temperatures, and psychological stress" (p. 535). In large part, the symptoms of MS manifest in the following multi-dimensional constructs: fatigue, mobility impairment, cognitive impairment, and depression.



Figure 2: "Relapsing-remitting (RR) MS is characterized by clearly defined acute attacks with full recovery (a) or with sequelae and residual deficit upon recovery (b). Periods between disease relapses are characterized by lack of disease progression." (Lublin & Reingold, 1996, p. 908)



Figure 3: "Primary progressive (PP) MS is characterized by disease showing progression of disability from onset, without plateaus or remissions (a) or with occasional plateaus and temporary minor improvements (b)." (Lublin & Reingold, 1996, p. 909)



Figure 4: "Secondary progressive (SP) MS begins with an initial RR course, followed by progression of variable rate (a) that may also include occasional relapses and minor remissions (b)." (Lublin & Reingold, 1996, p. 909)



Figure 5: "Progressive-relapsing (PR) MS shows progression from onset but with clear acute relapses with (a) or without (b) full recovery." (Lublin & Reingold, 1996, p. 910)

Fatigue

Fatigue is one of the most common symptoms of MS. While the overall prevalence rate of fatigue is almost 80%, 55% of the patients report fatigue to be one of the worst symptoms they experience (Khan, Amatya & Galea, 2014, p. 1). For further information see Asano & Finlayson (2014) and Kos, Kerckhofs, Nagels, D'hooghe & Ilsbroukx (2008). The feeling of fatigue is highly subjective and difficult to define or measure (Dobkin, 2008). The lack of a homogeneous terminology regarding name, causes and dimensions of fatigue challenges comprehensibility and comparability of scientific studies (Asano & Finlayson, 2014, p. 1,6; Burschka, 2010, p. 23 - 40; Kos et al., 2008, p. 97). In 1998, Fatigue was defined as "a subjective lack of physical and/or mental energy that is perceived by the individual or caregiver to interfere with usual and desired activities" (Multiple Sclerosis Council for Clinical Practice Guidelines, 1998, p. 2). In 2007, the following definition was developed and evaluated on the basis of four additional definition attempts:

"Fatigue is defined as reversible, motor and cognitive impairment with reduced motivation and desire to rest, either appearing spontaneously or brought on by mental or physical activity, humidity, acute infection and food ingestion. It is relieved by daytime sleep or rest without sleep. It can occur at any time but is usually worse in the afternoon. In MS, fatigue can be daily, has usually been present for years and has greater severity than any pre-morbid fatigue." (Mills & Young, 2008, p. 57)

Despite the development of several theories, the origin of fatigue in MS remains unknown. Primary and secondary contributing factors to fatigue are discussed (Khan et al., 2014, p. 2; Kos et al., 2008): Primary factors result directly from disease activity. They could originate locally due to demyelination and neurodegeneration or be systemic due to the immune response. Moreover, the mechanisms to compensate for neuronal damage (such as cortical reorganization and increased central motor drive) could lead to an elevated energy expenditure (Burschka, 2010, p. 26; Kos et al., 2008, p. 91).

In contrast to this, secondary fatigue could result from MS-related complications, musculosceletal problems, concomitant diseases, pharmacological treatment, sleep quality and personal factors (such as nutrition and physical activity). In addition to the multitude of possible causes, fatigue manifests in different dimensions, for example with regard to time (acute or chronic onset) and functional impairment (motion or cognition) (Khan et al., 2014, p. 1). The multi-dimensionality of fatigue makes it very difficult to pinpoint specific causes at the individual level. Moreover, it is difficult to distinguish fatigue from other MS symptoms, such as cognitive impairment and depression. For an exemplary overview on fatigue in MS, see Figure 6.

Mobility impairment

Mobility impairment is both a prominent symptom even early in the disease and a long-term consequence of MS (Motl, 2013, p. 326). The estimated prevalence ranges from 41% to 75% (Motl, 2013, p. 326). It is important to note that impaired mobility can result in a sub-stantial decrease in quality of life (Motl, 2013, p. 333). Disease progression affects two viable



Figure 6: Overview on the different dimensions of fatigue in MS (Khan et al., 2014; Krupp, Serafin & Christodoulou, 2010; MacAllister & Krupp, 2005). Depending on the perspective, a multitude of different parameters involved in the occurrence and consequences of fatigue in MS can be differentiated. First, primary and secondary causes of fatigue can be distinguished. Second, fatigue can be entangled with other symptoms of MS, such as depression and cognitive impairment. Third, fatigue can manifest in different dimensions, for example regarding time and affected function. This multi-dimensionality of fatigue makes it very difficult to pinpoint specific causes at the individual level and to provide appropriate therapy.

components of ambulatory ability: motion control and sensory function (Motl, 2013, p. 326). Sensory dysfunction such as visual impairment and paraesthesia (for example numbness, pain, pins and needles) reduce the quality of sensory feedback. This challenges orientation, balance and the ability to adapt movement to changes in the environment. Motoric dysfunction such as inappropriate muscle innervation (for example spasticity, weakness, ataxia) additionally challenges coordination. While in healthy people the ability to walk relies on automatic and unconscious mechanisms, MS patients have to resort to a higher level of conscious motion control (Motl, 2013, p. 327). This could require a decrease in walking speed in order to process relevant information in time. In sum, the elevated level of required resources could lead to earlier energy depletion and occurrence of fatigue (Motl, 2013, p. 328 - 329).

Cognitive impairment

Cognitive impairment is a frequent symptom of MS. The prevalence ranges from 43% to 70% (Chiaravalloti & DeLuca, 2008, p. 1139). However, the neuropsychological presentation of cognitive impairment differs among MS patients and may be influenced by a wide range of factors (Motl, Sandroff & Benedict, 2011, p. 1035). Predominantly affected cognitive domains include information processing, memory, complex attention, executive functioning, and visual perceptual skills (Chiaravalloti & DeLuca, 2008; DeLuca & Nocentini, 2011, p. 201 - 202). In addition to this, cognitive impairment can significantly impact quality of life, activities of daily living and the ability to work (Motl et al., 2011, p. 1035; Siegert & Abernethy, 2005, p. 469).

Depression

Depression rates are high among MS patients, suggesting a lifetime-risk of 25 to 50%, which is 2 to 5 times higher than observed in the general population (Feinstein, Magalhaes, Richard, Audet & Moore, 2014, p. 508). However, such estimates should be treated with caution. First, symptoms of depression may overlap with other symptoms of MS, including fatigue, pain, anxiety, and cognitive impairment (Feinstein et al., 2014, p. 509). Second, there is little consensus among researchers about standard assessments to diagnose depression (Siegert & Abernethy, 2005, p. 470). Third, reports on estimated depression rates were based on different populations (Siegert et al., 2005, p. 470). According to the ICD-10 (World Health Organization, 2015), a depressive episode (F.32) is characterized by the following criteria: lowering of mood, reduction of energy, decrease in activity, reduced selfesteem, sleep and appetite disturbances, and psychomotor retardation. In addition to this, depression is closely related to abnormal cognitive mechanisms, such as rumination (World Health Organization, 2015, F42.0).

The symptoms delineated above can significantly impact the affected individuals' quality of life. They appear as complex constructs that are highly individual and tend to comprise

multiple interacting components. Especially the attempt to clearly differentiate between fatigue, cognitive impairment, and depression is a vexed issue with regard to both, identifying possible causes and providing well-directed treatment. This multi-dimensionality particularly challenges the development, evaluation and adequate prescription of effective interventions.

1.1.4 Diagnosis, diagnostics and treatment

The intangible and complex phenotype of MS poses great challenges to diagnosis and treatment. Presently, there is no test available to definitely diagnose MS (Milo & Miller, 2014, p. 518; National Clinical Guideline Centre, 2014, p. 48). The diagnosis is made with the help of specific criteria that keep being adapted according to the advancing knowledge and possibilities (Milo & Miller, 2014, p. 518). The core of MS diagnosis consists of examining the dissemination of inflammatory processes in space and time by MR imaging of the CNS (DeLuca & Nocentini, 2011, p. 201). In fact, MRI machines have contributed substantially to reducing the time between disease onset and diagnosis (Haghikia & Gold, 2013, p. 358).

Clinical assessment

The assessment of disease-related parameters primarily relies on MRI, clinical evaluation, functional tests and measures of self-report. *MR imaging* plays a key role in monitoring the disease course, treatment efficiency and side effects (Haghikia & Gold, 2013, p. 376 - 377). The most widely used tool to assess neurological function in MS is the *Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS)* (Kurtzke, 1983). In the EDSS the overall state of disease progression is quantified by the assessment of eight functional systems (pyramidal, cerebellar, brain stem, sensory, bowel and bladder, visual, mental, other) on a six point rating scale, in addition to mobility and activities of daily living. The EDSS score ranges from zero (no dysfunction) to ten (death as a consequence of MS). The main focus of the EDSS includes motor function and ambulatory ability.

Assessments of global functioning and self-report measures

Further assessments of global functioning in MS include the *Barthel Index (BI)* and the *Multiple Sclerosis Functional Composite (MSFC)*. The BI evaluates a person's ability to carry out basic activities of daily living. The MSFC evaluates cognition, fine motor skills and ambulation¹ (DeLuca & Nocentini, 2011, p. 204). It is important to note, that the assessment of ambulatory ability is an integral part of monitoring disease progression and treatment success (Motl, 2013, p. 327). The most commonly used tests to assess walking performance are the *Timed 25-Foot Walk (T25-FW)* and the *6-minute walk (6-MW)* (Motl, 2013, p. 327 -328). Both assessments rely on result-oriented parameters of walking behavior, such as the time needed to cover a predefined distance (T25-FW) or the total distance walked during a

¹The MSFC includes the following tests: 9-Hole Peg Test, Paced Audio Serial Addition Test (PASAT), Timed 25-Foot Walk (T25-FW).

given amount of time (6-MW). Apart from clinical evaluation, many assessments resort to patient self-report measures, for example on fatigue, depression and quality of life. In summary, clinical assessments are needed to differentiate between normal functioning and pathological impairment, with regard to the severity and duration of a specific symptom, its impact on everyday activities and psychological strain. Moreover, subjective as well as objective assessments are essential in determining whether specific treatment is necessary and whether it is successful. In general, treatment options are divided into pharmacological treatment and non-pharmacological treatment.

Pharmacological treatment

Pharmacological treatment of MS can be divided into: treatment of relapses, immunomodulatory therapy (basic therapy, escalating therapy) and symptomatic therapy (Kamm et al., 2014). Many MS patients also turn to alternative treatment options, such as complementary and alternative medicine (DeLuca & Nocentini, 2011, p. 209).

To date, there are eight approved pharmacological agents in the domain of immunomodulatory therapy (Kamm et al., 2014, p. 137). All of these drugs primarily aim to decrease the number and severity of relapses by early anti-inflammatory intervention. Thus, an early diagnosis plays a crucial role in the possibilities of treating MS. The interventional approach is chosen with regard to individual symptom presentation, disease course and prognosis. However, despite the growing body of knowledge on factors influencing disease progression, their prognostic value at the individual level remains poor (DeLuca & Nocentini, 2011, p. 199). Moreover, the rising number of treatment options contributes to the complexity of MS management, especially with regard to an individualized therapy (Kamm et al., 2014, p. 139).

Apart from decreasing the rate and severity of relapses via early immunomodulatory treatment, the possibilities to save neural tissue are scarce (Haghikia & Gold, 2013, p. 377). In particular, there is a lack of tools available to counter and reverse neurodegeneration, especially in progressive courses of the disease. Current investigative efforts regarding neuroprotection include experiments with regeneration of axonal injury and stem cell administration (Haghikia & Gold, 2013).

Non-pharmacological treatment

Non-pharmacological treatment is an important complement to pharmacological treatment. In some cases, it might be superior to drug-based treatment, for example in the management of fatigue (Asano & Finlayson, 2014, p. 4; Khan et al., 2014, p. 14). Non-pharmacological treatment consists of physical therapy (physiotherapy, ergotherapy, logopedics and rehabilitation) as well as psychological therapy and social therapy (Döring et al., 2012, p. 2). Basically, this approach to deal with arising symptoms primarily focuses on rehabilitation. However, a prevention-oriented approach could further increase the chances of successfully dealing with MS. For example, it was suggested to include behavioural interventions

Physical activity any type of active physical movement				
Every day physical activity any type of physical movement that consumes the subject's energy during every day life	Exercise planned performance of systematically repeated movements to strengthen physical condition, accomplish skills, and improve performance	Sport exercise with a focus on physical achivement, competition, and fun		

Figure 7: Terminology to distinguish different domains of physical activity in this manuscript. This scheme was built according to the definitions provided by the WHO (2014) and Döring et al., (2012, p. 3).

into standard MS management (Döring et al., 2012; Ellis & Motl, 2013). This request is in line with the recent interest in the impact of exercise on disease progression and life quality. Exercise can contribute essentially to MS management (Dalgas & Stenager, 2012; DeLuca & Nocentini, 2011; Döring et al., 2012; Motl & Pilutti, 2012; National Clinical Guideline Centre, 2014). Despite this recognition as a valuable tool to increase function and quality of life in MS patients, exercise is not commonly offered or prescribed as an integral part of MS therapy (Döring et al., 2012).

1.2 Why is physical activity important for MS management?

The World Health Organization (WHO) defined *physical activity* as "any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that requires energy expenditure" (WHO, 2014, What is physical activity?, para. 1). It is important to distinguish between the terms *physical activity* and *exercise*. *Exercise* is "a subcategory of physical activity that is planned, structured, repetitive, and purposeful in the sense that the improvement or maintenance of one or more components of physical fitness is the objective" (WHO, 2014, What is physical activity?, para. 2). The term *sport* is used in current literature on the same track as the term exercise. It was suggested to define sport as "exercise with a focus on physical achievement, competition and fun" (Döring et al., 2012, p. 3). The main difference between the terms *physical activity* and *exercise/sport* lies in the degree of deliberate planning involved. Despite these clear definitions, it remains difficult to unambiguously denote whether the term *physical activity* points to physical activity in *everyday life* (excluding exercise/sport) or to physical activity in general (including exercise/sport). The terminology used in this manuscript was chosen according to the categorization in Figure 7.

Since the 1990s scientific interest in the effects of physical activity on MS has been rising tremendously (Tallner, Mäurer & Pfeifer, 2013, p. 1239). However, due to the delayed recognition of its therapeutic potential, the evidence on specific effects of physical activity on disease progression is still limited. In traditional MS management, bed rest was medically prescribed and patients were advised against physical activity (Tallner et al., 2013). Two main reasons for these recommendations were the observation of symptom aggravation along with a rise in body temperature and the intent of conserving energy to minimize fatigue. Even though first calls towards the inclusion of physical therapy into MS management came up in the 1960s, the potential of regular physical activity only started to gain attention during the 1980s (Tallner et al., 2013, p. 1241). By comparison, physical activity in the field of heart disease had already been established via outpatient exercise groups and a specific education for exercise instructors (Tallner et al., 2013, p. 1243).

1.2.1 The chances of physical activity

Compared to healthy controls, people with MS show a reduced level of physical functioning, including cardiorespiratory capacity, muscle strength and balance (Döring et al., 2012, p. 8). It is important to note that such symptoms can aggravate due to physical inactivity (Döring et al., 2012, p. 3). Additionally, physical inactivity comprises the risk of secondary morbidities to MS, such as obesity, diabetes, osteoporosis, cardiovascular damage and additional complications (Döring et al., 2012; National Clinical Guideline Centre, 2014; Tallner & Pfeifer, 2008).

Yet, many persons with MS take on a physically inactive lifestyle and miss out on the therapeutic potential of physical activity (Dalgas & Stenager, 2012; DeLuca & Nocentini, 2011; Döring et al., 2012; Motl & Pilutti, 2012; National Clinical Guideline Centre, 2014). The prevalence of physical inactivity in the MS population (reaching up to 78%) seems not only higher than in the general population but even higher compared to people with other chronic diseases (Latimer-Cheung et al., 2013b, p. 1801). To promote a shift towards the engagement of people with MS in physical activity, exercise has explicitly been recommended in current clinical guidelines: "Encourage people with MS to exercise. Advise them that regular exercise may have beneficial effects on their MS and does not have any harmful effects on their MS" (National Clinical Guideline Centre, 2014, p. 119).

1.2.2 Mechanisms of exercise induced benefits

While the therapeutic value of exercise was recognized, the mechanisms of exercise induced benefits on the course of MS are just starting to be explored. Current research is mainly focusing on the fields of immune-modulation, neuroprotection and neuroplasticity. The effects of exercise on the immune system of athletes are known to depend on training intensity. While vigorous exercise increases the risk and frequency of infectious disease, moderate exercise intensity contributes to their prevention (Döring et al., 2012, p. 7). In multiple sclerosis, exercise is reported to exert further adaptive immune-modulating effects (Döring et al., 2012, p. 7).

The most promising mechanisms are the effects of exercise on cytokines and neurotrophic factors. The effect of exercise on cytokines could beneficially shift the imbalance between pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory processes in people with MS (Dalgas & Stenager, 2012, p. 91). In this way, exercise could support the effect of drug-based immune modu-

lating therapy. Due to the short-term nature of these effects, frequent and regular training intervals are advocated (Döring et al., 2012, p. 7). Moreover, exercise seems to counter the neurodegenerative effects of MS pathology by fostering the release of nerve growth factors (Dalgas & Stenager, 2012, p. 92 - 93). These neuroactive proteins support cell proliferation, synaptic plasticity, neuroprotection and neurogenesis. In addition, neuroprotective mechanisms may also be fostered by exercise induced activation of antioxidant enzymes (Döring et al., 2012, p. 7).

Furthermore, exercise could exert beneficial effects on such mechanisms that compensate damage in the CNS, for example neuroplasticity and cortical reorganization (Döring et al., 2012, p. 8; Tomassini et al., 2012, p. 4). Impaired motion control seems to be compensated by the recruitment of additional cortical regions that are not typically involved in motor planning and execution (Döring et al., 2012, p. 8). "Repetitive activation of the motor programs strengthens the cortical engrams and causes neuroplastic and adaptive processes like improved motor unit activation and synchronization of firing rates. In contrast periods of inactivity are associated with opposite effects" (Döring et al., 2012, p. 7). In summary, exercise seems to exert disease modifying effects, but the evidence base is very limited (Dalgas & Stenager, 2012; Motl & Pilutti, 2012). Current data is also not sufficient to draw definite causal conclusions on exercise induced alterations in brain morphology (Döring et al., 2012, p. 8).

1.2.3 Evidence for exercise-induced effects

The evidence base of exercise induced effects in persons with MS was summarized in a well-structured review (Motl & Pilutti, 2012): they reported that extensive and consistent supportive evidence suggests beneficial effects on aerobic capacity, muscular strength, and ambulatory performance of persons with MS; limited but supportive evidence existed for fatigue, gait, balance and quality of life; no consistent evidence existed on the effects of exercise on MS pathogenesis (inflammation, neurodegeneration, axonal and neuronal loss) and on participation-related variables (activities of daily living, recreation, leisure and work); evidence on the effects of exercise on depression and cognition was also inconsistent (Motl & Pilutti, 2012).

In a more recent review, it was suggested that the effect of exercise on depression tends to be beneficial, but that current evidence does not allow for solid causal conclusions (Dalgas, Stenager & Sloth, 2014). However, in patients with depression, exercise was shown to exert moderate to large effects (Josefsson, Lindwall, & Archer, 2014). While there is limited research available on exercise and cognition in MS, promising effects were found in gerontology (Motl et al., 2011, p. 1035). In fact, firm evidence exists on exercise induced preservation of brain structure in older people, indicating beneficial effects on cognitive function (Motl & Pilutti, 2012, p. 489). Motl & colleagues (2011) explicitly encouraged the systematic examination of exercise training and cognition in MS by adopting knowledge and experience from gerontology research.

In conclusion, research on the therapeutic potential of exercise for MS management is still in its infancy with much left to do. In particular, there is a lack of solid information on choice, dose, and advantages of specific exercise programs for people with MS (Latimer-Cheung et al., 2013b).

1.2.4 Recommendations on physical activity in MS

Only recently, the first steps were taken towards the development of evidence-informed physical activity guidelines. This section provides four examples, involving different parties within the field. First, the National Clinical Guideline Centre issued the following recommendations on exercise in MS to initiate their promotion by healthcare professionals. In summary, these guidelines include goal-setting, physical functions (aerobic capacity, strength, balance), compliance, support and choice:

"Ensure people with MS and mobility problems have access to an assessment to establish individual goals and discuss ways in which to achieve them. This would usually involve rehabilitation specialists and physiotherapists with expertise in MS. Consider supervised exercise programmes involving moderate progressive resistance training and aerobic exercise to treat people with MS who have mobility problems and/or fatigue. Consider vestibular rehabilitation for people with MS who have fatigue or mobility problems associated with limited standing balance. Encourage people with MS to keep exercising after treatment programmes end for longer term benefits (...). Help the person with MS continue to exercise, for example by referring them to exercise referral schemes. If more than one of the interventions recommended for mobility or fatigue are suitable, offer treatment programme ends." (National Clinical Guideline Centre, 2014, p. 460)

Second, Latimer-Cheung & colleagues (2013a, p. 1834) developed evidence-based recommendations for the minimum level of exercise required to enhance physical fitness, mobility, and health related quality of life, while decreasing fatigue. The guidelines advocate a combination of moderate aerobic activity (2 times per week for 30 minutes) and strength training (2 times per week, 2x15 repetitions finished barely but safely for each exercise). Suggested aerobic activities comprise arm cycling, leg cycling or walking and elliptical trainer. Strength training exercises comprise weight machines, free weights, and cable pulleys. Further exercises advocated are elastic resistance bands, aquatic exercise, and callisthenics.

Third, the MS Society of Canada started an exemplary and pragmatic approach to facilitate physical activity for people with MS in the society. The initiative "MS Active NOW, Activating Your Life" targets persons with MS, fitness professionals, and health professionals. It aims to provide all three stakeholders with information material on MS and exercise, including opportunities, challenges and means to overcome barriers (Carlyle, Johnston, Rattray & Wheeler, 2009; Johnston, Carlyle & Rattray, 2007, 2008; Johnston, Wheeler & Rattray, 2009a, 2009b). The initiative encourages the inclusion of persons with MS into local facilities (e.g. fitness centres), promoting social interaction and support for persons with MS.

Fourth, Tallner & Pfeifer (2008, p. 5–6) pointed out the following considerations regarding the suitability of exercise programs for persons with MS. Due to considerable individual vari-

ation in the course of symptoms in MS, exercise programs should allow for tailoring to the specific abilities and needs of the participant. In particular, common symptoms such as fatigue, balance problems, and cognitive decline should be taken into account. Moreover, such programs should allow for exercise intensity changes according to the participant's perceived level of exertion. In fact, the conscious control and self-reliant adjustments should be a specific aim of the program. Additionally, the setting should be chosen with regard to temperature and the possibility of taking individual breaks (to adjust exercise intensity or to deal with incontinence). Exercise programs should specifically aim to facilitate long-term adherence and to endorse the establishment of exercise and everyday physical activity as an integral part of MS management. Thus, exercise programs for people with MS should also account for traditional exercise and group-based activity programs, which are broadly available to the community. These offers should be perceived as pleasant, accessible and accomplishable.

It has to be noted that all of the recommendations above were based on studies with several limitations, including design, sample selection, intervention protocol, endpoints, outcome measures, and reporting of information. There is a need for well-conducted studies to provide a solid basis for detailed and systematic recommendations on choice, dose, and benefits of suitable exercise programs for people with MS (Döring et al., 2012).

1.3 Why could Tai Chi be particularly suitable?

People with MS are a very heterogeneous target group, requiring specific attention in the conceptualization, conduction, and implementation of exercise programs. The Chinese martial art Tai Chi could be a particularly suitable and cost-effective type of exercise because it allows individual support and tailoring to specific needs, even within group-based settings.

1.3.1 Tai Chi is gentle and accessible

Tai Chi is a living tradition with a long history. Especially Yang's Style Tai Chi practice consists of flowing and dance-like chains of motion, which are performed in a slow and gentle manner. Such choreography is called a *form*. Originally designed as a secret martial art in ancient China, Tai Chi gained a good reputation as a favourable sport in healthcare. The question *What is Tai Chi*? is further discussed in section 4.2 (page 42). In fact, Tai Chi has been gaining increasing attention in both, Eastern and Western healthcare research. There is growing evidence in favour of Tai Chi to induce health benefits in various neurological groups, including Parkinson's disease, Fibromyalgia, chronic stroke, peripheral neuropathy and MS (Au-Yeung, Hui-Chan & Tang, 2009; Li et al., 2012; Li & Manor, 2010; Mills, Allen & Carey-Morgan, 2000; Wang et al., 2010). Since the early twentieth century, the dissemination of Tai Chi via group lessons grew along with the number of Tai Chi instructors and schools. To increase suitability for mainstream, the original forms were shortened and simplified. Today, Tai Chi classes for all age groups are broadly available to the public.

1.3.2 Tai Chi can be adapted to specific needs

The Tai Chi forms available vary depending on traditional lineage and personal experience of their practitioners. The variability could be a hint that the core of Tai Chi is not the form itself but the principles carried within the form. This is why Tai Chi could be particularly interesting for people with motoric deficits, as it allows tailoring of the movements according to individual abilities. To some degree, necessary adjustments in conscious control of motion can be guided by experienced Tai Chi instructors. There is a wide range of possibilities allowing to adjust the elements of Tai Chi practice to the participants' needs (for example via individual breaks, variation in speed, range of motion, stance width, number and characteristics of the figures within a form). In the end, subtle adjustments are primarily up to the awareness and creativity of the practitioners themselves.

Mindful awareness is an important component of Tai Chi practice (Nedeljkovic, Wirtz & Ausfeld-Hafter, 2012; Wayne & Kaptchuk, 2008, p. 96 - 97). In fact, the concept of mindfulness is compatible with the concept of Tai Chi, which is described in Section 4.3 (page 58). Briefly summarized, the concept of mindfulness involves regulation of attention and focusing on the here and now. The development of an observant, accepting and non-elaborative perspective is assumed to increase access to information on current experience, fostering self-awareness and the ability of self-regulation (Bishop et al., 2004). The development and consolidation of this ability is essential in patient-oriented rehabilitation programs. It is particularly important for persons with MS, who need to rediscover their body and its abilities over and over. Further, convergent evidence suggests a positive association between mind-fulness and psychological health (Keng, Smoski & Robins, 2011, p. 17). Few interventions incorporate both physical and mindfulness exercises. A recent review reported a success-ful combination of tailored exercise programs and mindfulness-based interventions in MS (Simpson et al., 2014).

1.3.3 Tai Chi could help to overcome barriers to exercise participation

In addition to this, the adaptability and gentle way of Tai Chi practice could help people with MS to overcome barriers to exercise participation. Possible factors contributing to a hesitant perspective on physical activity comprise traditional thinking, lack of confidence, fatigue, and motivational issues as well as acute worsening of symptoms during of following physical exertion.

First, the traditional perspective on exercise could still be present in peoples' mind (Tallner et al., 2013, p. 1238). In a survey on health enhancement (n = 2200 persons with MS), 19% of the sample attributed beneficial effects to endurance training. Contrarily, 17% of the same sample reported that endurance training increased their disease severity (Simmons, Ponsonby, van der Mei, & Sheridan, 2004, p. 206). We suggest that people with MS might be more confident to try a rather gentle and recreational activity, such as Tai Chi, over engaging in other types of exercise.

Second, the waxing and waning of debilitating symptoms and the unpredictability of the MS course could promote a lack of confidence in one's own capabilities (Döring et al., 2012, p. 1). Moreover, perceived inability resulting from impaired motion control could contribute to a hesitant perspective on physical activity, especially with regard to safety issues. Compared to the general population, the risk of falling is two or three times increased in persons with MS (Tallner & Pfeifer, 2008, p. 1). At this point it is important to note, that scientific research on Tai Chi as a sport in healthcare mainly focused on the improvement of balance in the elderly (Burschka, Kuhn, Menge & Oschmann, 2013). Moreover, it was reported that the effects of Tai Chi on fall prevention seem to primarily depend on an increase in general self-efficacy rather than improved balance, gait or fear of falling (Tousignant et al., 2012). Self-efficacy in turn seems to be related to health promoting behaviour like engagement in exercise (Stroud, Minahan & Sabapathy, 2009, p. 2216; Tallner & Pfeifer, 2008, p. 2).

Third, fatigue and motivational issues could be a barrier to exercise engagement. With the intent to manage fatigue and conserve energy, people with MS might refrain from physical activity (Tallner et al., 2013, p. 1238). In fact, physical exertion was designated as the greatest barrier to exercise – irrespective of the current level of physical activity (Stroud et al., 2009, p. 2221). However, refraining from exercise comprises the risk of general de-conditioning and symptom exacerbation (see Section 1.1.3, page 4). Thus, it is crucial for people with MS to find a balance between exercise engagement and fatigue (Kayes et al., 2011, p. 1050). In line with this suggestion, self-management approaches have been reported to be highly effective in fatigue management (Asano & Finlayson, 2014, p. 6, 9). Mindful Tai Chi practice could be particularly suitable to increase body awareness and emotional awareness in persons with MS. Moreover, Tai Chi practice could provide a safe and convenient setting to practice self-management strategies.

Fourth, acute worsening of MS symptoms relative to a rise in body temperature may also play an important role in physical activity behaviour. This barrier could be related to all of the barriers above, as delineated subsequently. Despite the sharp turn from advising bed rest to encouraging physical activity, the experience or fear of symptom exacerbation could still be a strong argument against physical activity from the individual's point of view. Moreover, a lack of confidence could diminish the motivation to explore personal boundaries with regard to physical ability and fatigue. As delineated earlier, Tai Chi can easily be adapted to the current perception of exertion. The repetitive character of Tai Chi practice and its mindfulnesscomponent could be particularly valuable in (re-) gaining the ability of estimating, meeting and expanding personal boundaries and resilience, both physical and non-physical.

2 Research interest

There is a promising evidence base in favour of various therapeutic benefits, of both *physical activity* in MS management and *Tai Chi* in various neurological patient groups. However, there is still a lack of conclusive data regarding a targeted practical implementation. The multi-dimensionality and variability in this field pose particular challenges to scientific analysis, generalizability and reproducibility of results. In current literature, this problem is addressed by the term *complexity*. The key feature of complexity is the involvement of multiple interacting components. The main challenge of complex phenomena lies in their inherent difficulty to be described, analysed, understood, and predicted. To enable scientific discussion on complex phenomena, a common ground in research terminology is needed. This is particularly important when analysing multi-dimensional constructs, such as fatigue, physical ability, and physical activity in people with MS. In addition, it is necessary to be aware that the use of a common terminology does not necessarily imply common ground in the researched phenomenon.

Together with a uniform understanding of the terminology, common ground in research methodology needs to be established. This includes adequate test inventory. The assessment of prevalent MS symptoms, such as impaired walking ability (see Section 1.1.3, page 6), is important to monitor disease activity and success of treatment strategies. However, ambulation is a multi-dimensional construct influenced by sensory, motor, and cognitive parameters. Thus, impaired walking ability is difficult to define and to measure. As described in Section 1.1.4 (page 9), common assessments of walking ability in MS primarily rely on result-oriented parameters, such as the total distance walked during a specific time frame. However, healthy individuals were observed to show a stereotypical U-shaped velocity profile during timed walking. This profile was characterized by a high starting speed, subsequent slowing and acceleration towards the end of the test. Hence, the assessment of dynamic walking features in people with MS warrants further investigation. Such information could contribute to an early detection of changes in walking performance, which is a key to disease management and the evaluation of therapeutic interventions.

Apart from the test inventory, the quality of research methodology relies on choice, description, and standardization of the intervention under investigation. As pointed out in Section 1.2 (page 11), physical activity could essentially contribute to MS management. However, there is a lack of knowledge about types, working mechanisms, dose, and effects of exercise programs for people with MS. As outlined in Section 1.3 (page 15), Tai Chi could be particularly worth investigating. Its gentle, mindful way coupled with its adaptability seems especially suited to meet the specific needs of persons with MS and to overcome barriers to exercise participation. It is important to note that this adaptability makes a Tai Chi interven-

tion difficult to describe and standardize. Moreover, the concept of Tai Chi itself is manifold. While scientific interest in the effects of Tai Chi has been rising tremendously, little attention was directed at how Tai Chi has scientifically been studied. Such research could guide the development of theories on working mechanisms and clear recommendations about which way of practising Tai Chi is likely to induce most beneficial effects.

In summary, there is a need for increased awareness about the complexity inherent in the research fields of MS and Tai Chi. We need common ground in research terminology and methodology to take on the challenge. Theories on underlying mechanisms could both support this goal and gain from it.

We chose to further investigate this field of interest by pursuing the following questions:

First

We examined 37 persons with MS and 25 healthy controls within two timed walking tests (6-minute walk, 12-minute walk). Prior to the assessment, the MS group was divided into two subgroups according to the subjects' disability levels (mild MS group and moderate MS group). In addition to mean walking speed, we observed dynamic features of walking behaviour, namely deceleration and the degree to which velocity profiles approximated a U-shape. Additionally, we applied a self-report assessment to quantify subjective fatigue. The publication is named: An exploration of impaired walking dynamics and fatigue in multiple sclerosis.

- Do the 6-minute walk and the 12-minute walk reveal temporal dynamic features of walking in MS?
- Do these features differ between people with MS and healthy controls? If yes, do these differences depend on disability level and test duration?
- · Are abnormal walking dynamics related to the individuals' subjective constraints?

Second

We explored the martial art Tai Chi with regard to its tradition, scientific evaluation and its challenges to research methodology. The publication is named: Research on Tai Chi as a sport in health care: The challenge of complex interventions.

- What is Tai Chi?
- To which areas has Tai Chi been directed at?
 Which way of practising Tai Chi was assumed to hold therapeutic potential?
- What makes a complex intervention complex? What problems evolve from this complexity? How can we deal with these problems?

What makes Tai Chi a complex intervention?
 How could a Tai Chi intervention be described?
 How could a Tai Chi intervention be analysed scientifically?

Third

We devised a standard Tai Chi program for persons with MS. Subsequently, we analysed its effects on physical and psychosocial parameters within a 6-month intervention, comparing a Tai Chi group (n = 15) to a group that received treatment as usual (n = 17). The publication is named: Mindfulness-based interventions in multiple sclerosis: beneficial effects of Tai Chi on balance, coordination, fatigue and depression

- Is our newly devised, standardized Tai Chi program safe and feasible for people with MS?
- Does it induce beneficial effects on prevalent MS symptoms (impaired balance and coordination, fatigue, depression) and life satisfaction?

3 Discussion and perspectives

Our primary aim was to promote research on physical activity for persons with multiple sclerosis (MS), specifically considering physical and psychosocial health. MS is an autoimmune disease, which is characterized by chronic inflammation, neurodegeneration, and gradual functional decrease in multiple areas. Prevalent symptoms include reduced walking ability, fatigue, cognitive impairment and depression. These symptoms tend to be multi-causal and variable. Although a cure for MS remains to be found, significant progress was achieved regarding the knowledge of pathology and treatment options.

3.1 What did we ask?

The continuous assessment of disease related parameters plays a crucial role throughout MS management, especially for the goal of achieving a targeted and individualized therapy. First, it aims to differentiate between normal functioning and the severity of pathological impairment. Second, it helps to clarify the necessity, choice, and success of available treatment approaches. Assessment relies on both self-report and performance-based measures, because it is important to account for both patient burden and actual impairment of function. Walking ability is commonly assessed by means of result-oriented walking tests. Recent interest in the connection between walking performance and fatigue raised the question about how dynamic features of walking ability could also be respected. This approach seemed particularly interesting because persons with MS have been reported to display abnormal temporal walking dynamics compared to healthy controls. Such improvement of the test inventory may help in responding to disease exacerbation as early as possible.

Pharmacological treatment primarily relies on early intervention to counter inflammation and alleviate arising symptoms. Further strategies to save or even restore neural tissue and impaired functions are lacking. Only recently, the therapeutic value of physical activity has been acknowledged to contribute fundamentally to MS management. However, there is a need for clear recommendations on choice and dose of exercise for persons with MS. In addition, scientific interest in the therapeutic benefits of mindfulness-based interventions has grown. The Chinese martial art Tai Chi incorporates both physical and mindfulness components. Due to its adaptability and gentle way it is predisposed for heterogeneous target groups. It could be particularly suitable to enhance physical activity in persons with MS. The therapeutic potential of Tai Chi has recently been analysed in various neurological groups and effects tend to be beneficial. However, due to the heterogeneity of the studies available, repetition and generalization of the observed effects is difficult. A key to approaching

this problem may be to raise awareness about the inherent variability of the concept that is simply referred to as *Tai Chi*.

In sum, we aimed at improving the assessment of physical function (walking ability) and at developing exercise programs (Tai Chi) for persons with MS. We delineated our research questions in the previous chapter.

3.2 What did we do?

We explored dynamic characteristics of walking behaviour in MS patients. Walking tests are commonly used to assess physical function in MS. The tests primarily rely on result oriented parameters, such as the total distance walked during a time frame. However, dynamic walking characteristics (such as deceleration or acceleration of walking speed during the test) may also be relevant for an adequate assessment of walking ability. Investigating velocity profiles seemed particularly warranted because healthy individuals were reported to display a stereotypical U-shaped pattern during timed walking (high starting speed, subsequent slowing and final acceleration). In addition, velocity profiles had been observed to differ between persons with MS and healthy controls.

In sum, we analysed three different velocity profiles in two walking tests, comparing 37 MS patients to 25 healthy, age-matched controls. The group of MS patients was further divided into subgroups according to their disability level. Disability was analysed with the Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS, see Section 1.1.4, page 9); Mild MS Group, n = 20, EDSS 0 – 3.5; Moderate MS Group, n = 17, EDSS 4 – 5). The walking tests included the 6-minute walk and the 12-minute walk. In these tests, subjects walked as fast as possible, back and forth a distance of 20 meters, for 6 minutes and 12 minutes respectively. The distance covered per minute was recorded. On the basis of this time series, we calculated three different velocity profiles by applying appropriate data-analytical procedures (polynomial trend analysis). In particular, we analysed the mean walking speed, the linear decline in walking speed (linear trend) and the degree to which the velocity profiles approximated a U-shape (quadratic trend). Finally, we explored the association between these performance-based measures and subjective fatigue.

We analysed research on Tai Chi with special regard to methodology in a problem-centred article. To our knowledge, this is the first attempt to shed light on the question of how Tai Chi has been studied scientifically. In a first step, we investigated the concept behind the rather simple name *Tai Chi*, concluding that this concept is manifold and barely tangible. In a second step, we asked, how researchers dealt with the multi-dimensionality inherent in Tai Chi. However, this multi-dimensionality was not taken into consideration. Our analysis revealed that research on Tai Chi was just as heterogeneous as the concept Tai Chi itself. Such divergent research attempts make it difficult to collect convergent evidence on the effects of Tai Chi. In a third step, we explored the ongoing discussion about complexity within healthcare interventions, including possible strategies to deal with this challenge. In
a fourth step, we transferred our findings to Tai Chi research, suggesting first steps towards systematic description and implementation of Tai Chi interventions.

We devised a Tai Chi program dedicated to persons with MS and took a thorough look on its therapeutic value. Only recently, physical activity was recognised to fundamentally contribute to MS management and recommendations on choice and dose of exercise programs are still lacking. Tai Chi could suit the specific needs of persons with MS. Further, mindful awareness, a component of Tai Chi, could be particularly valuable for this target group. To the best of our knowledge, the concept of mindfulness has not been considered within Tai Chi interventions. However, mindfulness is essential in Tai Chi practice. Based on this finding, we described the concept of mindfulness and explicitly highlighted the connection to the concept of Tai Chi. Briefly summarised, there are two essential components to mindfulness: first, purposeful direction and regulation of attention; second, orientation to experience. Correspondingly, learning a Tai Chi form requires constant switching of attention between exteroception (observing both the instructor and the own body) and interoception (bodily sensation involving proprioception, balance and breathing). In addition, Tai Chi principles (see Appendix on page 93) are included in the attentional focus. This requires a high amount of resources and receptivity to interoceptive information. The second component of mindfulness, namely maintaining a curious attitude, is also addressed in Tai Chi. Tai Chi practice includes the exploration of personal boundaries (limits of stability, flexibility, endurance) and encountering personal habits to cope with discovered limitations. Simultaneously, non-elaborative awareness is necessary to stay on track while playing the form. For further details, see Section 4.3 on page 59.

Our previous research indicated, that the development of a structured Tai Chi program was required to enable repeatability of interventions and to improve comparability across studies. We chose to develop our Tai Chi program on the basis of Yang's style Tai Chi, because this style features slow and gentle movements. Within this style, we chose the 10-form, which is standardized and accessible. The 10-form consists of 10 Tai Chi movements, including two single-leg stances. The movements are carried out symmetrically into two opposite directions (left and right) in an alternating way. This symmetry is space-saving and facilitates Tai Chi practice in small spaces, for example at home. The clearly arranged organisation of movements appears particularly suitable for beginners and people with motor, sensory or cognitive deficits. In our curriculum, we advocated practising the 10-form as a whole from begin on. In each session the same core elements were to be included. This allowed participants who missed a class to resume training without difficulties. A description of the program, including a video-link to the 10-form, is available in the Appendix (page 93).

In our study on the effects of this Tai Chi program, we examined a group of 32 persons with MS (EDSS < 5). The Tai Chi group (n = 15, female sex = 10) participated in a 6-month intervention, practising twice a week for 90 minutes, while the comparison group (n = 17, female sex = 12) received treatment as usual (TAU). In particular, we evaluated changes in the following domains: balance, coordination, fatigue, depression, and life satisfaction. Both

groups were assessed prior to the intervention and after the 6-month interval. To assess balance and coordination, we used an established balance and coordination test. However, this test had not previously been applied in this target group (MS). The test included a number of tasks (14 for balance and 10 for coordination) which were evaluated on a two point scale (passed or failed). The sum-score (number of tasks passed) was used for further analysis. In addition, we included self-report questionnaires to assess fatigue, depression and life satisfaction.

3.3 What did we learn?

We found a consistent pattern of beneficial effects of Tai Chi on the examined outcome parameters, including balance, coordination, fatigue, depression, and life-satisfaction. Our findings extend current literature on beneficial effects of mindfulness-based physical activity in persons with MS, and particularly support the suitability of Tai Chi for this target population. Further details on our findings are delineated subsequently.

We found that even mildly disabled MS patients display abnormal walking behaviour. In line with the available literature, our findings confirmed that MS patients walk slower than healthy controls. The fact that even mildly disabled MS patients walked significantly slower than controls hints at an early influence of MS on walking ability.

In addition to this, differences between MS patients and controls also manifested in altered temporal walking dynamics, such as continuous deceleration of walking speed during the test. Moderately disabled persons with MS displayed a stronger decrease in their walking speed than controls in both tests. Mildly disabled persons with MS also slowed down more rapidly than controls, yet this difference was only revealed by the longer test (12-minute walk). We concluded that the linear decline in walking speed may represent an additional, clinically relevant feature of impaired ambulation in persons with MS. It is important to note that different test durations are necessary to detect this feature. While for persons with moderate disability, the 6-minute walk suffices, the longer version (12-minute walk) is necessary for persons with mild disability.

We also identified a high correlation between the linear decline of walking speed and subjective fatigue. Thus, the linear decline in walking speed adequately reflects the patients' subjective constraints. Further, the linear decline in walking speed showed a more robust association to subjective somatic fatigue over mean walking speed. Hence, deceleration appears to be a more suitable parameter to assess somatic fatigue in place of mean walking speed. This finding particularly supports previous suggestions to interpret the decline in walking speed as an indicator of fatigue in MS patients.

Recently, the abbreviation of walking tests for economic reasons was advocated. Our findings hint that such an approach results in the loss of potentially relevant information on dynamic walking characteristics. We strongly recommend to choose walking tests and derived parameters with care and with respect to a specific diagnostic goal or research question. We need a pragmatic balance between economic implementation of walking tests and early detection of impaired walking ability in persons with MS.

We identified multi-dimensionality as a main problem within Tai Chi research. In our analysis of both the martial art Tai Chi and scientific research on Tai Chi, we identified two aspects that are highly variable: first, the concept of Tai Chi itself; second, the multiple directions Tai Chi research branched out into – including a variety of different target groups, study designs, and outcome domains.

Tai Chi has a deep philosophical background and originated as a martial art in ancient China. Literally, "Tai Chi" means "the supreme ultimate." In Daoism, a chinese philosophy, the term Tai Chi embraces the concept of yin and yang, which is seen as the highest principle of order within the cosmos. The interplay of yin and yang is depicted in the Tai Chi symbol (2). The martial art Tai Chi resembles this philosophic principle in its fighting technique: Encountered force (yang) is not countered with higher force (yang), but with drawback (yin) - and the simultaneous aim of unbalancing the offender. Basically, Tai Chi practice aims at performing predefined movements with respect to specific principles. Such choreography is called a form. In sum, the respected principles combine four basic concepts: the dynamic interplay of yin and yang, directing energy (qi), developing jin force, and motion. A wide range of Tai Chi forms can be differentiated by the number of figures included (for example 10-form, 24-form, 108-form), by traditional lineage (the main traditional styles are: Chen, Yang, Wu, Wu, and Sun), and by further criteria. For detailed information on Tai Chi, see section 4.2 (page 43). From its origin as a secret martial art, Tai Chi evolved to a highly pluralistic and accessible type of exercise. In addition, Tai Chi is practised with a variety of different motives, such as martial art, self-defence, meditation, aesthetics, socializing and health.

Our exemplary analysis of seven original research articles revealed a very heterogeneous implementation of Tai Chi within scientific interventions. This multi-dimensionality poses distinct challenges to the interpretation, comparison, and reproduction of obtained data. Moreover, poor reporting of the interventions' curriculum increases the risk of bias. To deal with the variability, it might be necessary to adopt a broader perspective and adjust the scientific approach. Helpful in this undertaking could be the lessons learned from complexity science. In summary, complex problems are difficult to describe, analyse, understand and predict. The key feature of a complex intervention is the entanglement of multiple interacting elements, which applies to Tai Chi practice.

To gain solid information on the therapeutic value of Tai Chi, we need a more systematic approach. A first step to this direction is awareness of the problem and an effort to gain common ground in terminology and methodology. A second step is enhancing the quality and completeness of reporting. For alignment, the description of Tai Chi interventions should use our proposed framework as orientation (Section 4.2, page 49). It guides a thorough description with respect to the following domains: motive within Tai Chi practice, estimating the dose of Tai Chi training, outlining the curriculum and introducing instructors. Further, in-depth in-

formation should reflect the characteristics of complex systems as outlined in Section 4.2 (page 51). Briefly summarized, these characteristics include differentiation between constant and variable components, interaction between components, and a component's place in a causal chain. For example, *constant components* could be defined by the curriculum: setting, choice of Tai Chi form, choice of instructor, choice of training time and intervals, and number of participants. *Variable components* could include social interactions and the differentiation between effective practice time and mere physical presence. The latter differentiation is likely to be linked to the presence of mindfulness within Tai Chi practice. A third step is the adjustment of our research methodology by including qualitative research along with quantitative research in an exploratory way. It is necessary to develop theories on underlying mechanisms and cause-effect relationships prior to extensive quantitative evaluation. Together, these steps could provide information about which Tai Chi components essentially contribute to the effectiveness and efficacy of Tai Chi for healthcare intervention.

We devised a new, standard Tai Chi curriculum to support a systematic course of action in researching the therapeutic value of Tai Chi for persons with MS. Based on our evaluation, we concluded that the devised Tai Chi course is safe and feasible for a 6-month intervention program in MS. We identified beneficial effects in both objective and subjective measures. During the Tai Chi intervention, the following parameters improved: coordination, balance, depression and life satisfaction. In contrast, these variables were not altered in the comparison group. Moreover, we found a maintenance effect on fatigue. While fatigue remained stable in the Tai Chi group, it deteriorated in the comparison group. Our findings clearly support improved performance levels in balance and coordination following Tai Chi practice. In addition, Tai Chi seems to positively influence mood and fatigue. Apart from this, test-retest reliability of all applied measures was sufficient. This finding indicates a systematic change within the rank ordering of the subjects' scores on the assessment tools. Thus, the employed measures provided reliable information although they are not widely used in MS literature. In sum, our findings support the utility of a structured Tai Chi training in the context of MS management. We recommended using the concept in future studies.

Collectively these findings offer a glimpse to the significant gains of a more complex perspective within current research approaches. Research on multi-dimensional constructs requires a multidisciplinary approach. We started to draw connections between different, yet highly topical research fields. Future research should further elaborate on these connections and continue our search for valuable interventions to enhance life quality for persons with MS. To enable a systematic approach to our research interest, it is crucial to find a common perspective, to find a common language and to keep returning to the research question asked.

3.4 Which questions remain?

Aiming to further elucidate the possibilities of MS management, the investigation of the following domains is desirable.

The test inventory to assess and monitor functional impairment in MS should be enhanced. Our exploration of walking dynamics appears worth continuing with regard to different disability levels and test durations. Further research should work towards the acquisition of normative data on new, clinically relevant features of walking ability.

The therapeutic potential of Tai Chi for persons with MS should be investigated. Different MS subgroups and comparison groups should be considered. Additionally evaluating the effects of Tai Chi should reflect different outcome domains. However, to increase comparability across studies, agreement on a common catalogue of assessment details would be helpful. The effect of Tai Chi on neural plasticity with regard to motor, sensory, and cognitive ability seems particularly interesting. Additionally, the effect of Tai Chi on autonomic regulatory processes seems worth investigating. We suggest that such research should particularly look into the contribution of mindfulness and breathing, because they both are an integral part of Tai Chi practice and have been shown to affect autonomic regulation. Apart from this, non-specific effects such as self-compassion, self-efficacy, and social support should be taken into consideration.

A theoretical framework on the underlying mechanisms of Tai Chi needs to be established. Thorough reporting of the conducted research is essential to reach this goal. The identification of key components that determine the intervention's success could help to define specific recommendations and strengthen beneficial effects. Future research should specifically investigate the contribution of mindfulness to the effects of Tai Chi interventions, for example with regard to body awareness, emotional awareness and rumination. Moreover, exploring the contribution of the Tai Chi instructor to the intervention's success seems particularly interesting. Such research could be achieved by a systematic implementation of different interventions (both Tai Chi and other) by the same instructor. In addition a single intervention could be explored with regard to different instructors. Simultaneously, different approaches of teaching Tai Chi could be explored. For example, practising a whole form from begin on could help participants to witness personal progress and to experience selfefficacy. In contrast, practising single movements in detail could foster a different application of Tai Chi principles and strengthen different resources.

To enable repeatability of Tai Chi interventions, future research should be based on simple Tai Chi curricula that can be described and standardised. Simple curricula could further increase comparability between studies and help estimate the dose of Tai Chi training. It is important to note, that such simplification should not impede the adaptability of the intervention to the needs of the patients. It should rather serve as a means of orientation to improve operationalizability of the research. Standardised Tai Chi interventions could also contribute to a more systematic approach of analysing distinct components of Tai Chi practice.

Moreover, the inclusion of a qualitative study arm could shed light on the participants' perspective. It could support data interpretation and help to form theories, for example, revealing factors that influence long-term adherence to Tai Chi practice. For example, the philosophical background of Tai Chi could attribute meaning to Tai Chi training and foster personal commitment to regular practice. Personal meaning within Tai Chi practice could further evolve from the transfer of Tai Chi principles to daily life. Apart from this, group dynamics seem to play an important role. The participants of our Tai Chi study initiated the establishment of two Tai Chi groups in order to continue their joint practice. Even now – two years after the intervention – both groups are still meeting on a regular basis. We expect that the interviews that we conducted with the participants will reveal further information. These interviews are yet to be evaluated, however promising preliminary findings are available (Burschka, Hofstadt-van Oy & Kuhn, 2012; Gerlach & Kuhn, 2011; Hawelka & Kuhn, 2012).

Finally, scientists should keep in mind the following question: How could our research beneficially shift the balance from functional impairment to functional recovery in persons with multiple sclerosis? A high priority is the enhancement of life quality and long-term adherence to physical activity. With regard to the complexity and multi-dimensionality in this research field, it is important to continue exploring the mechanisms of exercise induced effects, to take on the challenges of research methodology, and to work towards the establishment of exercise as an integral part of MS management.

4 Publications

Auth	ors' contributions	32
4.1	An exploration of impaired walking dynamics and fatigue in multiple sclerosis	33
4.2	Research on Tai Chi as a sport in healthcare	41
4.3	Mindfulness-based interventions in multiple sclerosis	57

Author's contributions

Burschka, J. M., Keune, P. M., Menge, U., Hofstadt-van Oy, U., Oschmann, P. & Hoos, O. (2012). An exploration of impaired walking dynamics and fatigue in Multiple Sclerosis. BMC Neurology, 12(161), 1–8. doi:10.1186/1471-2377-12-161

Participated in	Author initials, responsibility decreasing from left to right							
Study conception and design Acquisition of data	JB JB	PO UH	ОН	UM				
Analysis and interpretation of data Drafting of manuscript	PKe JB	JB PKe	UM	ОН				
Critical revision	ОH	UM						
Reviewers	Goldman, M. & Motl, R.							
for pre-publication history see: http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2377/12/161/prepub								

Burschka, J., Kuhn, P., Menge, U. & Oschmann, P. (2013). **Research on Tai Chi as a sport in health care: the challenge of complex interventions.** Sportwissenschaft, 43(3), 181–196. doi:10.1007/s12662-013-0300-1

Participated in	Author initials, responsibility decreasing from left to right						
Study conception and design Acquisition of data Analysis and interpretation of data Drafting of manuscript Critical revision	JB PKu UM PO JB JB PKu JB PKu						
Reviewers	three anonymous reviewers						

Burschka, J. M., Keune, P. M., Hofstadt-van Oy, U., Oschmann, P. & Kuhn, P. (2014). **Mindfulness-based interventions in multiple sclerosis: beneficial effects of Tai Chi on balance, coordination, fatigue and depression.** BMC Neurology, 14, 1–9. doi:10.1186/s12883-014-0165-4

Participated in	Autho respo	asing from left to right					
Study conception and design Acquisition of data Analysis and interpretation of data Drafting of manuscript Critical revision	JB JB PKe JB PKu	PO UH JB PKe	PKu UM	UM			
Reviewers	Prosp	erini, L	. & Sim	ipson, R.			
for pre-publication history see: http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2377/14/165/prepub							

RESEARCH ARTICLE



Open Access

An exploration of impaired walking dynamics and fatigue in Multiple Sclerosis

Janina M Burschka^{1,2*}, Philipp M Keune², Uwe Menge², Ulrich Hofstadt-van Oy², Patrick Oschmann² and Olaf Hoos³

Abstract

Background: Physical disability in multiple sclerosis (MS) is frequently characterized by impaired ambulation. Although walking tests have been successfully employed to assess walking ability in MS patients, data analytic procedures have predominantly relied on result-oriented parameters (e.g. total distance covered during a given amount of time), whereas process-oriented, dynamic walking patterns have mostly been ignored. This is striking, since healthy individuals have been observed to display a stereotypical U-shaped pattern of walking speed during timed walking, characterized by relatively high speed during the initial phase, subsequent slowing and final acceleration. Objective of the current study was to test the utility of the 6 min Walk (6MW) and the 12 min Walk (12MW) for revealing putatively abnormal temporal dynamic features of walking in MS.

Methods: A group of 37 MS patients was divided into subgroups with regard to their level of disability analyzed with the Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS; Mild MS Group, n = 20, EDSS 0 – 3.5; Moderate MS Group, n = 17, EDSS 4 - 5). Subsequently, both groups were compared to age-matched healthy controls (n = 25) on both tests with regard to result-oriented characteristics (mean walking speed), as well as dynamic features (mean decline in walking speed, degree of observed U-shape).

Results: Both MS groups showed a significantly lower mean walking speed than healthy controls, independent of test duration. Compared to controls, the Moderate MS Group also slowed down more rapidly throughout both tests. The same pronounced decline in walking speed was observed for the Mild MS Group in case of the 12MW. Additionally, for both MS groups an attenuated U-shaped velocity pattern was observed relative to controls in the 6MW. Patients' subjective fatigue scores were more strongly correlated with the decline in walking speed than with the common parameter of mean walking speed in the 6MW.

Conclusions: MS patients display abnormal dynamics in their walking patterns. A pronounced linear decline in walking speed can be identified with the 12MW even in MS patients with seemingly mild disability. Similarly, the 6MW can be used to assess an abnormal walking profile. Particularly the linear decline in walking speed on this test shows a more robust association with subjective fatigue than mean walking speed. Dynamic walking parameters may hence represent valuable clinical features, serving as surrogate measures of motor fatigue. Future studies are needed to verify their prognostic value.

Keywords: Multiple sclerosis, Ambulation, Walking, 6 minute walk, 6MW, 12 minute walk, 12MW, Linear trend, U-shape

* Correspondence: janina.burschka@googlemail.com ¹Institute of Sports Science, University of Bayreuth, 95440, Bayreuth, Germany ²Klinikum Bayreuth GmbH, Betriebsstätte Hohe Warte, Department of Neurology, Hohe Warte 8, 95445, Bayreuth, Germany Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



© 2012 Burschka et al.; licensee BioMed Central Ltd. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative **BioMed Central** Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

33

Background

A wide range of tests is available to measure walking performance in patients suffering from Multiple Sclerosis (MS; see Kieseier et al. [1] and Bethoux et al. [2] for recent reviews). Among the most widely used tests are the timed 25 Foot Walk, which measures the time a patient requires to cover a distance of 25 feet at maximum speed, and the 6 min Walk (6MW), which measures the total distance a patient is able to cover walking as fast as possible for six minutes. Particularly the 6MW is commonly administered and has been shown to display external validity, as performance on this test is associated with balance confidence and stair-climbing ability [3].

The application of the 6MW has consistently revealed that MS patients may display considerable walking deficits. Further, abnormal physiologic responses during walking performance were reported. Savci et al. [4] for example observed a significantly lower mean walking speed during the 6MW in MS patients (n = 30, score on the expanded disability status scale [5] EDSS = 1.5 - 6.0) compared to controls (n = 30). The same pattern was observed by Chetta et al. [6], who additionally reported reduced cardiorespiratory fitness, i.e. decreased oxygen pulse and inefficient ventilation, as reflected in an impaired breathing pattern in MS patients (n = 11, EDSS = 1 - 3.5) compared to controls (n = 10). These differences were observed despite normal cardiopulmonary function at rest.

According to Motl et al. [7], even mildly disabled MS patients may differ significantly from healthy controls in their mean walking speed on the 6MW. Besides differences in speed, a differential pattern of oxygen consumption between the first and the second half of the test was observed [8]. The authors concluded that different metabolic systems may be relevant for performance during the first and the second half of the 6MW.

Findings reported by Motl et al. [8] are particularly interesting since parameters which are commonly derived from walking tests (e.g. mean walking speed or total distance covered) are not suitable to examine walking characteristics which may vary during the test. In very few studies, an attempt was made to examine dynamic walking features, such as the progression of walking speed throughout the test duration. In an early study, Schwid et al. [9] reported a significantly lower median walking speed in MS patients measured over a distance of 500 meters. MS patients however did not only walk slower, but also showed a considerable decrease in walking speed towards the end of the test, whereas controls accelerated. Goldman et al. [10] examined velocity profiles of MS patients during the 6MW. Results revealed that MS patients differed from healthy controls in both, the mean walking speed as well as the course of walking speed across the six-minute time span. In case of the control group, a U-shaped velocity profile was observed, with relatively high walking speed at the

Page 2 of 8

beginning of the walk, subsequent slowing and acceleration towards the end of the test. In contrast, in MS patients the acceleration toward the end of the test was attenuated [10]. The U-shaped pacing profile has previously been described as a common phenomenon in healthy participants, warranted that the duration of the performed activity is sufficiently long [11]. Hence, the examination of dynamic characteristics, such as the change in walking speed at different stages of the test may provide further, clinically relevant information.

Findings on dynamic walking patterns are also of relevance for the ongoing discourse, whether walking tests could be shortened to provide economically optimized assessment tools for ambulation in MS. Gijbels et al. [12,13] have suggested that an abbreviated version of 2 min duration may suffice to provide an estimate of walking ability. In their study, the authors reported a decline in walking speed during the first three minutes and constant pacing during the consecutive three minutes of the 6MW in a sample of 40 MS patients (EDSS 1.5 - 6.5) [12]. Moreover a separately conducted 2MW showed the same decline in mean walking speed per minute. Nevertheless, findings by Schwid et al. [9], Goldman et al. [10] as well as Motl et al. [8] are not necessarily consistent with this suggestion and imply that shortening of the 6MW might result in the loss of potentially important information of clinical relevance.

In this context, a further exploration of dynamic walking features in MS seems warranted. Even though the observation of a specifically impaired walking profile may be promising for future clinical applications, so far only Goldman et al. [10] have provided information on walking dynamics. The purpose of the current study was to address this issue and to examine the walking dynamics of MS patients more rigorously. In particular, the intention was to replicate results by Goldman et al. [10] and to apply further data analyses for a comparison of walking profiles of MS patients and healthy participants. Based on the suggestion that the duration of walking needs to be sufficiently long to yield a U-shaped pacing profile, in the current study, we examined whether the 6MW, as well as a 12 min Walk (12MW) would reveal distinct dynamics in walking behaviour of MS patients relative to healthy controls. We further collected selfreport data with regard to somatic fatigue, in order to verify whether putatively abnormal walking dynamics were related to patient's subjective constraints.

Methods

A group of 37 MS patients was recruited from the Department of Neurology, Klinikum Bayreuth GmbH, Germany. The comparison group consisted of 25 age-matched healthy participants. Details regarding demographics and clinical characteristics of the sample are displayed in Table 1. All

participants provided written informed consent prior to study entry and the study was approved by the ethics committee of the Bavarian Medical Association, Germany. Information about clinical characteristics was extracted from patients' files held by the Department of Neurology. Walking tests (6MW, 12MW) were administered by a single, highly trained clinical examiner during one or two patient visits. Patients completed the two walking tests in randomized order, with at least 3 hours between the assessments. The administration of the 6MW followed standard protocol [14], with modifications suggested by Goldman et al. [10]. For six minutes, participants walked back and forth a distance of 20m, which was divided into 1m segments marked on a wall. Distance covered during each minute was assessed visually, based on the marked segments, by an examiner equipped with a stop-watch. The examiner was seated ten meters away from the midpoint of the walking distance and recorded the distance covered during each minute. This setting was chosen over other methods, such as accompanying the patient with a precise wheel, in order to minimize a putatively confounding influence of the Page 3 of 8

setting on the participants' walking behaviour. The 12MW followed the same procedure, with the only difference that the walking duration was twice as long. Additionally, the Wuerzburger Fatigue Inventory for Multiple Sclerosis (WEIMuS) was implemented prior to the first test as a measure of subjective somatic fatigue [15].

In order to gain information about walking dynamics with regard to MS-related disability, in a first step, patients were sorted into subgroups displaying moderate and mild disability. Group membership was determined based on the EDSS (Moderate MS Group, EDSS > 3.5, n = 18; Mild MS Group, EDSS < 4, n = 19). Scores below 4 refer to patients who are fully ambulatory, while scores between 4 and 5.5 refer with walking impairment who are able to walk at least 100m without assistive devices [5].

Statistical analyses were performed with SPSS 20.0. Differences in mean walking speed (meters/minute) between MS patients and controls were assessed by a twoway repeated measures ANOVA with the within-subjects factor Test (6MW, 12MW) and the between-subjects factor Group (Mild MS, Moderate MS, Controls). Given a

Table 1 Demographics, clinical information and health behavior

	MS Pa	tients (n = 37)	Contr	ols (n = 25)	statistic	p-value
Demographics						
Age M(SD)	39.7	(12.8)	38.4	(11.9)	0.40 ^a	0.69
Female sex, n (%)	28	(75.6)	18	(72.0)	0.11 ^b	0.75
Health Behavior						
Tobacco users, n (%)	14	(37.8)	6	(24.0)	1.31 ^b	0.25
Body Mass Index, M(SD)	22.7	(5.7)	23.8	(3.8)	- 0.89 ^a	0.41
Physical activity/week, n (%)						
< 1x	10	(27.0)	7	(28.0)		
1-2x	20	(54.1)	12	(48.0)	0.30 ^b	0.86
> 3x	7	(18.9)	6	(24.0)		
Clinical Information						
MS course, n (%)						
Relapsing-remitting	26	(70.3)				
Secondary progressive	8	(21.6)				
Clinically isolated syndrome	3	(8.1)				
MS Duration in years, M(SD)						
Relapsing-remitting	6.4	(7.8)				
Secondary progressive	6.4	(5.6)				
EDSS median (range)						
Mild MS	2	0 - 3.5				
Moderate MS	4	4 – 5				
MS treatment, n (%)						
Yes	25	(80.6)				
No	12	(19.4)				
a t-test. b chi square test.						

sample size of 60 participants, the use of this model yields a detectable effects size of f = 0.2, when relying on levels of α = 0.05 and β = 0.8. The omnibus test was followed up by two-sided t-tests with Bonferroni-corrected p-values to avoid Type I error inflation.

More importantly, linear and quadratic trends in the walking profiles were examined. In the data obtained in the current study, a quadratic trend reflected the degree to which the walking profile of each group approximated a U-shaped pattern. The linear trend served as an estimate of deceleration. The analyses explored, whether the distance covered during each test minute varied throughout the respective test, and whether putative linear and quadratic trends differed between groups. To this end, a repeated measures ANOVA with the within-subjects factor Minute (6MW: 1-6; 12MW: 1-12) and the between-subjects factor Group (Mild MS, Moderate MS, Controls) was conducted separately for each test.a In an additional analysis, Pearson correlations were used to test for an association between subjective somatic fatigue (WEIMuS-Score) and walking parameters.

Results

Mean walking speed

Healthy participants walked significantly faster than both groups of MS patients (see Table 2 for the total distance walked). In particular, the examined groups differed in their average walking speed, as revealed by a highly significant main effect of Group [F(2,59) = 61.65, p < 0.001]. The ANOVA further showed that overall walking speed was affected by walking duration, as indicated by a significant main effect of Test [F(1,59) = 55.18, p < 0.001]. The Group by Test interaction also reached significance [F(2,59) = 3.34, p < 0.05].

Post-hoc comparisons indicated that the main effect of Group was due to significant differences in walking speed between controls and the Moderate MS Group as well as significant differences between controls and the Mild MS group in both tests. The pattern of group differences was consistent across tests, albeit more pronounced in the 6MW (Table 3).

Linear trend component: decline in walking speed

In the 6MW, patients continuously slowed down throughout the test, and this decline in speed was significantly pronounced relative to healthy controls (Figure 1). In particular, the duration of walking affected the walking speed, as Page 4 of 8

revealed by a significant main effect of Minute [F(5,295) = 57.76, p < 0.001], with a highly significant linear trend [F(1,59) = 64.26, p < 0.001]. The linear trend, however, was differentially expressed across groups, as revealed by a highly significant Minute by Group interaction [F(2,59) = 7.00, p < 0.01]. Post hoc comparisons indicated a significantly pronounced decline of walking speed in the Moderate MS Group, relative to controls whereas the difference between controls and the Mild MS Group was not significant (Table 3).

The same pattern of a stronger decline in walking speed in patients, relative to controls, was observed in case of the 12MW (Figure 1). In this case, analyses revealed a significant main effect of Minute [F(11,649) = 35.13, p < 0.001], with a significant linear trend [F(1,59) = 46.08, p < 0.001], which was differentially expressed across groups [F(2,59) = 21.54, p < 0.001]. For both groups of patients, the decline in speed was significantly pronounced, relative to healthy controls (Table 3).

Quadratic trend component: degree of observed U-shape Overall, participants' performance approximated a U-shaped velocity profile in the 6MW. However, the U-shape was significantly attenuated in MS patients, relative to healthy controls. In particular, there was a highly significant quadratic trend [F(1,59) = 129.73, p < 0.001] which was differentially expressed across groups, as indicated by a highly significant Minute by Group interaction [F(2,59) = 10.82, p < 0.001]. As displayed in Table 3, further testing showed that the quadratic trend was significantly attenuated in both, Mild MS and Moderate MS groups, relative to healthy participants.

The general pacing profile also approximated a U-shaped pattern in the 12MW. In this case the observed U-shape did not vary across groups, and the overall significant quadratic trend [F(1,59) = 89.82, p < 0.001] was not characterized by a significant Minute by Group interaction [F(2,59) = 1.90, p > 0.05].

Obtained walking dynamics and subjective somatic fatigue

Within the MS group, the self-report parameter of somatic fatigue [15] showed significant correlations with mean walking speed [6MW: r = -0.38; 12MW: r = -0.36, p < 0.05, respectively] and highly significant correlations with the linear decline in walking speed [6MW: r = -0.63; 12MW: r = -0.56, p < 0.001, respectively] in both tests.

Table 2 Total distance covered during the 6MW and the 12MW

	Controls (n	= 25)	Mild MS (n	= 19)	Severe MS (n = 18)	
Total distance covered in meters	м	SD	м	SD	м	SD
6MW	681	88	586	73	422	69
12MW	1305	157	1151	148	792	134

	Controls (n = 25)		Mild MS	Mild MS (n = 19)		Statistic		Severe MS (n = 18)		c
	м	SD	М	SD	т	р	м	SD	т	р
6MW										
Mean speed m/min	113.44	14.59	97.71	12.20	3.80	0.000***	70.41	11.49	10.40	0.000***
Linear trend	-0.42	0.55	-0.37	0.35	-0.33	0.745	-1.00	0.78	2.87	0.006**
Quadratic trend	0.52	0.22	0.32	0.23	2.90	0.006**	0.19	0.26	4.50	0.000***
12MW										
Mean speed m/min	108.75	13.10	12.37	12.37	3.31	0.002**	66.01	11.16	11.21	0.000***
Linear trend	-0.00	0.25	-0.22	0.33	2.52	0.016*	-0.73	0.51	5.63	0.000***
Quadratic trend	0.05	0.04	0.05	0.03	0.02	0.983	0.03	0.03	1.68	0.100

Comparisons performed between groups of Mild MS patients and healthy controls, as well as Severe MS Patients and healthy controls.

*p-value < 0.05 ** p-value < 0.01 *** p-value < 0.001.



In order to verify, whether the association between the linear decline and somatic fatigue was significantly stronger than the association between mean walking speed and somatic fatigue, Steiger's Z-test was used. This revealed that self-reported somatic fatigue was more strongly associated with the decline in speed than with mean walking speed in the 6MW [6MW: Z = 1.98, p < 0.05]. In the 12MW, the difference between the strength of correlations of self-reported somatic fatigue and walking behavior (mean walking speed, linear decline in walking speed) did not reach statistical significance [12MW: Z = 1.50, p > 0.05; two-tailed]. For the control group no significant correlations were obtained (all p-values > 0.05). An exploratory analysis further revealed that there were no significant correlations between the self-report parameters and observed quadratic trends (all p-values > 0.05).

Discussion

Walking tests are frequently used to examine ambulation in MS patients [1,2]. However, analytic procedures applied to data derived from walking tests, with few exceptions [8-10], remained relatively superficial, leaving temporal walking dynamics almost unexplored. We examined three characteristics of walking behavior in two walking tests, comparing MS patients of mild and moderate disability to healthy controls. Besides the common parameter of mean walking speed, velocity profiles included the linear and the quadratic trend of walking speed during a 6 min Walk (6MW) and a 12 Minute Walk (12MW). The linear trend reflected a measure of deceleration over time, while the quadratic trend estimated the degree to which the walking profile of each group approximated a U-shape. With this analysis, we intended to confirm and extend observations made by Goldman et al. [10] who reported distinct patterns in the walking behavior of MS patients and healthy controls during the 6MW.

Page 5 of 8

Mean walking speed

Firstly, our results are consistent with findings of Goldman et al. [10], confirming that MS patients walked slower than controls in both tests. In our sample, both, mildly and moderately disabled MS patients displayed attenuated walking speed, relative to controls. As MS commonly affects ambulation, this observation is in line with the extant literature [4,6,9]. The fact that even MS patients with mild disability (Mild MS group) differed significantly from controls in their mean walking speed is noteworthy. This finding hints at an early influence of MS on walking ability in the examined sample and supports previous reports [7,10,16-18].

Linear trend in walking speed: mean decline

More importantly, results of the current study indicate that differences in walking behavior between MS patients and controls do not only manifest in mean walking speed, but also in altered dynamic walking parameters.

MS patients with moderate disability slowed down more rapidly than controls on both tests. Complementary, MS patients with mild disability displayed a pronounced deceleration in case of the 12MW. These novel findings indicate that continuous deceleration, as reflected by the linear trend in walking speed, represents an additional, clinically relevant feature of impaired ambulation in MS patients. While for patients with moderate disability, the 6MW represents a test which is sufficient to detect this clinical feature, for patients with mild disability, a considerably longer walking duration, as in the 12MW, seems necessary.

The linear decline in walking speed was significantly pronounced in patients, relative to healthy controls, which indicates that deceleration represents a clinically relevant feature. However, the current study provides further original information on the utility of this parameter. In particular, the linear decline in walking speed was highly correlated with subjective somatic fatigue. This provides convergent evidence, indicating that the pronounced deceleration also represents a good estimate of patients' subjective constraints. It is especially noteworthy that linear deceleration showed highly significant correlations with subjective somatic fatigue (all p-values < 0.001), whereas the commonly used parameter of mean walking speed showed only minor associations with somatic fatigue (all p-values < 0.05). Since these correlations differed significantly from each other in the 6MW^b, linear deceleration may in fact represent a more suitable parameter to assess somatic fatigue than mean walking speed. This appears plausible, since the dynamic notion of deceleration seems more congruent with the phenomenon of motor fatigue, than the mean walking speed. In sum, our results indicate that deceleration reflects a potentially useful parameter, which is

Page 6 of 8

suitable for the assessment of somatic fatigue. As such, our findings provide strong support for the notion of Goldman et al. [10], who suggested to interpret the decline in walking speed as an indicator of fatigue in MS patients.

Quadratic trend in walking speed: degree of observed ushape

We also found a U-shaped velocity profile (quadratic trend) across both tests in all groups combined. A U-shaped pacing strategy is a known phenomenon in healthy individuals [11]. As hypothesized, the degree of the U-shape was attenuated in MS patients, relative to controls in the 6MW. Even MS patients with mild disability showed an attenuated U-shape relative to controls on this test. This indicates, that the U-shaped profile can also be regarded as a clinically relevant parameter in MS. However, compared to the parameter of linear deceleration, it does not appear to be as informative, since no association with subjective fatigue was obtained and differences in the U-shaped pattern between the studied groups were not found in the 12MW. Nevertheless, since studies in which this dynamic characteristic is utilized are sparse, the current work provides original results on a new, promising clinical feature, worthy to be explored in more detail in the future.

Which walking test to use?

Recently, it has been suggested that a brief test including only two minutes of walking (2MW) represents a sufficient measure of walking ability in MS patients [12]. This suggestion was based on a high correlation between the distances covered during the 2MW and the 6MW [12]. Given this correlation, such a suggestion appears feasible when considering the total distance walked. Nevertheless, results of the current study suggest that the choice of which test to use depends on the walking parameter which is supposed to be assessed. For practical reasons, the parameter of mean walking speed, or total distance covered during a given amount of time, has received most attention in research on ambulation in MS. The current study provides novel findings, according to which further parameters can be derived from standard walking tests, which are of high clinical relevance. Particularly the linear trend, as a measure of deceleration, appears to be promising as an estimate of impaired walking ability, since it can be easily derived from a standard walking test. However, since it is not necessarily warranted to derive this measure from a test of only two minutes duration, the current findings do not provide direct support for the suggestion to drastically shorten common tests. In line with this conclusion, Motl et al. [8] have reported that a further putatively relevant parameter, i.e. oxygen consumption, does not reach a steady state within the first two minutes of walking, but remains unaltered only after the third minute. The latter authors suggest that the 2MW functions as a measure of primarily

anaerobic and the 6MW as a measure of primarily aerobic performance. Based on our results obtained in case of the 6MW, particularly this test appears to be a feasible measure to capture both, well established parameters, such as the total distance walked, as well as parameters which vary during the walking test. Our findings indicate that an abbreviation of the test duration might result in the loss of potentially important information on dynamic walking behavior, which to date has remained relatively unexplored. Dynamic parameters could serve as a means to increase sensitivity of walking tests to abnormal walking behavior within MS patients.

Limitations and future directions

In an innovative study Phan-Ba et al. [18] have recently utilized the combination of a timed 500 meter walk (T500MW) and a timed 25 foot walk (T25FW) to assess deceleration in MS. The authors quantified deceleration by computing a *combined* deceleration index, consisting of the ratio of walking speed during the last 100 meters of the T500MW and throughout the T25FW. The authors suggest that such a ratio may be particularly useful to assess ambulation impairment during late stages of MS. Hence, future studies which distinguish between MS subtypes and which explore methodological means to derive further parameters of dynamic walking characteristics may be warranted.

While the current results are in accord with this assumption, they are to be interpreted in the context of few limitations. In particular, it should be noted that the quantification of walking behavior was achieved through visual inspection by an examiner equipped with a stopwatch. This setting was chosen over the one in which a patient is accompanied by an examiner equipped with a precise measurement wheel, to reduce a putatively confounding influence of the setting on walking performance. It is also the approach commonly used in the clinic where the work was carried out. On the other hand, it can be argued that visual inspection may also have an effect on walking performance, and the use of a measurement wheel would have provided a technically more precise measure of walking speed. Hence, the examiner could either have accompanied the patient with the measurement wheel, or the patient could have been equipped with the measurement wheel. Either option may represent a useful alternative to the method implemented in the current study. This fact may be regarded as a caveat to the interpretation of the current results.

Finally, it needs to be noted that the walking parameters explored in the current study imply an alteration of the common nomenclature used in the literature. Performance on walking tests is usually referred to in terms of the total distance covered during a given amount of time. For the use of walking behaviour which changes throughout the test (e.g. deceleration) as a test parameter, a nomenclature involving walking speed appeared more feasible. Nevertheless, when it comes to the interpretation of the current results, it needs to be considered that this nomenclature does not match the one of the extant literature on common walking parameters.

Conclusions

Our findings highlight the necessity of thoroughly considering the diagnostic goal of a walking test. It is known that the parameter of mean walking speed can be reliably derived from relatively short tests, e.g. the 2MW [12]. However, this parameter might oversimplify the concept of walking impairment, and only tests of longer duration, such as the 6MW, can be used to derive dynamic parameters, which are potentially more informative. As an augmentation to the current standard of measures of walking ability, we contribute a method of quantifying dynamic walking patterns, such as the linear decline in walking speed (linear trend). The linear trend could serve as a surrogate parameter of motor fatigue. It might be better suited than the total distance walked because of its significantly higher correlation with patients' subjective somatic fatigue in the 6MW. Our results support the choice of a longer test duration (12 min) only for MS patients with mild disability (estimated by an EDSS score of less than 4). A shorter test duration (6 min) appears to be sufficient to examine dynamic walking characteristics in MS patients with potentially more moderate deficits (estimated by an EDSS score greater than 3.5). The early registration of changes in walking ability is a key to therapy aimed at minimizing the impairment of mobility. We recommend further research to more thoroughly explore abnormal dynamic walking features in MS, and to establish normative data for these parameters.

Endnotes

^a The linear trend (first order polynomial trend component) describes the mean slope of the velocity profile [8]. An example of the calculation: **D1**, **D2**, ... **Dn** reflect the distance covered during the **first**, **second**, ..., **n-th** minute of the walking test. Calculation of the linear trend in the 6MW can be achieved with this formula: LinearTrend^{6MW} = ((-5*D1) + (-3*D2) + (-1*D3) + (1*D4) + (3*D5) + (5*D6))/70 Different formulas were utilized for the 12MW and the quadratic trend [19].

^b The fact that the difference between the correlation of linear trend of walking speed and subjective somatic fatigue and the correlation of mean walking speed and subjective somatic fatigue reached statistical significance only in the 6MW but not in the 12MW may be a power issue.

Page 7 of 8

4 Publications

Burschka et al. BMC Neurology 2012, **12**:161 http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2377/12/161

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests. This publication was funded by the German Research Foundation (DFG) and the University of Bayreuth in the funding program Open Access Publishing.

Author's contributions

JB conceived of the study, participated in its design, coordination and data acquisition and drafted the manuscript. PK performed the statistical analysis and helped to draft the manuscript. UM participated in the design of the study, reviewed the statistical analysis and revised the manuscript. UH participated in the acquisition of data and revised the manuscript. PO participated in the design of the study. OH participated in the design of the study, reviewed the statistical analysis and revised the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank all participants for their efforts taking part in the study.

Author details

¹Institute of Sports Science, University of Bayreuth, 95440, Bayreuth, Germany. ²Klinikum Bayreuth GmbH, Betriebsstätte Hohe Warte, Department of Neurology, Hohe Warte 8, 95445, Bayreuth, Germany. ³Department Medicine, Training and Health, Institute of Sports Science, Philipps-University Marburg, Marburg, Germany.

Received: 10 August 2012 Accepted: 20 December 2012 Published: 27 December 2012

References

- Kieseier BC, Pozzilli C: Assessing walking disability in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 2012, 18:914–924.
- Bethoux F, Bennett S: Evaluating Walking in Patients with Multiple Sclerosis. Which Assessment Tools Are Useful in Clinical Practice? Int J MS Care 2011, 13:4–14.
- Wetzel JL, Fry DK, Pfalzer LA: Six-minute walk test for persons with mild or moderate disability from multiple sclerosis: performance and explanatory factors. *Physiother Can* 2011, 63:166–180.
- Savci S, Inal-Ince D, Arikan H, Guclu-Gunduz A, Cetisli-Korkmaz N, Armutlu K, Karabudak R: Six-minute walk distance as a measure of functional exercise capacity in multiple sclerosis. *Disabil Rehabil* 2005, 27:1365–1371.
- Kurtzke JF: Rating neurologic impairment in multiple sclerosis: an expanded disability status scale (EDSS). Neurology 1983, 33:1444–1452.
- Chetta A, Rampello A, Marangio E, Merlini S, Dazzi F, Aiello M, et al: Cardiorespiratory response to walk in multiple sclerosis patients. *Respir Med* 2004, 98:522–529.
- Motl RW, Balantrapu S, Pilutti L, Dlugonski D, Suh Y, Sandroff BM, et al: Symptomatic correlates of six-minute walk performance in persons with multiple sclerosis. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med 2012, in press.
- Motl RW, Suh Y, Balantrapu S, Sandroff BM, Sosnoff JJ, Pula J, et al: Evidence for the different physiological significance of the 6- and 2-min walk tests in multiple sclerosis. BMC Neurol 2012, 12:6.
- Schwid SR, Thornton CA, Pandya S, Manzur KL, Sanjak M, Petrie MD, et al: Quantitative assessment of motor fatigue and strength in MS. *Neurology* 1999, 53:743–750.
- Goldman MD, Marrie RA, Cohen JA: Evaluation of the six-minute walk in multiple sclerosis subjects and healthy controls. *Mult Scler* 2008, 14:383–390.
- 11. Tucker R, Noakes TD: The physiological regulation of pacing strategy during exercise: a critical review. Br J Sports Med 2009, 43:e1.
- Gijbels D, Eijnde BO, Feys P: Comparison of the 2- and 6-min walk test in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 2011, 17:1269–1272.
- Gijbels D, Dalgas U, Romberg A, de Groot V, Bethoux F, Vaney C, et al: Which walking capacity tests to use in multiple sclerosis? A multicentre study providing the basis for a core set. *Mult Scler* 2011, 18:364–371.
- 14. ATS statement: guidelines for the six-minute walk test. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2002, 166:111–117.
- Flachenecker P, Müller G, König H, Meissner H, Toyka KV, Rieckmann P: "Fatigue" bei Multipler Sklerose. Entwicklung und Validierung des "Würzburger Erschöpfungsinventars bei MS". Nervenarzt 2006, 77:165–174.

Page 8 of 8

- Benedetti MG, Piperno R, Simoncini L, Bonato P, Tonini A, Giannini S: Gait abnormalities in minimally impaired multiple sclerosis patients. *Mult Scler* 1999, 5:363–368.
- Martin CL, Phillips BA, Kilpatrick TJ, Butzkueven H, Tubridy N, McDonald E, Galea MP: Gait and balance impairment in early multiple sclerosis in the absence of clinical disability. *Mult Scler* 2006, 12:620–628.
- Phan-Ba R, Calay P, Grodent P, Delrue G, Lommers E, Delvaux V, et al: Motor fatigue measurement by distance-induced slow down of walking speed in multiple sclerosis. PLoS One 2012, 7:e34744.
- Reinard JC: Communication research statistics. Thousand Oaks, Calif: SAGE Publications; 2006.

doi:10.1186/1471-2377-12-161

Cite this article as: Burschka et al.: An exploration of impaired walking dynamics and fatigue in Multiple Sclerosis. *BMC Neurology* 2012 12:161.

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and take full advantage of:

- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- No space constraints or color figure charges
- Immediate publication on acceptance
- Inclusion in PubMed, CAS, Scopus and Google Scholar
- Research which is freely available for redistribution

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit



Sportwiss 2013 · 43:181–196 DOI 10.1007/s12662-013-0300-1 Received: 19 June 2012 Accepted: 18 May 2013 Published online: 25 July 2013 © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013 Janina Burschka^{1,2} • Peter Kuhn¹ • Uwe Menge² • Patrick Oschmann² ¹Institut für Sportwissenschaft, Universität Bayreuth, Bayreuth, Deutschland ²Klinikum Bayreuth GmbH, Betriebsstätte Hohe Warte, Neurologische Klinik, Bayreuth, Deutschland

Research on Tai Chi as a sport in health care

The challenge of complex interventions

Electronic supplementary material

The online version of this article (doi: 10.1007/s12662-013-0300-1) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

Introduction and background

There is growing scientific interest in the effects of martial arts on health. Most of the research and literature available has an Eastern background. Since the 1990s, Western researchers, too, have increasing-ly been focusing on martial arts. From a sports science point of view, this research was mainly directed at potential injuries resulting from martial art practice (Burke, Al-Adawi, Lee & Audette, 2007). From a medical point of view, the health benefits of martial arts have been receiving more and more attention especially Tai Chi, which is the most studied martial art by far (Bu et al., 2010; Burke et al., 2007).

Why study Tai Chi?

In China, the health benefits of Tai Chi are unquestioned as evidenced by the large number of Chinese practicing Tai Chi every morning and by the saying: "Tai Chi helps to gain the pliability of a child, the strength of a lumberjack and the peace of mind of a sage." The majority of scientific studies on Tai Chi focused on the improvement of health deficits in various areas (Field, 2011; Zhu, Guan & Yang, 2010). The results of these studies suggest mainly a positive effect of Tai Chi. However, the mechanisms of inducing change via Tai Chi practice are still unknown, and several methodological difficulties were encountered. The main problem in reviewing studies on Tai Chi is the great variability in the target population, the study design, and the outcome parameters (Field, 2011; Zhu et al., 2010). Bu et al. (2010) suggested that the reason for this variability lies in the inherent property of Tai Chi as a body-mind-spirit exercise (as opposed to being solely a physical exercise), pointing out the multidimensionality of its possible effects. Wayne and Kaptchuk (2008a) elaborated on this idea, presenting a conceptual framework of Tai Chi as a complex multicomponent intervention. They point out that while the effects of Tai Chi practice are researched more and more thoroughly, little attention has been directed at evaluating how this research has been conducted (Wayne & Kaptchuk, 2008b).

Content and goal of this article

Originally designed as a martial art in ancient China, Tai Chi has been gaining attention in both Eastern and Western health-care research. The reviews found on Tai Chi research focus mainly on the extent of the effects attributed to Tai Chi practice. We face a growing body of evidence in favor of several health benefits in various target populations. However, neither firm conclusions were drawn nor clear recommendations were developed with regard to a well-directed practical application of the concept referred to as Tai Chi. So far, the question of how Tai Chi was scientifically studied has received little attention (Wayne, 2008b). This is striking, since the concept behind the name *Tai Chi* is manifold and variable. This variability poses distinct challenges to the interpretation, generalization, and repetition of original research on Tai Chi interventions, and it may be the key problem impeding the systematic generation of evidence and practical implementations.

Against this background, our aim was to examine the content and methodology of studies on Tai Chi as a sport in health care. We analyzed this issue in a problemcentered article, comprising review-like elaborations in two sections. We did not conduct a systematic review of the health benefits of Tai Chi practice, since this has already been done elsewhere (Zhu et al., 2010). Our intention was to address a fundamental problem within Tai Chi research: complexity. This problem was also encountered in other health-care and behavioral interventions, and remains highly debated in the current literature.

First, we provide an overview of Tai Chi as a sport in general. In this section, we outline the concept behind the rather simple name Tai Chi, referring to the philosophical background, historical development, and principles of Tai Chi practice. Second, we summarize how Tai Chi has been studied as a type of sport in health care to date. This section contains a review-like exploration of the question on how researchers have attempted to study Tai Chi. We include a brief overview of original research as well as a summary of

41

reviews on the therapeutic potential of Tai Chi. We then analyze seven original articles that offer a description of the Tai Chi intervention in order to provide a background for further discussion. To this end, we identified two pluralistic components, namely, Tai Chi itself and the way Tai Chi has been studied scientifically. Third, we provide an overview of the current discussion on complexity within health-care interventions in general. In this section, we focus on the problems inherent to the terminology used in this debate, particularly exploring the terms complexity, complex intervention, complex system, and wholesystem research. Fourth, we discuss the challenge of complexity within Tai Chi itself and within Tai Chi research. In this section, we delineate Tai Chi as a complex intervention and draw conclusions regarding the research methodology in this field.

What is Tai Chi?

Tai Chi is a living tradition with a long history. The current state of research on the essence and development of the Tai Chi tradition is unlimited and still in progress. In this section, we provide a short outline of the philosophy, historical development, and core principles of Tai Chi. This overview aims to convey the idea of Tai Chi as a multifaceted and variable art of movement albeit with a rather simple name.

Terminology and philosophy

From a practical point of view, the core of Tai Chi is the performance of defined motions with respect to certain principles (Landmann, 2005, p. 30). In summary, these motions consist of defense and attack techniques, which are carried out rather slowly one after the other in flowing and dance-like chains of motion. Such choreography is called *taolu*, i.e., *form, sequence*. While the core principles of these forms are similar, the movements and dynamics vary with respect to different traditional styles, choice of weapons, and whether they are performed with or without a partner.

The literal translation of Tai Chi means "supreme ultimate." In the Chinese philosophy of Daoism, the term Tai Chi describes

the concept of yin and yang, which is represented by the Tai Chi symbol ([©]). Yin and yang characterize two opposite forces joining and balancing each other in an endless, dynamic interplay. In its original meaning, Tai Chi describes a mountain's summit where the light side and shaded side merge to become one. Similarly, it describes a roof ridge, carrying and uniting both halves of the roof. In Chinese philosophy, Tai Chi (as the concept of yin and yang) is seen as the highest principle of order within the cosmos. A teaching in Daoism (wuwei) suggests not to interfere with this natural course of nature by using rough force, but to actively follow its path to reach the destination desired (Anders, Brauner & Zock, 2009, pp. 30-31).

In addition to this philosophic meaning, the term Tai Chi was used to refer to a Chinese martial art, which resembles the principle of yin and yang in its fighting technique. The general idea of this technique is self-defense against superior opponents by overcoming differences in strength and speed. Offensive force (yang) is not answered with counterforce (yang), but with drawback (yin) and the intention of unbalancing the offender and then diverting and redirecting his force back to himself (yang). Landmann (2005, pp. 293-294) questioned the belief that the martial art Tai Chi was originally derived from the principle of yin and yang, as suggested by Song and Bohn (1991, p. 45). Landmann (2005, p. 291) assumed that the common knowledge and acceptance of philosophic principles may have served as a suitable aid to explain and justify the martial art Tai Chi and its dynamic principles.

To specify the form of Tai Chi martial art, the type of weapon used is attached to the term Tai Chi. For example, the use of a sword (*jian*) results in the name *Tai Chi Jian*, whereas unarmed Tai Chi is called *Tai Chi Chuan*. The term *chuan* is derived from *shou* (*hand*) and means *fist*, *fist fight*, *or boxing* (Landmann, 2005, pp. 57– 58). Depending on the system of phonetic translation used, the spelling varies: Tàijíquán (pinyin), T'ai Chi Ch'uan (Wade– Giles system).

History of Tai Chi Chuan

Tai Chi Chuan is a living tradition and an evolving art. Its original creator remains unknown and its history is controversially discussed. While Chinese history is rich in written information on the life of its governors and direct enemies, written records on the life of the folk are scarce. In its early phase of development, Tai Chi Chuan was a secret martial art that was passed down through generations and had not yet been given the name it carries today. The origin of the term "Tai Chi Chuan" itself is not clear and was not established until the 1920s with the first wave of publications on Tai Chi Chuan. Most of what is known today comes from oral traditions in the form of narratives and anecdotes, which were not written down until the nineteenth or twentieth century (Song & Bohn, 1991, p. 25). Since the mid-nineteenth century Tai Chi Chuan has been receiving increasing attention. The practice grew with five main traditional styles (Chen, Yang, Wu, Wu, and Sun) and spread beyond the Chinese culture. The main incentive to open originally secret martial arts to the public may have been the invention of firearms, against which even highly developed fighting techniques pose no threat (Filipiak, 2001, p. 147). Most of the early literature on Tai Chi Chuan was written in the late nineteenth century. Beginning with these publications, interest in the health benefits resulting from Tai Chi Chuan practice grew, while the original idea of self-defense became less important (Landmann, 2005, pp. 20-61).

Since the early twentieth century, more and more manuscripts and lessons of Tai Chi Chuan have been made available to the public. To increase the suitability of Tai Chi Chuan for the mainstream, the original forms were shortened and simplified and new forms were developed along with the establishment of official martial art competitions (Buss, 2007, pp. 15-18). In China, elements of Tai Chi are included in musical theater performances. Additionally, new forms of motion were invented that carry the term Tai Chi in their name, for example, Tai Chi dancing and Tai Chi Bailong Ball (Buss, 2007, p. 21). In this way, Tai Chi Chuan evolved to be-

come both a competitive sport as well as a popular sport and form of health enhancement exercise, earning increasing attention as a subject in sports science.

Teaching Tai Chi Chuan today

The early manuscripts on Tai Chi Chuan seem to originate from the representatives of three of the main traditional styles (Chen, Yang, Wu), having been passed down through generations until the early twentieth century. During the process of traditional teaching, the forms changed along with the Tai Chi masters, each of them aiming to further develop his abilities (Anders et al., 2009, p. 17; Landmann, 2005, p. 61). The change from the direct tradition of Tai Chi Chuan (between a master and his few chosen students) to the dissemination of Tai Chi Chuan to the public via group lessons, led by both masters and students, resulted in an even greater variability in its teaching. Therefore, the expertise of Tai Chi Chuan instructors today is very difficult to assess. Before the 1950s, the criterion of a good teacher was the ability to develop and exert force (jin force) achieving high impact without hurting the person being hit (Anders et al., 2009, p. 16). Since the number of instructors who were not able to develop this kind of force increased - while simultaneously the motive behind practicing Tai Chi Chuan changed from martial arts to health promotion - this criterion of expertise became less important (Anders et al., 2009, p. 24; Buss, 2007, p. 21).

Instead, several instructors adopted the Chinese way of legitimation via the traditional lineage, referring to themselves as *personal student of master X* even if they met him only twice a year (Anders et al., 2009, p. 24). Additionally, several terms are now being used to emphasize the quality of the Tai Chi Chuan taught (*original, authentic*) and to imply a specific level of skill (titles like *sifu, master*, and *grand master*) (Kang, 2011). In an attempt to manage the quality of Tai Chi Chuan lessons, several associations were established.

Tai Chi Chuan principles

Landmann (2005, p. 61) argued that the variability within Tai Chi Chuan practice

Abstract · Zusammenfassung

Sportwiss 2013 · 43:181–196 DOI 10.1007/s12662-013-0300-1 © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013

J. Burschka · P. Kuhn · U. Menge · P. Oschmann

Research on Tai Chi as a sport in health care. The challenge of complex interventions

Abstract

This article examines the content and methodology of studies on Tai Chi as a sport in health care. We investigate the concept behind the rather simple name "Tai Chi," concluding that this concept is manifold and highly variabile. How did researchers deal with this variability when studying the effects of Tai Chi as a health-care intervention? We then explore how scientific research on Tai Chi has been conducted to date and draw the interim conclusion that the variability was barely taken into consideration. Our analysis of seven Tai Chi interventions reveals that two interventions referred to as Tai Chi may differ considerably in their content. The variability poses difficulty in repeating the intervention and drawing causal inferences. This problem is discussed in the current literature under the term "complexity in healthcare interventions." On the basis of a summary of this debate, we discuss the challenge of researching Tai Chi from a complex perspective—with the aim of achieving solid results that can be repeated.

Keywords

Tai Chi · Health care · Complexity · Complex intervention

Forschung über Tai Chi im Gesundheitssport. Die Herausforderung komplexer Interventionen

Zusammenfassung

Was bedeutet es inhaltlich und methodologisch, Tai Chi als Intervention im Gesundheitssport zu erforschen? Wir untersuchen das Konzept, das sich hinter dem Begriff Tai Chi verbirgt und stellen fest, dass dieses Konzept höchst variabel und vielfältig ist. Auf welche Weise findet diese Variabilität in der Erforschung von Tai Chi als Intervention im Gesundheitssport Berücksichtigung? Wir untersuchen daraufhin, wie Tai Chi bisher wissenschaftlich erforscht wurde und ziehen die Zwischenbilanz, dass die Variabilität der Interventionen kaum Berücksichtigung fand. Unsere beispielhafte Analyse von sieben Interventionen lässt erkennen, dass zwei Interventionen, die beide als Tai Chi be-

might be a hint that the core of Tai Chi Chuan is not the form itself, but the principles that are carried within the form. In his analysis of the early manuscripts on Tai Chi Chuan principles, Landmann (2005, p. 306) concluded that a thorough summary of the kinematics of Tai Chi Chuan may never be recovered and may have never even existed.

Landmann (2005) presents four basic concepts to describe the quality of motion within Tai Chi Chuan. The concepts comprise the principles of *yin* and *yang*, *qi*, *jin force*, and *motion*. As argued earlier, wellknown philosophic principles (such as *yin* and *yang*) may have served as an aid to dezeichnet werden, inhaltlich sehr unterschiedlich sein können. Die Variabilität stellt uns vor die Schwierigkeit, die Intervention zu wiederholen und kausale Zusammenhänge abzuleiten. Dieses Problem wird aktuell unter dem Begriff Komplexität in der Gesundheitsforschung diskutiert. Auf Basis einer Zusammenfassung dieser Debatte diskutieren wir die Herausforderung, Tai Chi aus einer komplexen Perspektive zu erforschen – mit dem Ziel, zu belastbaren Ergebnissen zu kommen, die replizierbar sind.

Schlüsselwörter

Tai Chi · Gesundheitssport · Komplexität · Komplexe Intervention

scribe the characteristics of motion in Tai Chi Chuan in China, but they pose great difficulties to those who are unfamiliar with these concepts (Landmann, 2005, p. 306). The precondition to account for all of the four concepts is *awareness* and the *conscious control* of motion (Landmann, 2005, p. 298). As delineated earlier, *the concept of yin and yang* was used to describe the *dynamic qualities* within Tai Chi Chuan motions.

The term *jin* is used to describe a special way of developing and exerting force in Chinese martial arts. The ways of achieving *jin* vary depending on the type of martial art and its teachings (Anders



Fig. 1 ▲ Overview of the longitudinal studies on Tai Chi listed in the PubMed database, with respect to year of publication and study design

et al., 2009, pp. 31-32). In the literature on Tai Chi Chuan, jin is translated as jin force (Anders et al., 2009; Landmann, 2005) or elastic force (Song & Bohn, 1991). In Tai Chi Chuan, the concept of jin describes the effort of achieving a special organization within the body (Landmann, 2005, p. 295). The achievement of jin depends mainly on the optimal use of the body's elastic qualities, while the overall effect of jin depends both on one's own bodily structure and the bodily structure of the person hit (Song & Bohn, 1991). In special constellations, this results in spectacular events where the person hit is pushed several meters away from the person exerting jin, who then seems to possess superhuman strength. Anders et al. (2009, p. 24) differentiate two distinct types of Tai Chi practice, depending on whether the development of jin is a specific goal of the practice or not.

The concept of qi has been subject to many misunderstandings and mystifications. The Chinese character for qi has been changing over the course of history and was used to describe a variety of microscopic and macroscopic phenomena and concepts. It cannot accurately be defined or translated, and attempts at translation remain vague and ambiguous (Landmann, 2005, p. 80). Even within the context of Tai Chi Chuan, the character for qi is used to describe different matters. Landmann (2005, p. 294) concluded that the term qi is mainly used to describe the *effort of moving the body as a whole* (as opposed to the isolated movement of single parts) with the help of imagination and breathing techniques.

The remaining concept, *motion*, was characterized by the following four approaches: motion as changing the body's position in space, motion as changing the relationship of the body's parts to each other, motion as changing the body's weight ratio, and motion as a counterpart to rest (Landmann, 2005, p. 297).

Conclusion

Taken together, these findings make it clear that the art of Tai Chi has grown to be a highly pluralistic type of exercise. The practice and dissemination of Tai Chi depend heavily on the fusion of tradition, personal experiences, and development. Moreover, the motives for practicing Tai Chi – e.g., as a martial art, self-defense, meditation, aesthetics, socializing, exploration of a different concept of motion – also play a major role. All the phenomena emerging from this variability are commonly referred to as Tai Chi. However, the term Tai Chi itself does not denote which of these phenomena is meant.

Researching Tai Chi in health care

Scientific interest in the therapeutic potential of Tai Chi has grown, leading to an increase in the amount of original research being published. The aim of this section is to explore the following question: Which areas has Tai Chi research been directed toward and which way of practicing Tai Chi has been assumed to hold therapeutic potential?

How has research on Tai Chi been conducted so far?

The database PubMed was searched in March 2012 for longitudinal studies on Tai Chi interventions, using the search terms "Tai," "Chi," "Chuan," "Taiji," and "Taiji-

quan." All studies that included at least a pretest and posttest design were accepted. The search yielded 108 studies, starting with the year 1997. An overview of these studies was made from the information given in the abstracts, taking into account the following aspects: year of publication, description of the intervention, duration of the intervention, target population, sample size, study design, study arms, and outcome domains (see STab. 1 for publications analyzed in Sect. 3.3, and the Appendix for the complete table). The variability within the studies was very high, with the sample size ranging from 6 to 1,200 and the duration of the intervention ranging from 60 min to 12 months. We noted a significant increase in the number of publications from 0 to 10-15 per year (Fig. 1). All but three of the studies included in the analysis explored the health benefits of Tai Chi on the basis of a variety of different conditions, focusing to a great extent on elderly persons (**Fig. 2**). The abstract of most studies did not specify the Tai Chi style or forms used (Fig. 3).

How has Tai Chi research been reviewed so far?

The database PubMed was searched in September 2012, using the search term "Tai Chi." The search yielded 871 results. Articles labeled as type "review" were selected, generating 155 results. All articles with the words Tai Chi or Taiji in their title were selected consecutively, yielding 69 results. Articles not written in English or German were excluded, thus leaving 64 articles for closer analysis (see Appendix for complete table). These 64 articles were published between 1998 and 2012. In the majority of these studies, the health benefits of Tai Chi were reviewed with respect to particular target groups, led by the elderly and persons with cardiovascular problems (see **Fig. 4**). The remaining articles reviewed the health and therapeutic benefits of Tai Chi in general, explored particular aspects of Tai Chi practice, provided information on Tai Chi itself, and reviewed methodological aspects of Tai Chi research (see **Fig. 5**).

To gain insight into the way Tai Chi has been reviewed as an interventional thera-



Fig. 3 ▲ Absolute frequency of longitudinal studies on Tai Chi found in the PubMed database, with respect to description of the intervention provided in the abstract

py, we chose to examine the five reviews focusing on health benefits of Tai Chi in general.¹ In the following section, we provide a summary of these reviews, focusing on their structure and main conclusions.

¹ We did not include the two reviews on methodology in Tai Chi research. Both articles delineated the challenge of complexity within Tai Chi and are referred to in our discussion on this topic in Sect. 5. Klein and Adams (2004) conducted a systematic and well-structured review on the comprehensive benefits of Tai Chi. First, they provided an overview of the whole body of research identified through three databases. They pointed out that the amount and strength of evidence on Tai Chi interventions had increased tremendously from 1985 to 2003 and that a variety of clinical populations were studied. In summary, the literature reviews they

cited concluded that, although scientific evidence in favor of the health benefits of Tai Chi was growing, further research was needed. Additionally, in a 2004 review, the methodological approach to researching the effects of Tai Chi on balance was criticized, addressing deficits in what constituted the intervention and the research protocols. Second, Klein and Adams (2004) conducted a systematic review of 17 randomized controlled trials (RCTs) published between 1990 and 2003, comprising a total of 1,035 subjects, intervention durations ranging from 6 weeks to 12 months, and activity duration of less than 15 min to more than 60 min per session. Klein and Adams (2004) reported Yang style and simplified forms as the most frequent characterization of the Tai Chi intervention, provided that a description was available at all. In more than 60% of the over 22 outcome areas examined, statistically significant benefits were reported. Each study reported at least one statistically significant benefit. The most frequent outcome measures were quality of life and physical function. Klein and Adams stated that both measures are complex and multidimensional constructs, comprising a variety of different outcome domains. Further outcomes focused on pain, blood pressure, balance, immune response, flexibility, strength, and kinesthetic sense. Klein and Adams (2004) concluded that evidence supports the potential of Tai Chi benefits in these domains. They also pointed out that the evidence at hand justified Tai Chi being explored in the following domains: cardiac rehabilitation, chronic pain management, fall prevention programs, health and wellness intervention for individuals who are immune suppressed, fitness exercise programs for the elderly, as well as exercise precautions for arthritis-related conditions.

Kuramoto (2006) conducted a research review on the therapeutic benefits of Tai Chi exercise. The review included 14 original articles published between 1991 and 2004. No inclusion or exclusion criteria for the studies reviewed were reported. In this review, Tai Chi interventions were summarized with respect to different outcome domains, including pain reduction, balance and fall prevention, aer-

Flders 18 Cardiovascular problems 9 Bone health Rheumatic disease Cancer Balance Psychological wellbeing 2 Aerobic capacity Torture, refugee trauma Stress Parkinson's disease Nursina Neck pain Fig. 4 ◀ Absolute fre-Diabetes quency of review articles on Tai Chi found Chronic conditions in the PubMed database, with respect to Chronic Pain a selected target population Research methodology of Tai Chi 🚪 2 information on Tai Chi in general Targeting particular aspects of Tai Chi Fig. 5 < Absolute fre-(meditation, biomechanics, intensity) quency of review arti-Health benefits of Tai Chi in general cles on Tai Chi found in the PubMed database. Health benefits of Tai Chi with regard to 52

obic capacity, blood pressure, quality of life, stress, sleep, and strength. A brief summary was provided of the study design, methods, and results of the studies included. No firm conclusion was drawn regarding the strength of evidence. It was concluded that there is a need for better study designs, more longitudinal research, as well as a focus on younger and middleaged people. Kuramoto (2006, p. 45) stated that "future studies should investigate outcomes associated with Tai Chi training as a function of different instructional techniques, different Tai Chi styles, different groups and different age groups" and that "it is not clear which of the compo-

a selected target group

186 3 · 2013 Sportwissenschaft

nents in Tai Chi makes the exercise especially effective."

with respect to the

topic chosen for review

Jahnke, Larkey, Rogers, Etnier and Lin (2010) conducted a well-structured, comprehensive review on the health benefits of Qigong and Tai Chi. Using five databases, they included 77 RCTs from 1993 to 2007 that focused either on Qigong or Tai Chi interventions. The studies included comprised 6,410 subjects and 163 different physiological and psychological health outcomes. From these outcomes, nine outcome categories were identified: bone density, cardiopulmonary effects, physical function, falls, balance and related risk factors, quality of life, self-effica-

cy, patient-reported outcomes, psychological symptoms, and immune- and inflammation-related responses. Consecutively, within each category, the studies included were discussed with respect to control groups, outcome measures, results, and description of intervention as Tai Chi or Qigong. Conclusions were drawn about the strength of evidence for each category. Jahnke et al. (2010) discussed the results with respect to control groups and intervention duration. They found that designs that used an inactive control group mainly resulted in significant differences between treatment groups, while studies that used an active control group mainly found similar improvements in both treatment groups and no significant differences. If the inclusion of an inactive control group did not result in significant differences between treatment groups, the studies mainly included shorter intervention duration (less than 12 weeks) and/or very health-compromised participants. However, Jahnke et al. (2010) also reported on three studies in which significant effects occurred after an intervention duration of only 8 weeks. The authors (2010) concluded that interventions labeled as either Tai Chi or Qigong yielded similar results. While fewer studies focused on Qigong than on Tai Chi, the content of the Tai Chi studies mainly seemed to be simplified Tai Chi forms. Jahnke et al. (2010, p. 12) explained that these simplifications may result in exercise programs that are more similar to Qigong than to Tai Chi and "may be Tai Chi in name only." The authors concluded that these findings justified their claim of the equivalence of Tai Chi and Qigong when researched with regard to therapeutic value. As a main limitation to this conclusion, Jahnke et al. (2010) addressed the lack of detail reported across the studies. A detailed description of the intervention could have helped analyze to what extent the interventions included key elements of meditative movement in their curricula (focus on regulating the body, the breath, and the mind). Moreover, a detailed description was necessary to assess the variations in outcomes achieved. Jahnke et al. (2010) suggested consistent reporting with regard to dosing (frequency, duration and level of intensity, estimate of metabolic equivalents) and motion (speed of execution, muscle groups used, range of motion).

Field (2011) conducted a research review on Tai Chi based on 71 articles (including reviews) published between 1989 and 2010. No inclusion or exclusion criteria were provided for the studies reviewed. The review was structured according to the following outcome domains: empirical support of Tai Chi being an aerobic exercise, other physical benefits, psychological benefits, cardiovascular benefits, pain syndromes, autoimmune conditions, and immune function. Within these domains. the results of different studies were summarized and partly discussed with respect to the intervention duration. However, no conclusions were drawn regarding strength of evidence and future research attempts. Field (2011) drew attention to the following methodological problems: variability in the Tai Chi forms used, the intensity of the Tai Chi protocol, higher amount of prestudy and poststudy designs compared to controlled trials.

Allen and Meires (2011) conducted a brief review of the potential benefits of Tai Chi practice for patients with chronic conditions. Eight original articles published between 2006 and 2009 were included. No inclusion or exclusion criteria were provided for the studies reviewed. The review was addressed at primary care providers and encouraged the prescription of Tai Chi as therapy. Allen and Meires (2011) concluded that Tai Chi could improve the physical and mental well-being of patients with chronic illnesses. They stated that most of the effects in the studies occurred after an intervention duration of 12 weeks with two to three sessions per week.

In summary, the five reviews we analyzed varied in methodological rigor. Klein and Adams (2004) and Jahnke et al. (2010) closely followed a predefined research question, providing conclusions about the strength of evidence identified in the studies reviewed. Kuramoto (2006), Field (2011) and Allen and Meires (2011) summarized a variety of articles on Tai Chi research, but did not draw conclusions about the evidence base. In all five reviews, the presentation of the studies included was oriented toward different outcome domains. We conclude that this seems to be a reasonable way of deal-

ing with the variety of forms that Tai Chi research is directed at. However, the second variability, which is inherent to Tai Chi, was not targeted in any of the five reviews. Yet, the following methodological problems were addressed: lack of description of the intervention (Klein & Adams, 2004; Jahnke et al. 2010), modification of Tai Chi forms (Jahnke et al. 2010), lack of information regarding the intensity of the intervention (Field, 2011), variability in forms used (Field, 2011, Jahnke et al. 2010), lack of association between content and consequences (Kuramoto, 2010), and complexity of outcome domains (Klein & Adams, 2004).

How have Tai Chi interventions been conducted so far?

In this section, we present an analysis of seven studies reported in original articles that include a detailed description of the Tai Chi intervention conducted (**Table 1**). The goal of this summary is to reflect how Tai Chi has been studied. In particular, the intention was to look into the way the study was organized as well as which components the intervention contained. The seven articles were selected from the 108 original articles analyzed previously (Sect. How has research on Tai Chi been conducted so far?). Selection criteria were sample size, intervention duration, and quality of reporting. The first two criteria were selected with regard to the level of organizational load and the level of explanatory power. The third criterion was aimed at the intervention and was needed because of the poor description of the intervention protocol in most studies (Wayne & Kaptchuk, 2008b). The top seven studies providing the most detailed information on the intervention were chosen.

Analysis of the study design

Design All of the selected articles refer to a *target population* with either a chronic condition, Parkinson's disease (no. 1), fibromyalgia (no. 2), stroke (no. 7), osteopenia (no. 5), or advanced age (nos. 3–4, 6), which is related to chronic conditions and diminishing physical function. This distribution reflects the general distribu-

tion of populations targeted by Tai Chi research (Fig. 2). The number of participants varied between 28 (no. 7) and 256 (no. 6). All of the studies reviewed were designed as RCTs, although this was not a predefined condition to be included in the review. The number of experimental groups varied between two (nos. 2-3, 5-7) and three (nos.1, 4). All studies included a Tai Chi group. Control interventions consisted of resistance training, stretching, wellness education, and Western exercise. Noninterventional control groups included attention control and wait-list/standard care control. The duration of the intervention was 3 months (nos. 2, 7), 6 months (nos. 1, 3-4, 6), and 9 months (no. 5). The assessment of outcome parameters was conducted two (nos. 2, 7) or three times (nos. 1, 3-6). A postintervention followup was included in four studies (nos. 1-2, 4, 6).

Aim and hypothesis Three articles provided a hypothesis (nos. 1-3). They hypothesized that Tai Chi practice would lead to improvements in the following domains: postural stability (no. 1), balance control (no. 3), pain, physical function, psychological function, quality of life, and sleep (no. 2). Study no. 3 also hypothesized that Tai Chi learners would adopt a larger stance width. The remaining four articles stated the *aim of the study* (nos. 4–7). Two studies were aimed at evaluating safety and feasibility of the trial design and the intervention (nos. 5, 7). Study no. 4 was aimed at comparing the effects of Tai Chi practice with Western exercise. Study no. 5 was aimed at exploring the effectiveness as well as the mechanisms through which Tai Chi might exert influence on bone metabolism. Study no. 6 was aimed at assessing the efficacy of Tai Chi on the fall incidence of senior subjects.

Methods The *outcome domains* covered physical function (balance, strength, and endurance), cognitive function, condition-specific aspects (number of falls, bone mineral density, questionnaires) as well as questionnaires about habits and psychological constructs. In addition, possible mediators of effectiveness and safety issues about both the intervention and the study design were analyzed. The

47

No.	Reference	Title	Duration	Study	Sample	Design	Study arms	Outcome
1	Li, Harmer, Fitzger- ald et al. (2012)	Tai Chi and postural stabil- ity in patients with Parkin- son's disease	(months) 6	Parkinson's disease	195	RCT (3)	TC, resistance training, stretching	Postural control
2	Wang, Schmid, Rones et al. (2010)	A randomized trial of Tai Chi for fibromyalgia	3	Fibro- myalgia	66	RCT (2)	TC + UC, UC	Fibromyalgia Impact Ques- tionnaire (FIQ), physical and mental components of the SF-36 questionnaire
3	Yang, Verkuilen, Rosengren et al. (2007)	Effect of combined Taiji and Qigong training on balance mechanisms: an RCT of older adults	6	Elderly	49	RCT (2)	TC, wait list control	Somatosensory, visual, ves- tibular ratios of the sensory organization test; quiet stance base of support, feet opening angle
1	Taylor-Piliae, Newell, Cherin et al. (2010)	Effects of Tai Chi and West- ern exercise on physical and cognitive functioning in healthy community- dwelling older adults	6	Elderly	133	RCT (3)	TC, Western exercise, attention- control	Physical and cognitive functioning
5	Wayne, Kiel, Buring et al. (2012)	Impact of Tai Chi exercise on multiple fracture- related risk factors in post- menopausal osteopenic women: a pilot pragmatic, randomized trial	9	Postmeno- pausal (w)	86	RCT (2)	TC + UC, UC	Bone mineral density, se- rum markers, balance
	Wayne, Buring, Davis et al. (2010)	Tai Chi for osteopenic women: design and ratio- nale of a pragmatic ran- domized controlled trial	9	Postmeno- pausal (w)	86	RCT (2)	TC + UC, UC	Bond mineral density, se- rum markers, balance
5	Li, Harmer, Fished et al. (2005)	Tai Chi and fall reductions in older adults: an RCT	6	Elderly	256	RCT (2)	TC, stretching	Number of falls, balance, risk for falling
7	Taylor-Piliae & Coull (2012)	Community-based Yang- style Tai Chi is safe and feasible in chronic stroke: a niht study	3	Stroke sur- vivors	28	RCT (2)	TC, UC	Safety, feasibility, study satisfaction, adequacy of outcome measures

mediators analyzed were larger stance width (balance control), lumbar and hip mechanical load (bone mineral density), functional ability, and fear of falling (total number of falls). The process of randomization was reported with varying details and differed in design. Little information was provided on the process of the intervention and how it was monitored or evaluated. The procedure of tracking and influencing adherence rate varied considerably. Only two studies included qualitative measures of program acceptance, conducting exit interviews and reporting whether the participants enjoyed the intervention (nos. 5, 7). None of the studies reviewed provided an evaluation of the intervention by the participants or the experiences of the Tai Chi instructor(s). None of the studies reported whether the participants intended to continue practicing

188 3 · 2013 Sportwissenschaft

Tai Chi. Two studies included the *tracking of program fidelity* (nos. 1, 5). Four studies included the *tracking of adverse events* (nos. 1, 2, 5, 7).

Consequences Regarding the tendency of effects observed in the Tai Chi groups, none of the articles reported the incidence of serious adverse events and all of the effects observed tended to be favorable. In studies comparing the Tai Chi group with a physical active control group, differing effects were reported in the physical and cognitive function measures (nos. 1, 2, 4, 6). In four studies the amount of improvement depended on the time of assessment (nos. 1-3, 6). The maintenance of intervention gains was reported for the three studies, which included a follow-up period (nos. 1, 2, 4). Five articles provide hints for future research attempts (nos. 3-7). Two articles suggested longer intervention periods, for example, to enable the detection of maintaining function with increasing age rather than showing improvement (nos. 4, 5). Study no. 3 suggested increasing adherence via the inclusion of short Tai Chi forms (positive experiences, self-efficacy) and structured contact with participants. Topics suggested for future research include individual and combined effects of Tai Chi components (no. 3), cost effectiveness of fall prevention through a Tai Chi intervention (no. 5), and mechanisms by which Tai Chi induces effects (no. 5).

Analysis of the intervention

The selected studies were reviewed according to the following framework, which was developed on the basis of a smaller framework provided by Li, Zhang

Topic	No.	Reporting criterion
Definition	0-1	How is Tai Chi defined by the authors?
	0-2	What was the goal of the intervention?
Dose	1–1ª	How long was the intervention (weeks)?
	1–2 ^a	Was the Tai Chi training center-based or home-based or both?
	1–3ª	If center-based, how often was the Tai Chi training class held per week and how long did a Tai Chi training class last (minutes)?
	1–4	How many groups were formed? How many people were in one group? How was the group fitted together?
	1–5	Were the participants provided with information materials?
	1–6	Did the participants have previous Tai Chi experience? How much?
	1–7	How were the rest periods determined during the intervention?
	1–8	Which was the minimum adherence rate required?
		What attendance rate was achieved?
	1–9	Did the participants practice at home?
Content	2–1ª	What style of Tai Chi (Yang, Chen, Sun, etc.) was used in the intervention described?
	2–2 ^a	What did a Tai Chi training session consist of in the study? Were there any other non-Tai Chi exercises included in a Tai Chi training session?
	2–3	Did the content of the class change with time?
	2–4ª	Were the specific Tai Chi movements used in the training described and illustrated?
	2–5ª	What were the major components (i.e., slow movements, mental concentration, and deep breathing) of Tai Chi that were empha sized in the training?
	2–6	Did the participants progress as a group or as individuals?
	2–7	Did the participants interact within partner tasks or to help each other?
	2-8 ^a	Was the description of the control comparable to the description of the Tai Chi training?
Teacher(s)	3ª	What were the credentials of the Tai Chi instructors in the study?
		Who held the class when the teacher was sick?

and Smith et al. (2011) (**C** Table 2). The main domains analyzed included the intervention's definition, goal, dose, content, and teacher. The extension of the domain *dose* was based on recommendations by Wayne and Kaptchuk (2008b) and by Zhu et al. (2010), who pointed out the vague information on dosage and content provided in original research articles on Tai Chi. The domains were extended focusing on the information deemed necessary to repeat the intervention.

Definition The amount of information given about Tai Chi itself varied considerably between the studies. Study no. 6 did not provide any information; study no. 1 limited the description of Tai Chi as being a balance-based exercise. Four articles reported a connection to China (nos. 2–5). Three articles reported that Tai Chi was connected to martial arts but did not report on whether martial arts applications were included in the intervention (nos. 2, 3, 5). The purpose of Tai Chi was reported to be the cultivation of health (nos. 2, 5) and the improvement of physical per-

formance (nos. 3, 4). Four articles reported on the elements of mindfulness, breathing, and relaxation (nos. 2-4, 6). Two articles described the quality of motion as slow and gentle (nos. 2, 3). Two studies were conducted against the background of a specified interventional goal:2 Study no. 1 tailored a Tai Chi program focusing on weight shifting, the controlled displacement of the center of mass, and stepping in four different directions aiming to tax balance and gait. The instructors were trained in a 2-day workshop, but did not receive any information on the objective of the study and were excluded from data collection tasks. Study no. 3 tailored a Tai Chi program in the same manner, adding range of motion, spinal rotation, and applicability to the elderly. The reduced move-

² Here, the goal of the Tai Chi intervention itself is meant (as opposed to the aim of the study that was addressed above). Reporting of this criterion may help to distinguish between a Tai Chi intervention as a means to achieving a particular goal (such as balance improvement) versus a Tai Chi intervention aimed at practicing principles of Tai Chi. ment set was justified by the likelihood of positive experiences if the form was accomplished over a short period of time. The program was designed and taught by the principal investigator.

Dose Only three studies took previous Tai Chi experience into account. Study no. 4 reported whether the participants had previous Tai Chi experience. In two studies, eligible participants who had practiced Tai Chi within the last 6 months (no. 2) or 2 years (no. 5) were excluded. Only study no. 7 reported the exact number and size of Tai Chi groups. Across selected studies, group size varied between six and 12 participants; two articles did not provide any information about group size (nos. 2, 6). Study no. 5 did not form groups but offered seven pre-screened Tai Chi centers to the participants to choose from. The assigned practice time varied between $24 \times 60 \min$ (no. 2) and $48 \times 60 \min + 24$ ×60 min + home practice (no. 4). The duration of the intervention ranged from 12 (nos. 2, 7) to 48 weeks (no. 4). In six studies, a center-based class lasted 60 min;

study 6 did not report on class duration. Only studies 4 and 7 (same author) reported on how the rest periods during the practice time were determined (chairs available to rest as needed). Three studies include practice at home (nos. 2, 4, 5). For two of these, the information materials that participants received as help and incentive were mentioned (nos. 2, 4). Study no. 7 (not including home practice) reported that participants received information material after completion of the study. Study no. 1 forbade participants to practice at home. All of the articles reported the adherence rate. Two of them stated an expected adherence rate and mentioned by how many participants it was met (nos. 1, 5). One article reported an exclusion policy for missed classes (no. 1). None of the articles reported whether the participants practiced at home or not.

Content The most frequent style of Tai Chi was Yang; other styles were Chen and Wu. All studies included short Tai Chi forms of 7-24 figures. All articles provided information on the Tai Chi form taught, including text (nos. 1, 3), articles (no. 1), monographs (nos. 2, 4, 6, 7), and a youtube.com link (no. 7) as references. Six articles reported different phases within the class, including warm-up exercises (nos. 1-4, 6, 7) and a cool-down phase (nos. 1, 6, 7). The content of these phases was not reported; only study no. 2 mentioned self-massage as part of the warmup phase. Four articles reported that the form was taught gradually (nos. 1, 3, 4, 7). Only study no. 3 gave a detailed description of the training schedule, enabling other researchers to repeat the intervention accurately, but did not report whether the teacher and participants were comfortable with the program. Study no. 5 included several Tai Chi centers that were offering Tai Chi classes to the community, and did not provide details of the content of single Tai Chi classes. However, these centers were selected on the basis of predetermined criteria, including essential curricular requirements, acceptable curricular components, and unacceptable curriculum elements, all of which are reported explicitly in the article. Four articles (nos. 3-6) reported Tai Chi-specific components or principles taught during the interven-

tion. The elements that were mentioned in more than one article are body alignment or orientation, weight shifting, relaxation, and breathing. Further elements that were mentioned include range of motion, upright position, symmetry, coordination, continuity, slow pace, meditation, concentration, awareness, attention to feeling, inattention to thoughts, attitude/happiness, interaction with the world, and transfer to daily activities. Study no. 5 listed the elemental techniques of Tai Chi motion (e.g., peng, lu, ji, and an). Only study no. 6 mentioned musical accompaniment in the Tai Chi classes. None of the analyzed articles reported whether there were partner or group activities involved in the Tai Chi lessons. Only study no. 5 mentioned that gentle interactive Tai Chi exercises such as "sensing hands" were allowed. None of the articles reported on whether participants progressed as a group or individually and whether individual tailoring was allowed or if there was a specific aim of the program. None of the articles mentioned group dynamics.

Teacher Five of the reviewed articles emphasized the experience of the Tai Chi instructors, reporting the title of "master" (no. 2) and "grand master"(no. 4) and/or several decades of practice time and teaching experience (nos. 3, 5, 7). Study no. 6 described the instructor as "experienced"; study no. 7 reported the choice of a charismatic Tai Chi instructor as a strategy to increase adherence. Exit interviews in this study did not address the relationship between teacher and participants, but revealed that overall satisfaction was high. Study no. 5 allowed classes led by junior instructors supervised by a senior instructor; study no. 1 did not list the credentials of the Tai Chi instructor, but a 2-day training workshop for the instructors was involved. Two studies involved teaching assistants: Study no. 3 involved a different teaching assistant at each location, while study no. 7 involved a registered nurse.

Conclusion

The aim of this section is to explore how Tai Chi has been researched scientifically, keeping in mind the manifold concept and the variability behind the name Tai Chi, which we outlined in Sect. 2. We asked the question: To which domains has Tai Chi research been directed at and which way of practicing Tai Chi was assumed to hold therapeutic potential?

In the first step, we explored original research on the potential of Tai Chi as a sport in health care, focusing on the abstracts of longitudinal studies only. Our findings confirmed that scientific interest in Tai Chi has been rising. Tai Chi was hypothesized to hold the potential of helping with a wide range of health deficits in a variety of different outcome domains. This pluralistic research into multiple directions was unified by the common goal of pinpointing therapeutic potentials held by a concept that was simply referred to as Tai Chi. However, as shown in Sect. 2, the common ground in the terminology used ("Tai Chi") does not necessarily imply a common ground in the phenomenon researched. To this end, we identified two aspects of Tai Chi research that are highly variable: The first is the manifold concept of Tai Chi itself. The second is the multitude of directions that original Tai Chi research has followed.

In the second step, we explored how original Tai Chi research has been reviewed so far, focusing on the therapeutic benefits of Tai Chi in general. We found that the authors organized their manuscripts according to the different outcome domains of Tai Chi research. In doing so, they dealt with the multitude of domains that Tai Chi research has examined. However, none of the reviews we analyzed targeted the variability within Tai Chi practice itself³, which may be a result of the poor descriptions of the interventions. Simplified forms of Yang style Tai Chi seemed to be used most frequently.

In the third step, we analyzed seven original articles that provided a detailed description of the intervention. We approached the articles from two perspectives: (a) design of the study and (b) content of the intervention. We found a very high variability in both approaches. Our

³ A review on the variability within Tai Chi practice could investigate the hypothesis of the study, styles, and forms researched, the intensity of the program, the methodology of teaching, or the reaction of the participants, for example.

51

aim was to provide an example of how Tai Chi interventions have been conducted. We intended to explore whether the variable concept behind the name Tai Chi has in turn led to a variable interventional implementation. The answer to this question is rather simple: yes.

In conclusion, we show that two interventions that are referred to as Tai Chi are not necessarily the same. In addition to the multitude of directions that Tai Chi research has followed, the way the interventions were conducted may have been (and might prospectively be) just as manifold. This poses distinct challenges to the generalizability and reproducibility of the studies' results. The problem of variability is discussed in the current literature under the term "complex interventions," which is explored in the following section.

Dealing with complex interventions

Complexity is a phenomenon encountered in the fields of behavioral science and health-care research. The challenges complexity poses to scientific analysis of change induction remain highly debated. The primary aim of the following summary is to provide an overview of this discussion. In particular, the intention is to clarify the meaning behind the terms *complexity, complex intervention, complex system, as well as whole-system research* and to highlight the challenges presented by these terms.

What makes complex interventions complex?

The key feature of complex interventions is their multiple, interacting components (Dieppe, Macintyre, Michie, Nazareth & Petticrew, 2008). In the effort to systematically describe the properties of complex interventions, researchers adopted concepts from the field of systems theory and complexity science (Heng, 2008; Rickles, 2009). Repeatedly, the term *complex intervention* has been used along with the terms *complex systems* and *whole-systems research* (Heng, 2008; Paterson, Baarts, Launsø & Verhoef, 2009; Walach, Falkenberg, Fønnebø, Lewith & Jonas, 2006). The components of an intervention were characterized with respect to the following properties: *contribution* to the intervention's success, place in the *causal pathways, dynamics and interaction*. In their definition, the Medical Research Council emphasized the *contribution* these components make to the intervention's success: Complex interventions comprise

"a number of separate elements which seem essential to the proper functioning of the intervention although the 'active ingredient' of the intervention that is effective is difficult to specify. [...] The greater the difficulty in defining precisely what, exactly, are the 'active ingredients' of an intervention and how they relate to each other, the greater the likelihood that you are dealing with a complex intervention." (Medical Research Council, 2000, p. 1)

A closer look at the causal pathway allows for the differentiation of two distinct qualities of exerting influence: namely, mediation and moderation of variables or treatment effects. "The term 'mediator' is commonly used for a variable on a causal pathway, and 'moderator' for a variable which modifies the strength of part or all of a causal pathway" (Emsley, Dunn & White, 2010, p. 238). Rickles (2009, pp. 81-82) distinguished simple causal chains from complex causal chains: Within simple causal chains the effect is so great that no variable is strong enough to change the outcome (e.g., death following a direct shot in the heart). In other words, the causation in simple causal chains is robust and insensitive to context, whereas within complex causal chains, the effect can be influenced by several cofactors (e.g., death following smoking cigarettes). The causation in complex causal chains is fragile and sensitive to context.

Blackwood (2006, p. 619) pointed out the *dynamic properties* that are inherent in the components, distinguishing between *constant* components and *variable* components: "Constant components are the components defining the functions (what needs to be done), and the form of these can be adapted to suit the particular context (how it is to be done). Variable components are those which are contextual and intangible." He argued that these need to be identified and operationalized before conducting a definite trial "in order to determine whether the effectiveness of the intervention is due to the measured features of the intervention (constant components) or distinctive features of the site, staff or their interactions (variable components)" (Blackwood, 2006, p. 619).

The interaction between the intervention's components is characterized by the differentiation of several dimensions, including interactions, behaviors, group/organizational levels, variability, and flexibility permitted (Dieppe et al., 2008). Shiell, Hawe and Gold (2008) suggested differentiating between complex interventions and interventions into complex systems. According to Shiell et al. (2008, p. 1282), the characteristics of complex systems include: "the tendency to be self-organizing, be sensitive to initial conditions, [...] make non-linear phase transitions [...]; the existence of emergent properties; [...] the importance of interaction effects and feedback" (Rickles, Hawe & Shiell, 2007).

The key question raised in the discussion of complex interventions is how complexity fits into well-established research standards, such as RCTs, and the underlying quest for causal inferences about the intervention strategy (Rickles, 2009; Ritenbaugh, Aickin, Bradley, Caspi, Grimsgaard & Musial, 2010; Verhoef, Lewith, Ritenbaugh, Boon, Fleishman & Leis, 2005). "There is considerable agreement that the classical pharmacological RCT model alone is not sufficient. Yet there does not seem to be universal agreement on what should be done instead" (Boon et al., 2007, p. 283). In this context, the term whole-system research was introduced, primarily in the field of studying complementary alternative medicine. According to Ritenbaugh et al. (2010, p. 131), the term whole-system research evolved from the attempt to grasp and analyze the mechanisms of holistic health-care approaches, intending to gain "a more holistic idea of the magnitude of impact of these interventions and how they worked," which is difficult to accomplish solely via RCTs.

In the scientific discussion about complexity in health care, several ideas and guidelines about the development, evaluation, and implementation of complex interventions have been published and dis-

cussed (Blackwood, 2006; Campbell et al., 2000; Dieppe et al., 2008; Boon et al., 2007).

What problems evolve from complexity?

The main problem complexity confronts us with is its inherent difficulty to be described, analyzed, understood, and predicted. A key question in this discussion is the applicability of RCTs in evaluating the phenomenon of complexity. RCTs were designed with the intention of eliminating sources of bias within trials in order to allow for causal inferences. Since the RCT is ranked highest on the pyramid of the evidence system (only topped by meta-analysis of RCTs), it has become the gold standard of evaluating medical treatment approaches.

"For the author it is clear that the evidence-based approach has changed the way we do things, not least because every politician now has to slide the phrase 'evidence based' into any policy proposal, but it is much easier to show a direct effect in acute pain than it is in palliative care." (*McQuay, 2011, p. 396*)

As implied by the last clause of this quotation, the evaluation of pharmacological treatments has repeatedly been used as a counterexample in the discussion on the fit between RCTs and complex interventions (Paterson et al., 2009; Shiell et al., 2008; Verhoef et al., 2005; Walach et al., 2006). In a round table discussion on methodological challenges in wholesystems research, Elder et al. (2006, p. 843) emphasized a possible consequence of this exclusionary focus on RCTs: "My impression is that some people who publish in early phase research are trying to make their research look like a phase III randomized clinical trial."

The process of randomization by itself, however, does not necessarily eradicate all sources of bias, allowing for causal conclusions and direct transfer into practice. The basic assumptions and objectives of conducting an RCT should be kept in mind. According to Walach et al. (2006), these assumptions include: (1) It is not known which of the alternative treatments is better. (2) Patient and provider are indiffer-

192 3 · 2013 Sportwissenschaft

ent to the choice of treatment (equipoise). (3) The goal is to identify specific effects. (4) The goal is to determine a stable effect size independent of context (efficacy). (5) The finding of efficacy in an RCT is readily transferable into clinical practice (effectiveness), if the inclusion and exclusion criteria match the characteristics of a given patient. In their article, Walach et al. (2006, p. 2) drew the conclusion that "all of these assumptions are problematic and sometimes false in complex interventions" and suggested that while being "useful for the evaluation of new pharmacological agents [...] even in that situation often only some of the assumptions are met." A significant consequence is the decline in generalizability (external validity).

Firstly, the multitude of interacting components found in more complex interventions impedes true equipoise prior to the trial (Walach et al., 2006). Secondly, the beliefs, expectations, and preferences of patients and providers can play an important role in modulating treatment effects. If a trial does not account for this component of an intervention, it cannot provide an accurate estimation of treatment effects in clinical practice (Walach et al., 2006). Thirdly, the postulation of a controlled environment and process with the aim of increasing internal validity results in a limitation of external validity (Walach et al., 2006). In particular, the standardization of complex interventions may not only be hard to achieve but also compromise the therapeutic process under scrutiny (Bird, Arthur & Cox, 2011; Carter, 2003). Fourth*ly*, in an RCT, the inference of the *specific* efficacy of a particular treatment is made upon the comparison with a placebo that is known to have no specific effect (e.g., a sugar pill). However, this procedure cannot simply be transferred to a complex intervention. A complex sham treatment would be necessary, whose inefficacy might be just as hard to prove as the efficacy of the complex intervention under investigation. If no evidence exists on the amount of efficacy of a control treatment, the efficacy measured for the verum treatment can only be understood as relative efficacy (EU High Level Pharmaceutical Forum, 2008).

Moreover, the *unspecific effects* evolving from the context of an intervention can be much stronger than the specific effects ascribed to a treatment (Walach et al., 2006). In particular constellations of specific and unspecific effects, the results of RCTs can lead researchers to wrong conclusions about the true impact of a treatment. Walach et al. (2006, pp. 3–4) referred to this constellation as the "*efficacy paradox*," presenting several examples to explain the phenomenon.

How could we solve these problems?

In an effort to clarify the property of com*plex* matters, the term *simple* is suggested as counterpart, e.g., pharmaceutical treatment versus a rehabilitation program (Paterson et al., 2009). However, objections were raised, stating that these simple matters may also become complex at a closer look (Petticrew, 2011). Glouberman and Zimmerman (2002) distinguished three attributes to a problem: simple, complicated, and complex. In summary, from simple to complicated to complex, there is an increase in the effort necessary for understanding, a decrease in the level of control, as well as a decrease in predictability of the outcome in relation to the input. Prediction of the outcome depending on the input is a key question in the analysis of complex systems. In the effort of learning how a complex system works, what role its elements play in the process, and how it can be manipulated, it is essential to search for universal laws and phenomena (Bar-Yam, 2003).

The question on ways of increasing external validity remains debated: On the one hand, suggestions were made to include alternative trial designs, such as case studies (n –1 trials) and pragmatic⁴ trials (Ritenbaugh et al., 2010, Verhoef et al., 2005). A well-structured, thorough review on the issue of preferences within RCTs was conducted by King et al. (2005). Observational studies are a valuable alternative to RCTs in case of strong preferences, ethical objections, or if the analysis includes known confounders of treatment outcome—such as strength of pref-

Pragmatic trials aim to better reflect clinical practice in real life than standardized explanatory trials are able to and they allow for individualized treatment approaches.

erence (King et al., 2005). A way of tracking the potential influence of the process and context on the results/outcomes of a trial could be a qualitative arm embedded in the study. On the other hand, the information value of systematic reviews on complex interventions was put up for discussion, asking whether these designs really lead to a better understanding of the evidence at hand and suggesting to rely on the whole bandwidth of evidence creating designs while simultaneously increasing the quality of theory development, planning, conducting, and reporting of complex interventions (Mühlhauser, Lenz & Meyer, 2011).

A helpful comment on the discussion about complexity in health-care research was made by Petticrew (2011). He suggested changing our view of complexity as an *inherent property of a problem* to complexity as our perspective on the problem, emphasizing that it can be helpful to treat complex problems "as simple, in order to answer appropriately simple questions" (p. 397). Depending on the question asked, the solution may be more difficult or less difficult to find and might even turn out differently for different perspectives (Petticrew, 2011). A rather simple perspective may be the view of an economist, comparing "the value of what goes in (the resources) with what comes out (the outcomes)," as described by Shiell et al. (2008, p. 1282). Whereas a rather complex question may be posed at the individual level: "What works for whom, in what circumstances, in what respects, and how" (Paterson et al., 2009, p. 7). The question should clarify the goal of the investigation and allow for a discussion about the choice of methods necessary to find a solution.

The bridge between efficacy and effectiveness cannot be built via RCTs. If an intervention works in real life it needs to be evaluated with designs of a higher external validity than RCTs. Patsopoulos (2011, p. 223) recommended sensitizing stakeholders in health care to the "pragmatic' concept." Simultaneously, he warns that this approach should not be achieved at the expense of experimental trials, because depending on our research question "we need them both" (p. 223). Walach et al. (2006) advocate a circular view of evidence synthesis to replace the traditional hierarchy, indicating that internal validity and external validity need to be balanced by the use of a variety of study designs, which cannot be achieved solely by RCTs. "The important point is not whether a study is randomized or not, but whether it uses a method well suited to answer a question and whether it implements this method with optimal scientific rigor" (Walach et al., 2006, p. 5).

Conclusion

The discussion about complexity is entangled with the discussion about the limitations of RCTs.⁵ This might be because an RCT asks simple questions, even about complex problems. If the perspective and the research question are more complex, different study designs might be better suited than the RCT; however, these designs will not simultaneously be able to give the same answers as RCTs could. Thus, researchers need to choose from which perspective they want to approach their problem. Helpful in this undertaking will be the quality and completeness of previously conducted research and reported data available (Elder et al., 2006; Institut für Qualität und Wirtschaftlichkeit im Gesundheitswesen (IQWiG), 2011; Mühlhauser et al., 2011).

In summary, Tai Chi research may have been studied from a too-simple perspective. In the attempt to gain further information on how to repeat therapeutic effects and on the way Tai Chi works, a more complex perspective is needed. The properties ascribed to complex interventions could also apply to a Tai Chi intervention and could guide the attempt of achieving a more specified and detailed description of the intervention. The problems arising from a complex perspective may then al-

⁵ The goal of the summary was to clarify the problems that are addressed with the term complex intervention. Since the limitations of RCTs are tightly connected to the discussion on complexity within healthcare interventions, they form a major part of this summary. As our overview is oriented toward the challenges of complexity, we refrained from summarizing the importance of RCTs for inferential conclusions. We affirm that this section is not intended to question the legitimation and importance of RCTs in general. so apply to Tai Chi research. The following section discusses the appropriate requirements.

Discussion: researching Tai Chi in health care—the challenge of a complex intervention

Tai Chi is an elusive concept with a long history. It is profoundly rooted in philosophic principles and has developed to a variety of styles and teaching traditions with a broad target group. Behind the rather simple name Tai Chi, we found a highly variable and still evolving art of movement. Research on Tai Chi has been conducted in a variety of directions, including health deficits, health benefits, target groups, and outcome domains. Despite the growing body of evidence, no firm conclusions have been drawn. The challenge of processing the information available on Tai Chi research may result from the complexity inherent in Tai Chi. Against this background, we examined the content and methodology of studies on Tai Chi as a sport in health care.

In summary, there is a need for an increasing awareness of the variability and complexity inherent in Tai Chi. The main consequence of this awareness should be the amelioration of the quality of reporting. A better description of the intervention's content could be the first step toward exploring cause-effect relationships. Knowledge of this field could contribute to the generation of recommendations and a systematic implementation of Tai Chi in health care. In order to achieve a systematic description of Tai Chi interventions, there is a need for further methodological research in this direction. Lessons learnt from complexity science in health care could guide the attempt to systematically describe the intervention's content. Additionally, they could contribute to the choice of adequate research questions and trial designs.

In the following section, we provide a complex perspective on the description and scientific analysis of Tai Chi as a sport in health care, transferring the challenges of complex interventions (as defined in Sect. 4) to Tai Chi interventions. The key feature of a *complex intervention* is the composition of *multiple, interacting*

elements. Wayne and Kaptchuk (2008a) identified the following eight components as an integral part of Tai Chi interventions, providing a detailed description in their manuscript: (1) musculoskeletal strength, flexibility, efficiency, (2) breathing, (3) concentration, attention, mindfulness, (4) imagery, visualization, intention, (5) physical touch, massage, subtle energy, (6) psychosocial interactions, (7) alternative health paradigm, philosophy, spirituality, (8) ritual, icons, environmental effects. These components may differ in emphasis and synergetic interaction depending on the curriculum as well as on the experiences of the Tai Chi instructor and the participants. Many of the components are inseparable and their contribution may change over the duration of practice (Wayne & Kaptchuk, 2008b). The variability of elements and their interactions impedes the allocation of therapeutic effects to the activity of distinct components. This difficulty to pinpoint the components' contribution to the intervention's success characterizes Tai Chi as a complex intervention.

In the attempt to systematically describe a Tai Chi intervention, the properties ascribed to the components of complex interventions may be suitable. Firstly, the dynamic properties of elements included should be considered. Constant components may be those included in the curriculum. They may comprise the number of postures, style, key principles of Tai Chi, key principles of philosophy, breathing techniques, rituals, partner exercises, auxiliary exercises, length and frequency of classes, as well as the length and setting of the intervention. Variable components may be the instructor's experience, level of individual progression offered, evolving group dynamics, social interactions, instructor-participant relationship, meaning of the intervention to the participants and to the instructor. In this context, the differentiation between physical presence (clock time) and effective practice time was suggested, since awareness is a key component in Tai Chi practice (Wayne & Kaptchuk, 2008b).

Secondly, the interactive properties of the elements included should be considered. A thorough description may be impossible to achieve, yet there are some an-

chors that could guide the attempt. A factor influencing the interactive properties could be the level of flexibility permitted. A description might include further information on the intervention's components. It could be estimated to what extent they are actively supported, tolerated, or impeded by the instructor. Addressing psychosocial interactions as an example: Were efforts taken to adapt the postures taught to the abilities of the participants? Was individual progression supported? Did the teacher primarily rely on verbal or nonverbal instruction? Were emergent group dynamics particularly favored and supported (e.g., in order to increase social support)? Did the instructor support the transfer of Tai Chi principles to everyday life? Were feelings of achievement and success particularly supported (e.g., in order to increase self-efficacy)? Was the original martial art character of Tai Chi referred to/passed on? Were participants encouraged to reflect and discuss their experiences during the intervention?

Thirdly, the components' place on the causal pathways should be considered. A systematic description of the Tai Chi intervention could help to strengthen theories and knowledge about how Tai Chi works. It may help to identify whether particular elements of Tai Chi practice exert influence in a mediating or a moderating way. As an example, the causal connection between Tai Chi practice and balance improvement/falls prevention could be explored. It may be hypothesized that Tai Chi practice can improve balance and reduce the rate of falls in the elderly. It may also be hypothesized that three mediators are located in this causal pathway: strength of lower limbs, coordination, and self-efficacy. In other words, Tai Chi practice may increase the strength of the lower limbs, coordination, and self-efficacy, leading to improved balance. A component of Tai Chi that can moderate the extent to which strength of lower limbs is increased may be the selection of postures included. A component of Tai Chi that can moderate the improvements in coordination may be the extent to which these postures are carried out in different directions. Moreover, improvement in coordination could also be moderated by the level of awareness attributed to the motion.

A component of Tai Chi that can moderate the increase in self-efficacy may be the experience of personal mastery. This could be the mastery of postures with single-leg stances. It could also be the mastery of fluently imitating the motion of the instructor or the mastery of learning a Tai Chi form by heart. Components of the Tai Chi program that could moderate the extent of improvements in all three variables may be the dose of Tai Chi, namely, duration and frequency of classes as well as the length of the intervention. However, the dose necessary to achieve significant improvements may vary between these variables. For example, improvement of selfefficacy may be achievable within only a few weeks of practice, while improvement in coordination may take more than a few months.

Besides the challenge of systematically describing the intervention, complexity poses distinct challenges to the scientific analysis of Tai Chi. In the attempt to identify causal connections about the therapeutic potential of Tai Chi practice, the suitability of well-established trial designs should be reconsidered with respect to the research question. Wayne and Kaptchuk (2008b) acknowledged that none of the established research methods is suitable for addressing all the relevant aspects of evidence at once, emphasizing the necessity of a pluralistic approach to generate evidence. They suggested that RCTs should be used in combination with expectancy measures. This suggestion is based on the Tai Chi principle of attributing meaning to the practice of Tai Chi. In this context, Wayne and Kaptchuk (2008a) pointed out that some components of Tai Chi, such as teacher-student interaction, attention, and belief, are an integral part of Tai Chi practice and should thus be treated as specific effects of the intervention. Furthermore, they addressed the choice of the control group. They explained that the interaction of several possibly active components makes it practically impossible to compose a valid form of sham Tai Chi as a placebo control. Apart from RCTs, they proposed and discussed the following designs: pragmatic trials, preference trials, as well as outcome studies, observational studies, and cross-sectional studies. Moreover, Wayne and Kaptchuk (2008b) suggested resorting to simple Tai Chi curricula, pointing out that these are easier to be described, implemented, and replicated. However, as mentioned in Sect. 3, it was clarified that these simplifications may compromise the Tai Chi character of the intervention (Jahnke et al., 2010). Qualitative research was suggested to be included along with quantitative research in an explorative way (Wayne & Kaptchuk, 2008b). In this context, the properties of the interventions components should be addressed (dynamics, interaction, and place in causal pathways).

Taken together, these findings show that a complex perspective in researching Tai Chi as a sport in health care is a challenge. However, to some extent it is a necessary precondition in order to allow for the interpretation, generalization, repetition, and implementation of promising results achieved. To prevent getting lost in complexity, it is essential to keep reflecting on one's own perspective and on the research question. The inclusion of a qualitative study arm and thorough reporting of the methodology and the Tai Chi intervention itself could help to increase comparability and to provide a solid basis for future research attempts.6 Moreover, researching in this direction may help to formulate theories and increase our understanding of how Tai Chi works. This understanding could be used to provide clear recommendations on which way of practicing Tai Chi is likely to unfold which potential.

The following limitations should be taken into consideration. First, Sect. 2 is mainly based on a single monograph (Landmann, 2005). We did not include further literature on the history and concept of Tai Chi, as we estimate the source cited to be the most elaborate hermeneutic study of ancient documents on Tai Chi available in English or German. Secondly, our exploration of research on Tai Chi was restricted to one database, allowing only a limited view of the data available. Additionally, our analysis of seven original research articles on Tai Chi was partially based on a subjective choice. This approach was necessary because of the poor description of Tai Chi interventions in many of the articles. Thirdly, the summary of the discussion on complexity in health-care interventions (Sect. 3) was not guided by a predefined systematic search of the literature. Instead, we conducted an exploratory analysis guided by the aim of elaborating on the problems addressed in this debate. Fourth, we based the discussion of complexity within Tai Chi research (Sect. 5) on our elaborations on complexity in health-care interventions, presenting a limited set of examples. Further research is required to improve detailed reporting and the generation of a hypothesis on cause-effect relationships in future Tai Chi research.

Corresponding address



J. Burschka Klinikum Bayreuth GmbH Betriebsstätte Hohe Warte Neurologische Klinik Hohe Warte 8, 95445 Bayreuth janina.burschka@googlemail. com

Conflicts of interest. The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- Allen, J., & Meires, J. (2011). How to prescribe Tai Chi therapy. Journal of Transcultural Nursing: Official Journal of the Transcultural Nursing Society/ Transcultural Nursing Society, 22(2), 201–204.
- Anders, F., Brauner, V., & Zock, A. (2009). Taiji, Atemenergetik und Biomechanik. Der Weg zur inneren und äußeren Technik; [mit DVD] (1. Aufl.). Bern: Huber.
- Bar-Yam, Y. (2003). Dynamics of complex systems. http://necsi.edu/publications/dcs/DCSchapter0. pdf. Zugegriffen: 20. Jun. 2012.
- Bird, L., Arthur, A., & Cox, K. (2011). "Did the trial kill the intervention?" experiences from the development, implementation and evaluation of a complex intervention. BMC Medical Research Methodology, 11, 1–8.
- Blackwood, B. (2006). Methodological issues in evaluating complex healthcare interventions. *Journal* of Advanced Nursing, 54(5), 612–622.
- Boon, H., MacPherson, H., Fleishman, S., Grimsgaard, S., Koithan, M., Norheim, A. J., & Walach, H. (2007). Evaluating complex healthcare systems: A critique of four approaches. *Evidence Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine eCAM*, 4(3), 279–285.

- Bu, B., Haijun, H., Yong, L., Chaohui, Z., Xiaoyuan, Y., & Singh, M. F. (2010). Effects of martial arts on health status: A systematic review. *Journal of Evidence-Based Medicine*, 3(4), 205–219.
- Burke, D. T., Al-Adawi, S., Lee, Y. T., & Audette, J. (2007). Martial arts as sport and therapy. *The Journal of Sports Medicine and Physical Fitness*, 47(1), 96–102.
- Buss, M. (2007). Transfer des Taijiquan vom Osten in den Westen. Untersuchung zur Übertragbarkeit eines chinesischen Bewegungskonzeptes. Magisterarbeit, Georg-August-Universität Göttingen.
- Campbell, M., Fitzpatrick, R., Haines, A., Kinmonth, A. L., Sandercock, P., Spiegelhalter, D., & Tyrer, P. (2000). Framework for design and evaluation of complex interventions to improve health. *BMJ* (*Clinical Research Ed.*), 321(7262), 694–696.
- Carter, B. (2003). Methodological issues and complementary therapies: researching intangibles? Complementary Therapies in Nursing & Midwifery, 9(3), 133–139.
- Dieppe, P., Macintyre, S., Michie, S., Nazareth, I., & Petticrew, M. (2008). Developing and evaluating complex interventions: New Guidance. www.mrc. ac.uk/complexinterventionsguidance. Accessed: 20. Jun. 2012.
- Elder, C., Aickin, M., Bell, I. R., Fønnebø, V., Lewith, G. T., Ritenbaugh, C., & Verhoef, M. (2006). Methodological challenges in whole systems research. *Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine* (*New York*, N.Y.), 12(9), 843–850.
- Emsley, R., Dunn, G., & White, I. R. (2010). Mediation and moderation of treatment effects in randomized controlled trials of complex interventions. *Statistical Methods in Medical Research*, 19(3), 237–270.
- High Level Pharmaceutical Forum, E. U. (2008). Core principles on relative effectiveness. http:// ec.europa.eu/pharmaforum/docs/rea_principles_ en.pdf. Accessed: 02. Apr. 2012.
- Field, T. (2011). Tai Chi research review. Complementary Therapies in Clinical Practice, 17(3), 141–146.
- Filipiak, K. (2001). Die chinesische Kampfkunst. Spiegel und Element traditioneller chinesischer Kultur. Leipzig: Leipziger Univ-Verl.
- Glouberman, S., & Zimmerman, B. (2002). Complicated and complex systems. What would successful reform of medicare look like? http://www.plexusinstitute.org/resource/collection/6528ED29-9907-4BC7-8D00-8DC907679FED/ComplicatedAndComplexSystems-ZimmermanReport_Medicare_ reform.pdf. Accessed: 20. Jun. 2012.
- Heng, H. H. Q. (2008). The conflict between complex systems and reductionism. JAMA: the Journal of the American Medical Association, 300(13), 1580–1581.
- Institut für Qualität und Wirtschaftlichkeit im Gesundheitswesen (IQWIG) (2011). Allgemeine Methoden. Version 4.0. https://www.iqwig.de/download/ IQWIG_Methoden_Version_4_0.pdf. Accessed: 11. Apr. 2012.
- Jahnke, R., Larkey, L., Rogers, C., Etnier, J., & Lin, F. (2010). A comprehensive review of health benefits of Qigong and Tai Chi. American Journal of Health Promotion: AJHP, 24(6), e1–e25.
- Kang, J. (2011). Master vs. Sifu: Titles in Chinese Martial Arts. http://imos-journal.net/?p=3318. Accessed: 03. May. 2012.

⁶ The article "Tai chi and postural stability in patients with Parkinson's disease" by Li, Harmer and Fitzgerald (2012) may serve as guidance for thorough planning and reporting.

- King, M., Nazareth, I., Lampe, F., Bower, P., Chandler, M., Morou, M., Sibbald, B., & Lai, R. (2005). Conceptual framework and systematic review of the effects of participants' and professionals' preferences in randomized controlled trials. *Health Technology Assessment (Winchester, England), 9*(35), 1–186. iii–iv.
- Klein, P. J., & Adams, W. D. (2004). Comprehensive therapeutic benefits of Taiji: A critical review. American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation/Association of Academic Physiatrists, 83(9), 735–745.
- Kuramoto, A. M. (2006). Therapeutic benefits of Tai Chi exercise: Research review. WMJ: Official Publication of the State Medical Society of Wisconsin, 105(7), 42–46.
- Landmann, R. (2005). Taijiquan. Konzepte und Prinzipien einer Bewegungskunst; Analyse anhand der frühen Schriften (3. unveränderte Auflage). Hamburg: Inst. für Bewegungswiss. Anthropologie.
- Li, F., Harmer, P., Fisher, K. J., McAuley, E., Chaumeton, N., Eckstrom, E., & Wilson, N. L. (2005). Tai Chi and fall reductions in older adults: A randomized controlled trial. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A*, *Biological sciences and medical sciences*, 60(2), 187–194.
- Li, J. Y., Zhang, Y. F., Smith, G. S., Xue, C. J., Luo, Y. N., Chen, W. H., Skinner, C. J., & Finkelstein, J. (2011). Quality of reporting of randomized clinical trials in Tai Chi interventions—A systematic review. Evidence based complementary and alternative medicine: eCAM. http://downloads.hindawi.com/ journals/ecam/2011/383245.pdf. Accessed: 20. Jun. 2012.
- Li, F., Harmer, P., Fitzgerald, K., Eckstrom, E., Stock, R., Galver, J., Maddalozzo, G., & Batya, S. S. (2012). Tai Chi and postural stability in patients with Parkinson's disease. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 366(6), 511–519.
- McQuay, H. (2011). Evidence-based medicine: What is the evidence that it has made a difference? *Palliative medicine*, 25(5), 394–397.
- Medical Research Council (2000). A Framework for development and evaluation of RCTs for Complex Interventions to Improve Health. http://www.mrc. ac.uk/consumption/idcplg?ldcService=GET_FILE& dID=9025&dDocName=MRC003372&allowInterru pt=1. Accessed: 03. Oct. 2011.
- Mühlhauser, I., Lenz, M., & Meyer, G. (2011). Entwicklung, Bewertung und Synthese von komplexen Interventionen—eine methodische Herausforderung. Zeitschrift für Evidenz, Fortbildung und Qualität im Gesundheitswesen, 105(10), 751– 761.
- Paterson, C., Baarts, C., Launsø, L., & Verhoef, M. J. (2009). Evaluating complex health interventions: A critical analysis of the † outcomes' concept. BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine, 9, 1–11.
- Patsopoulos, N. (2011). A pragmatic view on pragmatic trials. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 13(2), 217–224.
- Petticrew, M. (2011). When are complex interventions 'complex'? When are simple interventions 'simple'? The European Journal of Public Health, 21(4), 397–398.
- Rickles, D. (2009). Causality in complex interventions. Medicine, Health Care, and Philosophy, 12(1), 77–90.
- Rickles, D., Hawe, P., & Shiell, A. (2007). A simple guide to chaos and complexity. *Journal of Epidemiology* and Community Health, 61(11), 933–937.

- Ritenbaugh, C., Aickin, M., Bradley, R., Caspi, O., Grimsgaard, S., & Musial, F. (2010). Whole systems research becomes real: New results and next steps. *Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine (New York, N.Y.), 16*(1), 131–137.
- Shiell, A., Hawe, P., & Gold, L. (2008). Complex interventions or complex systems? Implications for health economic evaluation. *BMJ*, 336(7656), 1281–1283.
- Song, Z. J., & Bohn, H. G. (1991). Tài-chi chüàn. Die Grundlagen: Geschichte und Traditionen, Philosophie des I Ging, physiologische Wirkungen. München: Piper.
- Taylor-Piliae, R., & Coull, B. (2012). Community-based Yang-style Tai Chi is safe and feasible in chronic stroke: A pilot study. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 26(2), 121–131.
- Taylor-Piliae, R. E., Newell, K. A., Cherin, R., Lee, M. J., King, A. C., & Haskell, W. L. (2010). Effects of Tai Chi and Western exercise on physical and cognitive functioning in healthy community-dwelling older adults. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 18(3), 261–279.
- Verhoef, M., Lewith, G., Ritenbaugh, C., Boon, H., Fleishman, S., & Leis, A. (2005). Complementary and alternative medicine whole systems research: Beyond identification of inadequacies of the RCT. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine*, 13(3), 206–212.
- Walach, H., Falkenberg, T., Fønnebø, V., Lewith, G., & Jonas, W. B. (2006). Circular instead of hierarchical: Methodological principles for the evaluation of complex interventions. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 6, 2–9.
- Wang, C., Schmid, C., Rones, R., Kalish, R., Yinh, J., Goldenberg, D., Lee, Y., & McAlindon, T. (2010). A randomized trial of Tai Chi for fibromyalgia. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 363(8), 743–754.Wayne, P. M., & Kaptchuk, T. J. (2008a). Challenges in-
- Heyn M., a Raperlan, P.J. (2000), Chainenges in herent to Tai Chi research: Part I–Tai Chi as a complex multicomponent intervention. Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine (New York, N.Y.), 14(1), 95–102.
- Wayne, P. M., & Kaptchuk, T. J. (2008b). Challenges inherent to Tài Chi research: Part II-defining the intervention and optimal study design. Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine (New York, N.Y.), 14(2), 191–197.
- Wayne, P. M., Buring, J. E., Davis, R. B., Connors, E. M., Bonato, P., Patritti, B., Fischer, M., Yeh, G. Y., Cohen, C. J., Carroll, D., & Kiel, D. P. (2010). Tai Chi for osteopenic women: Design and rationale of a pragmatic randomized controlled trial. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 11, 40.
- Wayne, P. M., Kiel, D. P., Buring, J. E., Connors, E. M., Bonato, P., Yeh, G. Y., Cohen, C. J., Mancinelli, C., & Davis, R. B. (2012). Impact of Tai Chi exercise on multiple fracture-related risk factors in post-menopausal osteopenic women: A pilot pragmatic, randomized trial. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 12(1), 7.
- Yang, Y., Verkuilen, J. V., Rosengren, K. S., Grubisich, S. A., Reed, M. R., & Hsiao-Wecksler, E. T. (2007). Effect of combined Taiji and Qigong training on balance mechanisms: A randomized controlled trial of older adults. *Medical Science Monitor: International Medical Journal of Experimental and Clinical Research.* 13(8). CR339–CR48.
- Zhu, W., Guan, S., & Yang, Y. (2010). Clinical implications of Tai Chi interventions: A review. American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine, 5(4), 418–432.

RESEARCH ARTICLE



57

Open Access

Mindfulness-based interventions in multiple sclerosis: beneficial effects of Tai Chi on balance, coordination, fatigue and depression

Janina M Burschka^{1,2*}, Philipp M Keune^{2,3}, Ulrich Hofstadt-van Oy², Patrick Oschmann² and Peter Kuhn¹

Abstract

Background: Patients suffering from Multiple Sclerosis (MS) experience a wide array of symptoms, including balance problems, mobility impairment, fatigue and depression. Physical exercise has recently been acknowledged as a treatment option complementary to medication. However, information regarding putative effects of structured exercise programs on neurological symptoms is sparse. Tai Chi, a Chinese martial art incorporating physical exercise and mindfulness training, has been shown to yield health benefits in various neurological groups. It seems particularly suitable for patients with motoric deficits as it challenges coordination and balance. The purpose of the current study was to explore the therapeutic value of structured Tai Chi training for coordination, balance, fatigue and depression in mildly disabled MS patients.

Methods: A sample of 32 MS patients (Expanded Disability Status Scale, EDSS < 5) was examined. A structured Tai Chi course was devised and a Tai Chi group participated in two weekly sessions of 90 minutes duration for six months, while a comparison group received treatment as usual (TAU). Both groups were examined prior to and following the six-months interval with regards to balance and coordination performance as well as measures of fatigue, depression and life satisfaction.

Results: Following the intervention, the Tai Chi group showed significant, consistent improvements in balance, coordination, and depression, relative to the TAU group (range of effect-sizes: partial $\eta^2 = 0.16 - 0.20$). Additionally, life satisfaction improved (partial $\eta^2 = 0.31$). Fatigue deteriorated in the comparison group, whereas it remained relatively stable in the Tai Chi group (partial $\eta^2 = 0.24$).

Conclusions: The consistent pattern of results confirms that Tai Chi holds therapeutic potential for MS patients. Further research is needed to determine underlying working mechanisms, and to verify the results in a larger sample and different MS subgroups.

Keywords: Multiple Sclerosis, Tai Chi, Mindfulness, Balance, Depression

Background

Multiple Sclerosis (MS) is the most common neurologic disease of young adults [1]. It is characterized by chronic inflammatory processes affecting the central nervous system, causing neurodegeneration and axonal damage [2]. While the early phase of the disease involves temporary neurologic dysfunctions, the disease course leads to progressive accumulation of disability. In this context,

* Correspondence: janina.burschka@googlemail.com ¹Institute of Sports Science, University of Bayreuth, Bayreuth 95440, Germany ²Klinikum Bayreuth GmbH, Betriebsstätte Hohe Warte, Department of Neurology, Hohe Warte 8, Bayreuth 95445, Germany Full list of author information is available at the end of the article patients suffering from MS may experience a wide array of symptoms, including balance problems, mobility impairment, fatigue and depression [2,3]. Common medical treatment comprises basic immune-modulating medication, cortisol therapy to counter active inflammation during relapses, as well as symptomatic therapy [4].

Physical therapy for multiple sclerosis

Physical exercise has recently been acknowledged as an essential part of MS therapy [5]. This represents an important extension of treatment options, since traditionally MS patients had been advised not to engage in



© 2014 Burschka et al.; licensee BioMed Central Ltd. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly credited. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

physical activity [6]. There is a growing body of evidence which suggests that exercise is beneficial for MS patients in various domains including muscular strength and aerobic capacity, mobility, mood, fatigue and healthrelated quality of life [4,7-10]. Additionally, physical exercise may yield potentially adaptive immune-modulating effects [11,12]. Recent findings also suggest that repeated physical exercise may foster neuroplasticity, affecting neurotrophic and neuroprotective mechanisms [13]. However, most MS patients remain physically inactive and information regarding choice, dose and effects of specific exercise programs is sparse [9]. Ellis et al. [14] suggest the inclusion of behavioral interventions into standard MS management, and propose a shift from a rehabilitative model to a preventive approach of physical therapy (for comparison see also Motl et al. [15]). As there is considerable inter-individual variation in the course of symptoms in MS, individually tailored exercise programs may be regarded as most appropriate.

Mindfulness and its clinical applications

Recently, such programs have successfully been implemented in combination with mindfulness based interventions (for recent review see Simpson et al. [16]). The term mindfulness is rooted in Buddhist philosophy [17]. Its key element is the attempt to focus on the present moment experience while maintaining and open, non-judgemental attitude [18,19]. Mindfulness has repeatedly been incorporated into secular clinical interventions. In this context, mindfulness training was shown to yield beneficial effects in a variety of conditions including chronic pain, fibromyalgia, psoriasis, as well as depressive and eating disorders, and to attenuate maladaptive cognitive patterns [20–26]. Further studies indicate that mindfulness training may yield adaptive neurophysiologic effects, including altered immune functioning [27–29].

While the exact working mechanisms of mindfulness continue to be explored, integrative models have been devised. In their two-component model of mindfulness, Bishop et al. [30] defined an attentional and a motivational component. A conceptual outline of this model is provided in Figure 1. According to the authors, self-regulated attention involves focusing on experience in the here and now. The resulting ability to sustain attention and switch its focus intentionally is assumed to enable non-elaborative awareness. The latter is characterized by observing, acknowledging and releasing arising thoughts, sensations and emotions without further, secondary cognitive elaboration. Since attentional resources are limited, non-elaborative awareness increases access to information on current experience, as attentional capacity is not allocated to further elaborative processing [31]. In mindfulness exercises, commonly the breath is used as an object of orientation to return back to the present moment experience.

Page 2 of 9

The second component, orientation to experience, implies a curious and accepting attitude towards the stream of consciousness (*beginner's mind*, *see* Bishop et al. [30]). This observant, non-judging perspective and the open receptivity to new experience are assumed to reduce avoidant behavior patterns [29]. In this context, particularly the familiarisation with distressing emotions is believed to increase affect tolerance. Moreover, body awareness and emotional awareness are fostered.

Tai Chi training and mindfulness

To date, there are only few structured interventions which incorporate both, physical and mindfulness exercises for MS patients. Grossman et al. [32] implemented a structured eight-week mindfulness-based intervention including Yoga exercises and observed improved quality of life, as well as depression and fatigue. Complementary to such pioneering work, we suggest that Tai Chi may be particularly suited to integrate physical and mindfulness training in MS. Tai Chi is a Chinese martial art, representing a multicomponent intervention, addressing musculoskeletal strength, flexibility, and mindfulness [33,34].

It should be noted that the concept of mindfulness is compatible with contents of Tai Chi practice. As illustrated in Figure 1, its first component, regulation of attention, is addressed by Tai Chi practice, as Tai Chi involves purposeful direction of attention. Attention needs to be directed during the process of imitating a choreography (called *form*) as demonstrated by the instructor. To this end, it is necessary to constantly switch attention between exteroception (observing the instructor and the own body) and interoception (bodily sensations involving proprioception, balance, breathing). During exercises, attention is also directed at the Tai Chi principles (see Additional file 1: Supplement 1), which require a high amount of resources and receptivity to interoceptive information, fostering body awareness.

The second component of mindfulness is addressed as Tai Chi training implies the maintenance of a curious and open attitude. The perpetual aim in Tai Chi practice is a friendly attitude towards oneself and others, respecting the own person and the own abilities, without judgement or competition (see Additional file 1: Supplement 1). Nonelaborative awareness is a prerequisite to stay on track while playing the form. During this process, personal boundaries such as limits of stability, flexibility and endurance, as well as habits to cope with these limitations are explored, fostering body awareness. Emotional awareness is developed by consciously observing and accepting arising emotions during Tai Chi practice (e.g. fear of embarrassment, fear of falling, self-criticism, motivational issues).



Purpose of the current work: structured Tai Chi training for MS patients

Tai Chi has been shown to yield health benefits in various neurological groups, including Parkinson's Disease [35], Fibromyalgia [36], chronic stroke [37], and peripheral neuropathy [38]. Currently there are three studies available on Tai Chi and MS. Husted et al. [39] reported improvements in walking distance, hamstring flexibility and psychological well-being, following a Tai Chi intervention. Mills et al. [40,41] observed improvements in balance and symptom management. Finally, Tavee et al. [42] reported improvements in perceived physical and mental health, as well as pain, but not in mobility.

In the indicated studies, the intervention duration did not exceed 2 months. This is noteworthy, since the benefits of Tai Chi practice are believed to increase with time [43]. As a consequence, short intervention periods could lead to an underestimation of the full potential of Tai Chi [43]. Compatible with this assumption, recent findings suggest that the effect of mindfulness training on cognitive control and its underlying neural mechanisms is modulated by practice adherence [44].

For the current study, a standardized Tai Chi program was designed, details of which are made available to other research groups (Additional file 1: Supplement 1). The purpose of this standardized intervention was to provide a basis for a structured empirical evaluation of putative effects of Tai Chi in MS.

The goal of the current study was to explore the effects of this intervention program on balance, fatigue, depression and quality of life in mildly disabled MS patients. Furthermore, the intention was to examine the safety and feasibility of this intervention for MS patients.

Methods

Study design and participants

The study was designed as a two-arm trial to examine the effects of a six-month mindfulness-based Tai Chi intervention versus treatment as usual (TAU). It was approved by the ethics committee of the Bavarian Medical Association, Germany, and all participants provided written informed consent. Participants were recruited from the Department of Neurology, Klinikum Bayreuth. Invitations were given orally or via mail to patients who were or had been in out-patient care. Additionally, study invitations were distributed via local support groups. Information about clinical characteristics was extracted from patients' files held by the Department of Neurology. Inclusion criteria were a diagnosis of any MS type, being able to walk without a walking aid, an Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) score < 5, and being relapse-free for the past four weeks. Severe cognitive impairment which would interfere with the ability to take part in weekly Tai Chi classes was ruled out, based on reports of the neurological examinations in patients' files.

Between December 2010 and November 2011, the files of a total of 400 MS patients were screened for eligibility criteria. Since the site of the study (Klinikum Bayreuth) is located in a rural area of Germany, a substantial portion of these candidates (approximately 250) were discarded beforehand due to the distance of their home to the study site, which made a weekly appearance impossible. Out of the remaining candidates, 38 met inclusion criteria and were willing to participate in the study. Outcome measures were assessed during a patient visit at baseline and following an interval of six months. In this context, all patients participated in assessments addressing balance, fatigue, depression, and quality of life. Potential alterations in balance and coordination were defined as primary

endpoints, alterations in fatigue, depression and quality of life as secondary endpoints of the study. During the sixmonths interval between pre (baseline) and post assessments, 15 patients received structured Tai Chi training (Tai Chi group), and 17 patients received treatment as usual (TAU group), i.e. they were instructed to consult their medical professionals as they usually would. In a pilot phase, implemented with the intention to raise awareness about the possibility to participate in Tai Chi courses in the study centre, members of the latter group had previously taken part in Tai Chi classes. However, during the six-months interval, members of this group did not participate in a structured intervention. Due to the length of the intervention and to enable patients to participate regularly, group assignment occurred based on patients' availability for the weekday on which the Tai Chi course took place.

Six Patients from the Tai Chi group withdrew from the study due to time issues (N = 5) and health problems (N = 1) and were lost to follow-up. Consequently a total of 32 patients was included in the final analysis (Tai Chi N = 15; TAU N = 17). As indicated in Table 1, there were no significant differences with regards to basic demographics between the Tai Chi group and the TAU group. Further, there were no clinical differences regarding MS course, disease duration and MS treatment.

	TAU		Tai C	Chi	Statistic	p-value
	(n =	17)	(n =	15)		
Demographics						
Age M (SD)	43.6	(8.0)	42.6	(9.4)	0.32 ^a	0.753
Female sex, n (%)	12	(71)	10	(67)	0.06 ^b	0.811
Health Behavior						
Tobacco users, n (%)	2	(12)	3	(20)	0.42 ^b	0.645
Body Mass Index, M (SD)	25.5	(5.5)	24.2	(3.7)	0.79 ^a	0.438
Phys. activity/week, n (%)						
< 1x	6	(35)	2	(13)	0.17 ^b	0.338
1-2x	6	(35)	8	(53)		
> 3x	5	(30)	5	(33)		
Clinical Information						
MS course, n (%)						
Relapsing-remitting	13	(77)	14	(93)	4.93 ^b	0.085
Secondary progressive	4	(24)	0	(0)		
Clinically isolated syndrome	0	(0)	1	(7)		
MS Duration in years, M (SD)	7.8	(6.8)	6.0	(4.7)	0.86 ^a	0.395
MS treatment, n (%)						
Yes	16	(94)	12	(80)	0.45 ^b	0.228
^a t-test. ^b chi square test.						

Note: M = mean, SD = standard deviation, TAU = treatment as usual.

Page 4 of 9

However, the EDSS was elevated in the TAU group (range: 1-4.5, median = 4), relative to the Tai Chi group (range: 1-4, median = 2). Adherence varied between 15 and 44 (median = 30) attended classes out of 50 classes offered in total.

Assessment of balance and coordination

An established balance test, comprising 14 tasks with an increasing level of difficulty, including both static and dynamic balance was utilized [45]. It included a series of one leg stances in different conditions as well as walking across a wooden board in different conditions (forwards, backwards, including turns). The test was previously shown to display sufficient metric qualities (test-retest reliability: r = .78, Chronbach's alpha = .92) [45]. In this context, its convergent validity was also shown referring to posturographic measures [45].

Additionally, a coordination test was implemented, comprising 10 tasks with an increasing level of difficulty [45]. As was the case for the balance test, the coordination test was previously shown to involve sufficient metric properties (test-retest reliability: r = .60, Chronbach's alpha = .72) [45].

In both tests, each task achieved equalled one point, accumulating to a maximum of 14 points in the balance test and 10 points in the coordination test. A detailed description of both tests is provided in Additional file 2: Supplement 2. To our knowledge, the tests have not been used in MS previously. However, they were developed for functional evaluation of patients during neurologic rehabilitation [45]. Since the tests were designed to cover a broad spectrum of ability/disability within ambulatory patients, they may be regarded as particularly suitable for MS patients with considerable variance in motoric deficits.

Assessment of depression, fatigue and life satisfaction

Additionally, self-reports measures in the domains depression, fatigue and life satisfaction were included. For the assessment of depressive symptoms, a 15-item questionnaire was used (Allgemeine Depressionskala, ADS-K; English: Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale, CES-D); [46]), which addresses the severity of depressive symptoms during the last two weeks. Items are rated on a scale from 0-3 and the sum of all items represents the depression parameter. Further, the Fatigue Scale of Motor and Cognitive Functions (FSMC [47]) was administered, which consists of 20 items, scored on a scale from 1-5, and accumulating to a maximum score of 80 points. The Questionnaire of Life Satisfaction (QLS [48]) consists of 6 domains, including health, finances, leisure time, self, sexuality and friends, comprising 7 items each, on a 1-7 rating scale, accumulating to a maximum score of 420 points.
Burschka et al. BMC Neurology 2014, **14**:165 http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2377/14/165

Tai Chi intervention

A structured, compact Tai Chi program was developed based on the Yang-style 10-form (see Additional file 1: Supplement 1 for details and Martin [49] or Sinclair [50] for a video link). Exercises were structured so that during each session of the course, the same essential elements were repeated. The advantage of this design was that patients who missed out on an occasion could rejoin the training without difficulties. Further, continuously repeating the exercises may be regarded as supportive for a long-term learning process and automaticity, potentially fostering neuroplasticity [13]. The intervention was centre-based and did not include home assignments. The Tai Chi instructor was a highly trained exercise therapist with 4 years of Tai Chi experience. No classes were cancelled and no adverse events were noted.

Throughout the intervention period of six months, weekly sessions of 90 minutes duration took place. During the first month of the course, the Tai Chi form was played 4–5 times per session. A break of a few minutes during which participants could relax and ask questions occurred after each completion of the form. During the consecutive 5 months the form was played 6-8 times per session. In this case, breaks usually occurred after two completions of the form, respectively, albeit they were not always necessary or enforced. The increase in repetitions following the first month was attributable to arising automaticity. In context of the relation between Tai Chi training and mindfulness (Figure 1), this arising automaticity may be associated with an attentional shift from an external focus (imitating the form) to an internal focus (e.g. bodily sensations, breathing). On the occasion with the highest amount of repetitions without a break, 8 repetitions were completed. In general, the instructor organized the class with respect to the energy level and current capability of participants.

Statistical analysis

Scores on all parameters were normally distributed according to Saphiro-Wilk tests (all *p*-values > 0.05). Differences in outcome parameters between the Tai Chi group and the TAU group were assessed by a two-way repeated measures ANOVA with the within-subjects factor Time (pre vs. post) and the between-subjects factor Group (Tai Chi vs. TAU), separately for each parameter. Post-hoc comparisons were conducted via Bonferroni-corrected two-sided t-tests.

To ensure systematic progression of variance across pre and post measures, in a secondary analysis, testretest reliability was determined. To this end, Pearson correlations were computed for each test parameter between values obtained at pre and post assessments.

Results

Balance and coordination

In case of balance performance, a significant Time by Group interaction emerged [F (1,30) = 5.70, p < 0.05, partial $\eta^2 = 0.16$]. Post-hoc comparisons revealed that performance in the Tai Chi group improved, while it remained relatively stable in the TAU group (Figure 2a, Table 2). For coordination, there was a significant main effect of Time [F (1,30) = 4.89, p < 0.05, partial $\eta^2 = 0.14$] and a significant Time by Group interaction [F (1,30) = 6.57, p < 0.05, partial $\eta^2 = 0.18$]. Post-hoc comparisons indicated that the increase in coordination performance scores was significant in the Tai Chi group whereas scores remained relatively stable in the TAU group (Figure 2b, Table 2).

Depression, fatigue and life-satisfaction

In case of depression, a significant main effect of Time [F (1,27) = 6.61, p < 0.05, partial η^2 = 0.19] and a significant Time by Group interaction emerged [F (1,27) = 6.55, p < 0.05, partial η^2 = 0.20]. Post-hoc comparisons revealed that depression scores significantly decreased in the Tai Chi group, whereas they remained relatively stable in the TAU group (Figure 2d, Table 2).

For Fatigue, a significant Time by Group interaction [F (1,25) = 7.83, p = 0.01, partial η^2 = 0.24] and a significant main effect of Group emerged [F (1,25) = 5.91, p < 0.05, partial η^2 = 0.19]. Post-hoc comparisons indicated a significant increase in fatigue scores in the TAU group from pre to post assessments. Scores in the Tai Chi group remained relatively stable. At pre-treatment assessments the groups did not differ significantly in fatigue. In contrast, fatigue differed following the six-months interval (Figure 2c, Table 2).

In case of life satisfaction, a significant Time by Group interaction [F (1,24) = 8.64, p < 0.01, partial η^2 = 0.27] and a significant main effect Group emerged [F (1,24) = 8.64, p < 0.01, partial η^2 = 0.19]. Post-hoc comparisons indicated a significant rise in the life-satisfaction score in the Tai Chi group relative to the TAU group. At pretreatment assessments the groups did not differ significantly in life satisfaction. In contrast, life satisfaction differed following the six-months interval (Figure 2e, Table 2).

Test-retest reliability

In consideration of the relatively small sample size, estimates of test-retest reliability were computed to derive information on the reliability of all implemented measures. This analysis was implemented separately for the Tai Chi and the TAU group, as well as for both groups combined, and tested whether the progression of variance of each parameter was systematic across assessments [51,52]. Test-retest reliability was reasonable

Page 5 of 9



for each parameter in both groups (Table 3; range of Pearson r: .56 - .92).

Discussion

Physical exercise has recently been acknowledged as an essential part of MS therapy [5]. However, information with regards to putative effects of structured exercise programs on neurological symptoms is sparse. Similarly, mindfulness training, which is known to be beneficial for various clinical groups [53,27], was suggested to increase quality of life in MS patients [54]. Nevertheless, to date the body of studies on this topic remains limited [16]. Previous work has indicated that Tai Chi, which incorporates a combination of physical exercises and

mindfulness training, might yield health benefits in MS [16,39–42]. In the current study, the therapeutic value of a newly devised structured Tai Chi course (Additional file 1: Supplement 1) for coordination, balance, fatigue and depression in mildly disabled MS patients was examined.

The obtained results are in accordance with previous suggestions and extend the body of related literature [55,56,10,16,4]. During the Tai Chi intervention, objective parameters including balance and coordination (i.e. the primary study endpoints) as well as subjective measures of depression and life satisfaction (secondary endpoints) improved. In contrast, these measures were not altered in the TAU group. Additionally, a maintenance effect on fatigue was observed, as fatigue in the Tai Chi

	TAU (N = 17)					Tai Chi (N = 15)				
	Pre		Post		Statistic	atistic Pre		Post		Statistic
	М	SD	М	SD	р	М	SD	М	SD	р
Balance	6.88	4.09	6.53	4.49	0.439	8.00	2.83	9.33	2.26	0.031
Coordination	4.94	2.33	4.82	2.46	0.814	5.00	1.89	6.60	1.80	0.003
Fatigue	63.79	19.55	70.47	14.04	0.025	51.23	22.55	47.6	19.54	0.182
Depression	13.87	10.82	16.13	11.99	0.951	12.21	6.66	7.67	5.12	0.007
Lifesatisfaction	204.46	27.77	193.81	36.2	0.290	215.77	25.55	232.57	25.62	0.012

Burschka et al. BMC Neurology 2014, 14:165 http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2377/14/165

Table 3 Test-retest reliability

	Tai Chi	& TAU	Tai Ch	i	TAU	
Parameter	r	р	r	р	r	р
Balance	0.835	0.000	0.660	0.007	0.913	0.000
Coordination	0.573	0.001	0.565	0.028	0.642	0.005
Fatigue	0.877	0.000	0.917	0.000	0.878	0.000
Depression	0.822	0.000	0.653	0.011	0.936	0.000
Life satisfaction	0.697	0.000	0.660	0.014	0.757	0.003

Test-retest reliability as determined by Pearson correlations between values obtained at pre and post assessments (Tai Chi group N = 15, TAU group N = 17). See Methods section for a detailed description of each test parameter.

group remained relatively stable whereas it deteriorated in the TAU group. In sum, this consistent pattern of beneficial alterations in the examined outcome parameters provides support for the utility of structured Tai Chi training in the context of MS treatment. While the exact working mechanisms remain to be explored, the current findings allow the suggestion that Tai Chi enhances balance performance and coordination and may exert beneficial effects on mood and fatigue. Observed compliance rates indicated that the implemented Tai Chi form (10form) was appropriate in the context of a structured intervention of six months duration. We recommend using the 10-form in future studies as it is a well-known standard form and provide extensive information on the intervention in Additional file 1: Supplement 1.

Limitations and future directions

While our results extend the current literature on beneficial effects of mindfulness training and physical exercise in MS patients, they need to be interpreted in the context of several limitations. On the one hand, the length of the intervention made it necessary to ensure that a sufficient number of patients could participate in the Tai Chi course regularly. Therefore, assignment to Tai Chi and TAU groups occurred based on patients' weekday preference. The lack of formal random assignment is to be regarded as a major limitation of the current work. Moreover, group assignment based on patients' weekday preference represents a selection bias and may have been affected by patients' general motivation. In this context, it is also necessary to point out that while some of the clinical characteristics were similar in both groups (MS-subtype, disease duration, medical treatment), the EDSS score was higher in the TAU group than in the Tai Chi group. Despite its relatively broad classification system, the EDSS is a widely used and accepted tool for monitoring overall disease progression in MS patients [57]. Even though functional domains reflected by the EDSS are not congruent with all parameters implemented in the current work, it cannot be ruled out that the difference in EDSS scores of the

two groups affected the obtained results. It also needs to be considered that only a small sample was examined and that the intervention and evaluation procedures were implemented by the same person (JB), involving a potential bias. Moreover, the dose of Tai Chi training was not recorded in detail. However, the total dose of Tai Chi cannot easily be measured as it depends on multiple components and personal commitment of the participants.

On the other hand, it is noteworthy that the pattern of beneficial effects was consistent across outcome variables and that patients' compliance was sufficient. Moreover, despite the small sample size and the relatively long intervention period of six months, test-retest reliability of all test parameters was sufficient. This is particularly important since the implemented tests were not instruments which are widely used in the MS literature. Consequently, it could be argued that they might have involved low validity in MS patients. Contradicting this assumption, the observation of sufficient test-retest reliability of all test parameters in the current work indicates that rank ordering of subjects' values in outcome parameters changed systematically during the six months period. Hence, the progression of variance was systematic and employed measures provided reliable information. We suggest that it is warranted for future studies to verify results of the current work using a randomized design, a larger sample and different MS subgroups. Such future studies may also include further comparison groups, besides TAU, especially in consideration of non-specific effects which might manifest in improved depression symptoms and quality of life due to social support, as well as self-efficacy.

Analyzing different components of Tai Chi interventions, such as motion, mindfulness and breathing, may help to form theories about underlying working mechanisms. In this context, the effects of Tai Chi training on neural plasticity with respect to motor and sensory abilities in MS patients seem worth investigating as recent findings showed alterations of cortical representations of interoceptive attention following mindfulness meditation [58]. Improved interoception may also enhance the quality of feedback loops during coordination, enhancing confidence and reliability of movement. Apart from this, it has been shown that breathing practices by themselves have beneficial autonomic regulatory effects [59]. This is of particular interest in stress-exacerbated diseases like MS, as it has been reported that stress management therapy seems to reduce inflammation and enhance neuroprotection [60]. Based on the working mechanisms of different components, possible interactions and synergetic effects need to be explored. This understanding might provide the opportunity of creating clear recommendations on which way of practicing Tai Chi is likely to unfold most beneficial effects [34].

Page 7 of 9

toc

Page 8 of 9

Burschka et al. BMC Neurology 2014, 14:165 http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2377/14/165

Conclusions

The Tai Chi 10-form is safe and feasible for a sixmonths intervention period with MS patients. Tai Chi may have beneficial effects on balance, coordination and psychological well-being in patients with MS.

Additional files

Additional file 1: Supplement 1. Additional file 2: Supplement 2.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests. The study was supported by Novartis Pharma GmbH. The corresponding author received an expense allowance for presenting the study on a symposium of Novartis Pharma GmbH. This publication was funded by the German Research Foundation (DFG) and the University of Bayreuth in the funding program Open Access Publishing.

Authors' contributions

JB conceived of the study, participated in its design, coordination and data acquisition, held all Tai Chi classes and drafted the manuscript. PKe performed the statistical analysis and helped to draft the manuscript. UH supported the patient recruitment and clinical assessments. PO participated in the design of the study, supervised the study and reviewed the manuscript. PKu participated in the design of the study, co-conceptualized and supervised the Tai Chi intervention and revised the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank Dr. Uwe Menge for his support concerning the study's design and organization. They also thank all participants for their efforts taking part in the study.

Author details

¹Institute of Sports Science, University of Bayreuth, Bayreuth 95440, Germany. ²Klinikum Bayreuth GmbH, Betriebsstätte Hohe Warte, Department of Neurology, Hohe Warte 8, Bayreuth 95445, Germany. ³Department of Physiological Psychology, Otto-Friedrich-University, Bamberg, Germany.

Received: 27 April 2014 Accepted: 13 August 2014 Published: 23 August 2014

References

- Murray TJ: Diagnosis and treatment of multiple sclerosis. BMJ 2006, 332:525–527.
- Compston A, McAlpine D: McAlpine's multiple sclerosis. 4. Aufl. London: Churchill Livingstone Elsevier; 2006.
- 3. Compston A, Coles A: Multiple sclerosis. Lancet 2008, 372:1502–1517.
- Döring A, Pfueller CF, Paul F, Dörr J: Exercise in multiple sclerosis an integral component of disease management. EPMA J 2012, 3:1–13.
- Latimer-Cheung AE, Martin Ginis KA, Hicks AL, Motl RW, Pilutti LA, Duggan M, Wheeler G, Persad R, Smith KM: Development of Evidence-Informed Physical Activity Guidelines for Adults With Multiple Sclerosis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2013. 94:1829–1836.e7.
- McAlpine D: Multiple sclerosis: a plea for a fresh outlook. Br Med J 1957, 1:475–480.
- Rietberg MB, Brooks D, Uitdehaag BMJ, Kwakkel G: Exercise therapy for multiple sclerosis. *Cochrane Db Syst Rev* 2004, (3): Art. No.: CD003980.
- Snook EM, Motl RW: Effect of exercise training on walking mobility in multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis. Neurorehab Neural Re 2008, 23:108–116.
- Latimer-Cheung AE, Pilutti LA, Hicks AL, Martin Ginis KA, Fenuta AM, MacKibbon KA, Motl RW: Effects of exercise training on fitness, mobility, fatigue, and health-related quality of life among adults with multiple sclerosis: a systematic review to inform guideline development. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2013, 94:1800–1828.e3.
- Sá MJ: Exercise therapy and multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. J Neurol 2013, Epub ahead of print 2013 Nov 22 doi:10.1007/s00415-013-7183-9.

- Dalgas U, Stenager E: Exercise and disease progression in multiple sclerosis: can exercise slow down the progression of multiple sclerosis? Ther Adv Neurol Disord 2012, 5:81–95.
- Mayo NE, Bayley M, Duquette P, Lapierre Y, Anderson R, Bartlett S: The role of exercise in modifying outcomes for people with multiple sclerosis: a randomized trial. *BMC Neurol* 2013, 13:1–11.
- Knaepen K, Goekint M, Heyman EM, Meeusen R: Neuroplasticity exerciseinduced response of peripheral brain-derived neurotrophic factor. Sports Med 2010. 40:765–801.
- 14. Ellis T, Motl RW: Physical activity behavior change in persons with neurologic disorders. J Neurol Phys Ther 2013, **37**:85–90.
- Motl RW, McAuley E, Wynn D, Vollmer T: Lifestyle physical activity and walking impairment over time in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil* 2011, 90:372–379.
- Simpson R, Booth J, Lawrence M, Byrne S, Mair F, Mercer S: Mindfulness based interventions in multiple sclerosis - a systematic review. BMC Neurol 2014, 14:15.
- Nhất H, Ho M, Vo DM: The miracle of mindfulness: An introduction to the practice of meditation. Boston: Beacon Press; 1999.
- Brown KW, Ryan RM: The benefits of being present: mindfulness and its role in psychological well-being. J Pers Soc Psychol 2003, 84:822–848.
- Brown KW, Ryan RM, Creswell JD: Addressing fundamental questions about mindfulness. Psychol Ing 2007, 18:272–281.
- Rosenzweig S, Greeson JM, Reibel DK, Green JS, Jasser SA, Beasley D: Mindfulness-based stress reduction for chronic pain conditions: Variation in treatment outcomes and role of home meditation practice. J Psychosom Res 2010, 68:29–36.
- Grossman P, Tiefenthaler-Gilmer U, Raysz A, Kesper U: Mindfulness training as an intervention for fibromyalgia: evidence of postintervention and 3-year follow-up benefits in well-being. *Psychother Psychosom* 2007, 76:226–233.
- Kabat-Zinn J, Wheeler E, Light T, Skillings A, Schaff MJ, Cropley TG, Hosmer D, Bernhard JD: Influence of a mindfulness meditation-based stress reduction intervention on rates of skin clearing in patients with moderate to severe psoriasis undergoing phototherapy (UVB) and photochemotherapy (PUVA). *Psychosom Med* 1998, 60:625–632.
- Segal ZV, Williams JM, Teasdale JD: Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for depression. In A new approach to preventing relapse. New York: Guilford Press; 2002.
- Hofmann SG, Sawyer AT, Witt AA, Oh D: The effect of mindfulness-based therapy on anxiety and depression: A meta-analytic review. J Consult Clin Psychol 2010, 78:169–183.
- Keune PM, Bostanov V, Kotchoubey B, Hautzinger M: Mindfulness versus rumination and behavioral inhibition: A perspective from research on frontal brain asymmetry. *Pers Individ Differ* 2012, 53:323–328.
- 26. Keune PM, Forintos P: Mindfulness meditation: a preliminary study on meditation practice during everyday life activities and its association with well-being. *Psychol Top* 2010, **19**:373–386.
- Keune PM, Bostanov V, Hautzinger M, Kotchoubey B: Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy (MBCT), cognitive style, and the temporal dynamics of frontal EEG alpha asymmetry in recurrently depressed patients. *Biol Psychol* 2011, 88:243–252.
- Davidson RJ, Kabat-Zinn J, Schumacher J, Rosenkranz M, Muller D, Santorelli SF, Urbanowski F, Harrington A, Bonus K, Sheridan JF: Alterations in brain and immune function produced by mindfulness meditation. *Psychosom Med* 2003, 65:564–570.
- Keune PM, Bostanov V, Hautzinger M, Kotchoubey B: Approaching dysphoric mood: state-effects of mindfulness meditation on frontal brain asymmetry. *Biol Psychol* 2013, 93:105–113.
- Bishop SR, Lau M, Shapiro S, Carlson L, Anderson ND, Carmody J, Segal ZV, Abbey S, Speca M, Velting D, Devins G: Mindfulness: a proposed operational definition. *Clin Psychol: Sci Pract* 2004, 11:230–241.
- Bostanov V, Keune PM, Kotchoubey B, Hautzinger M: Event-related brain potentials reflect increased concentration ability after mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for depression: a randomized clinical trial. *Psychiatry Res* 2012, **199**:174–180.
- Grossman P, Kappos L, Gensicke H, D'Souza M, Mohr DC, Penner IK, Steiner C: MS quality of life, depression, and fatigue improve after mindfulness training: a randomized trial. *Neurology* 2010, 75:1141–1149.
- Wayne PM, Kaptchuk TJ: Challenges inherent to t'ai chi research: part I-t'ai chi as a complex multicomponent intervention. J Altern Complement Med 2008, 14:95–102.

Burschka et al. BMC Neurology 2014, **14**:165 http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2377/14/165

- 34. Burschka J, Kuhn P, Menge U, Oschmann P: Research on Tai Chi as a sport in health care. *Sportwiss* 2013, **43**:181–196.
- Li F, Harmer P, Fitzgerald K, Eckstrom E, Stock R, Galver J, Maddalozzo G, Batya SS: Tai chi and postural stability in patients with Parkinson's disease. N. Engl. J. Med 2012, 366:511–519.
- Wang C, Schmid C, Rones R, Kalish R, Yinh J, Goldenberg D, Lee Y, McAlindon T: A randomized trial of tai chi for fibromyalgia. N Engl J Med 2010, 363:743–754.
- Au-Yeung SSY, Hui-Chan CWY, Tang JCS: Short-form Tai Chi improves standing balance of people with chronic stroke. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2009, 23:515–522.
- Li L, Manor B: Long term Tai Chi exercise improves physical performance among people with peripheral neuropathy. Am. J. Chin. Med 2010, 38:449–459.
- Husted C, Pham L, Hekking A, Niederman R: Improving quality of life for people with chronic conditions: the example of t'ai chi and multiple sclerosis. Altern Ther Health Med 1999, 5:70–74.
- Mills N, Allen J: Mindfulness of movement as a coping strategy in multiple sclerosis. A pilot study. Gen Hosp Psychiatry 2000, 22:425–431.
- 41. Mills N, Allen J, Carey-Morgan S: Does Tai Chi/Qi Gong help patients with Multiple Sclerosis? J Bodyw Mov Ther 2000, 4:39–48.
- Tavee J, Rensel M, Planchon SM, Butler RS, Stone L: Effects of meditation on pain and quality of life in multiple sclerosis and peripheral neuropathy. Int J MS Care 2011, 13:163–168.
- Wayne PM, Kaptchuk TJ: Challenges inherent to t'ai chi research: part Ildefining the intervention and optimal study design. J Altern Complement Med 2008, 14:191–197.
- Allen M, Dietz M, Blair KS, Van Beek M, Rees G, Vestergaard-Poulsen P, Lutz A, Roepstorff A: Cognitive-affective neural plasticity following active-controlled mindfulness intervention. J. Neurosci. 2012, 32:15601–15610.
- Bös K, Wydra G, Karisch G: Gesundheitsförderung durch Bewegung, Spiel und Sport. In Ziele und Methoden des Gesundheitssports in der Klinik. Erlangen: perimed-Fachbuch-Verl.-Ges. (Beiträge zur Sportmedizin, Bd. 38); 1992.
- Hautzinger M, Bailer M: ADS Allgemeine Depressionsskala. Göttingen: Beltz (Beltz Test); 2003.
- Penner IK, Raselli C, Stöcklin M, Opwis K, Kappos L, Calabrese P: The Fatigue Scale for Motor and Cognitive Functions (FSMC): validation of a new instrument to assess multiple sclerosis-related fatigue. *Mult. Scler.* 2009, 15:1509–1517.
- Fahrenberg J: Fragebogen zur Lebenszufriedenheit: (FLZ); Handanweisung. Göttingen, Bern, Toronto, Seattle: Hogrefe, Verl. für Psychologie; 2000.
- Robert C, Martin: Tai Chi 10 Form. In Tai Chi 10 Form, with English Titles; 2008. Available online: http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=P4Z4sQNQtJM, [accessed on 01.07.2014]
- Ian S: Tai Chi 10 Form. In Complete Routine with narration; 2013. Available online: http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=n_nfD5O15bk, [accessed on 01.07.2014]
- Keune PM, Wiedemann E, Schneidt A, Schönenberg M: Frontal brain asymmetry in adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) with extending the motivational dysfunction hypothesis. *Clin Neurophysiol* 2014, Epub ahead of print 2014 Jul 18 doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2014.07.008.
- Hofstadt-van Oy U, Keune P, Muenssinger J, Hagenburger D, Oschmann P: Normative data and long-term test-retest reliability of the triple stimulation technique (TST) in multiple sclerosis. *Clin Neurophysiol* 2014, Epub ahead of print 2014 Jun 21 doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2014.05.032.
- McCracken LM, Gauntlett-Gilbert J, Vowles KE: The role of mindfulness in a contextual cognitive-behavioral analysis of chronic pain-related suffering and disability. *Pain* 2007, 131:63–69.
- Grossman P, Niemann L, Schmidt S, Walach H: Mindfulness-based stress reduction and health benefits. A meta-analysis. J Psychosom Res 2004, 57:35–43.
- Pilutti LA, Greenlee TA, Motl RW, Nickrent MS, Petruzzello SJ: Effects of exercise training on fatigue in multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis. *Psychosom Med* 2013, 75:575–580.
- Sandoval AE: Exercise in multiple sclerosis. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am 2013, 24:605–618.
- Meyer-Moock S, Feng Y, Maeurer M, Dippel F, Kohlmann T: Systematic literature review and validity evaluation of the Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) and the Multiple Sclerosis Functional Composite (MSFC) in patients with multiple sclerosis. *BMC Neurol* 2014, 14:58.

- Farb NAS, Segal ZV, Anderson AK: Mindfulness meditation training alters cortical representations of interoceptive attention. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci 2013, 8:15–26.
- Streeter C, Gerbarg P, Saper R, Ciraulo D, Brown R: Effects of yoga on the autonomic nervous system, gamma-aminobutyric-acid, and allostasis in epilepsy, depression, and post-traumatic stress disorder. *Med Hypotheses* 2012, 78:571–579.
- Lovera J, Reza T: Stress in multiple sclerosis: review of new developments and future directions. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep* 2013, 13:398.

doi:10.1186/s12883-014-0165-4

Cite this article as: Burschka *et al.*: **Mindfulness-based interventions in** multiple sclerosis: beneficial effects of Tai Chi on balance, coordination, fatigue and depression. *BMC Neurology* 2014 **14**:165.

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and take full advantage of:

- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- No space constraints or color figure charges
- Immediate publication on acceptance
- Inclusion in PubMed, CAS, Scopus and Google Scholar

BioMed Central

• Research which is freely available for redistribution

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit

Page 9 of 9

Appendix

1	Overview of reviews on Tai Chi	69
2	Overview of longitudinal studies on Tai Chi	73
3	Detailed analysis of seven Tai Chi studies	87
4	Description of the Tai Chi Intervention	93
5	Description of the balance test and the coordination test	95

Year	Authors	Title	Target group	Торіс	
1998	Kessenich, C. R.	Tai Chi as a method of fall prevention in the elderly	elders	intervention	
1998	Ross, M. C.; Presswalla, J. L.	The therapeutic effects of Tai Chi for the elderly	elders	intervention	
1999	Chen, K. M.; Snyder, M.	A research-based use of Tai Chi/movement therapy as a nursing intervention	nursing	intervention	
2000	Lewis, D. E.	Lewis, D. E. T'ai chi ch'uan			
2001	Chen, K. M.; Snyder, M.; Krich- baum, K.	Clinical use of tai chi in elderly populations	elders	intervention	
2001	Li, J. X.; Hong, Y.; Chan, K. M.	Tai chi: physiological characteristics and beneficial ef- fects on health	cardiovascular	intervention	
2001	Yalden, J.; Chung, L.	Tai Chi: towards an exercise program for the older per- son	elders	intervention	
2002	Lan, Ching; Lai, Jin-Shin; Chen, Ssu-Yuan	Tai Chi Chuan: an ancient wisdom on exercise and health promotion	elders	intervention	
2002	Wu, Ge	Evaluation of the effectiveness of Tai Chi for improving balance and preventing falls in the older populationa review	elders	intervention	
2003	Taylor-Piliae, Ruth E.	Tai Chi as an adjunct to cardiac rehabilitation exercise training	cardiovascular	intervention	
2004	Chu, Dennis A.	Tai Chi, Qi Gong and Reiki	methodology	research	
2004	Han, A.; Robinson, V.; Judd, M.; Taixiang, W.; Wells, G.; Tugwell, P.	Tai chi for treating rheumatoid arthritis	rheumatic disease	intervention	
2004	Klein, Penelope J.; Adams, William D.	Comprehensive therapeutic benefits of Taiji: a critical review	therapy	research	
2004	Verhagen, Arianne P.; Immink, Mo- nique; van der Meulen, Annemieke; Bierma-Zeinstra, Sita M. A.	The efficacy of Tai Chi Chuan in older adults: a sys- tematic review	elders	intervention	
2004	Wang, Chenchen; Collet, Jean Paul; Lau, Joseph	The effect of Tai Chi on health outcomes in patients with chronic conditions: a systematic review	chronic conditions	intervention	
2004	Wayne, Peter M.; Krebs, David E.; Wolf, Steven L.; Gill-Body, Kathleen M.; Scarborough, Donna M.; McGibbon, Chris A.; Kaptchuk, Ted J.; Parker, Stephen W.	Can Tai Chi improve vestibulopathic postural control?	balance	intervention	

Year	Authors	Title	Target group	Торіс	
2005	Wayne, Peter M.; Scarborough, Donna Moxley; Krebs, David E.; Parker, Stephen W.; Wolf, Steven L.; Asmundson, Lara; McGibbon, Chris A.	Tai Chi for vestibulopathic balance dysfunction: a case study	balance	intervention	
2006	Adler, Patricia A.; Roberts, Beverly L.	Patricia A.; Roberts, Beverly The use of Tai Chi to improve health in older adults L.			
2006	Kuramoto, Alice M.	Therapeutic benefits of Tai Chi exercise: research re- view	therapy	research	
2006	Mansky, Patrick; Sannes, Tim; Wal- Ierstedt, Dawn; Ge, Adeline; Ryan, Mary; Johnson, Laura Lee; Chesney, Margaret; Gerber, Lynn	Tai chi chuan: mind-body practice or exercise interven- tion? Studying the benefit for cancer survivors	cancer	intervention	
2007	Cheng, Tsung O.	Tai Chi: the Chinese ancient wisdom of an ideal exer- cise for cardiac patients	cardiovascular	intervention	
2007	Hong, Youlian; Li, Jing Xian	Biomechanics of Tai Chi: a review	Biomechanics of Tai Chi	particular	
2007	Lee, M. S.; Pittler, M. H.; Ernst, E.	Tai chi for rheumatoid arthritis: systematic review	rheumatic disease	intervention	
2007	Lee, Myeong Soo; Pittler, Max H.; Ernst, Edzard	Is Tai Chi an effective adjunct in cancer care? A sys- tematic review of controlled clinical trials	cancer	intervention	
2007	Lee, Myeong Soo; Pittler, Max H.; Taylor-Piliae, Ruth E.; Ernst, Edzard	Tai chi for cardiovascular disease and its risk factors: a systematic review	cardiovascular	intervention	
2007	Taylor-Piliae, Ruth E.; Haskell, Wil- liam L.	Tai Chi exercise and stroke rehabilitation	cardiovascular	intervention	
2007	Wayne, Peter M.; Kiel, Douglas P.; Krebs, David E.; Davis, Roger B.; Savetsky-German, Jacqueline; Connelly, Maureen; Buring, Julie E.	The effects of Tai Chi on bone mineral density in post- menopausal women: a systematic review	bone health	intervention	
2008	Grodin, Michael A.; Piwowarczyk, Linda; Fulker, Derek; Bazazi, Ale- xander R.; Saper, Robert B.	Treating survivors of torture and refugee trauma: a pre- liminary case series using qigong and t'ai chi	torture, refugee trauma	intervention	
2008	Harmer, Peter A.; Li, Fuzhong	Tai Chi and falls prevention in older people	elders	intervention	
2008	Lan, Ching; Chen, Ssu-Yuan; Lai, Jin-Shin	The exercise intensity of Tai Chi Chuan	exercise intensity of Tai Chi	particular	
2008	Lan, Ching; Chen, Ssu-Yuan; Wong, May-Kuen; Lai, Jin-Shin	Tai Chi training for patients with coronary heart disease	cardiovascular	intervention	

Year	Authors	Title	Target group	Торіс
2008	Lee, M. S.; Pittler, M. H.; Kim, M-S; Ernst, E.	Tai chi for Type 2 diabetes: a systematic review	diabetes	intervention
2008	Lee, M. S.; Pittler, M. H.; Shin, B-C; Ernst, E.	Tai chi for osteoporosis: a systematic review	bone health	intervention
2008	Lee, Myeong Soo; Lam, Paul; Ernst, Edzard	Effectiveness of tai chi for Parkinson's disease: a criti- cal review	parkinsons	intervention
2008	Lee, Myeong Soo; Pittler, Max H.; Ernst, Edzard	Tai chi for osteoarthritis: a systematic review	bone health	intervention
2008	Lui, Pauline Po Yee; Qin, Ling; Chan, Kai Ming	Tai Chi Chuan exercises in enhancing bone mineral density in active seniors	bone health	intervention
2008	Thornton, Everard W.	Tai Chi exercise in improving cardiorespiratory capacity	aerobic capacity	intervention
2008	Wall, Robert B.	Teaching Tai Chi with mindfulness-based stress reduc- tion to middle school children in the inner city: a review of the literature and approaches	stress reduction	intervention
2008	Wayne, Peter M.; Kaptchuk, Ted J.	Challenges inherent to t'ai chi research: part II-defining the intervention and optimal study design	methodology of Tai Chi research	research
2008	Wayne, Peter M.; Kaptchuk, Ted J.	Challenges inherent to t'ai chi research: part It'ai chi as a complex multicomponent intervention	methodology of Tai Chi research	research
2008	Wong, Alice M. K.; Lan, Ching	Tai Chi and balance control	balance	intervention
2008	Yeh, Gloria Y.; Wang, Chenchen; Wayne, Peter M.; Phillips, Russell S.	The effect of tai chi exercise on blood pressure: a sys- tematic review	cardiovascular	intervention
2009	Hall, Amanda; Maher, Chris; Lati- mer, Jane; Ferreira, Manuela	The effectiveness of Tai Chi for chronic musculoskele- tal pain conditions: a systematic review and meta- analysis	chonic pain	intervention
2009	Lee, M. S.; Lee, E-N; Ernst, E.	Is tai chi beneficial for improving aerobic capacity? A systematic review	aerobic capacity	intervention
2009	Low, Serena; Ang, Li Wei; Goh, Kiat Sern; Chew, Suok Kai	A systematic review of the effectiveness of Tai Chi on fall reduction among the elderly	elders	intervention
2009	Posadzki, Paul; Jacques, Samantha	Tai chi and meditation: A conceptual (re)synthesis?	Tai Chi and medi- tation	particular
2009	Rogers, Carol E.; Larkey, Linda K.; Keller, Colleen	A review of clinical trials of tai chi and qigong in older adults	elders	intervention
2009	Wang, Wei Chun; Zhang, Anthony Lin; Rasmussen, Bodil; Lin, Li-Wei; Dunning, Trisha; Kang, Seung Wan; Park, Byung-Joo; Lo, Sing Kai	The effect of Tai Chi on psychosocial well-being: a sys- tematic review of randomized controlled trials	psychological well- being	intervention

Year	Authors	Title	Target group	Торіс
2009	Yeh, Gloria Y.; Wang, Chenchen; Wayne, Peter M.; Phillips, Russell	Tai chi exercise for patients with cardiovascular condi- tions and risk factors: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW	cardiovascular	intervention
2010	Chang, Yu-Kai; Nien, Yu-Hsiang; Tsai, Chia-Liang; Etnier, Jennifer L.	Physical activity and cognition in older adults: the po- tential of Tai Chi Chuan	elders	intervention
2010	Jahnke, Roger; Larkey, Linda; Ro- gers, Carol; Etnier, Jennifer; Lin, Fang	A comprehensive review of health benefits of qigong and tai chi	therapy	research
2010	Lee, Myeong Soo; Choi, Tae- Young; Ernst, Edzard	Tai chi for breast cancer patients: a systematic review	breast cancer	intervention
2010	Lee, Myeong Soo; Lee, Eun-Nam; Kim, Jong-In; Ernst, Edzard	Tai chi for lowering resting blood pressure in the elder- ly: a systematic review	elders	intervention
2010	Liu, Hao; Frank, Adam	Tai chi as a balance improvement exercise for older adults: a systematic review	elders	intervention
2010	Maciaszek, Janusz; Osinski, W.	The effects of Tai Chi on body balance in elderly peo- plea review of studies from the early 21st century	elders	intervention
2010	Wang, Chenchen; Bannuru, Raveendhara; Ramel, Judith; Kupelnick, Bruce; Scott, Tammy; Schmid, Christopher H.	Tai Chi on psychological well-being: systematic review and meta-analysis	psychological well- being	intervention
2010	Wooton, Angela Conrad	An integrative review of Tai Chi research: an alternative form of physical activity to improve balance and prevent falls in older adults	elders	intervention
2011	Allen, Jennifer; Meires, Jan	How to prescribe Tai chi therapy	therapy	research
2011	Dalusung-Angosta, Alona	The impact of Tai Chi exercise on coronary heart dis- ease: a systematic review	cardiovascular	intervention
2011	Field, Tiffany	Tai Chi research review	therapy	research
2011	Leung, Daniel P. K.; Chan, Carol K. L.; Tsang, Hector W. H.; Tsang, Wil- liam W. N.; Jones, Alice Y. M.	Tai chi as an intervention to improve balance and re- duce falls in older adults: A systematic and meta- analytical review	elders	intervention
2011	Plastaras, Christopher T.; Schran, Seth; Kim, Natasha; Sorosky, Susan; Darr, Deborah; Chen, Mary Susan; Lansky, Rebecca	Complementary and alternative treatment for neck pain: chiropractic, acupuncture, TENS, massage, yoga, Tai Chi, and Feldenkrais	neck pain	intervention
2011	Wang, Chenchen	Tai chi and rheumatic diseases	rheumatic disease	intervention
2012	Blake, Holly; Hawley, Helen	Effects of Tai Chi exercise on physical and psychological health of older people	elders	intervention

Year	Authors	Title	Duration in months	Study population	Sample size (n)	Design (number of study arms)	Study arms	Outcome domains
1997	Wolf, S. L.; Barn- hart, H. X.; Ellison, G. L.; Coogler, C. E.	The effect of Tai Chi Quan and computerized balance training on postural stability in older subjects. Atlanta FICSIT Group. Frailty and Injuries: Cooperative Stud- ies on Intervention Tech- niques	3,75	elders	72	RCT (3)	TC, comput- erized bal- ance train- ing, educa- tion	postural sway
2001	Li, Fuzhong; Harmer, Peter; McAuley, Edward; Fisher, K. John; Duncan, Terry E.; Duncan, Susan C.	Tai Chi, Self-Efficacy, and Physical Function in the El- derly	6	elders	94	RCT (2)	TC, wait list control	self-efficacy and physical function
2001	Wolf, S. L.; Sattin, R. W.; O'Grady, M.; Freret, N.; Ric- ci, L.; Greenspan, A. I.; Xu, T.; Kutner, M.	A study design to investi- gate the effect of intense Tai Chi in reducing falls among older adults transi- tioning to frailty	12	elders	N/A	RCT (2)	TC, wellnes education	variables related to func- tion, behavior, and the biomechanics of move- ment.
2002	Taggart, Helen M.	Effects of Tai Chi exercise on balance, functional mo- bility, and fear of falling among older women	3	elders (fe- male)	N/A	N/A	TC, N/A	falls, fear of falling, bal- ance, functional mobility
2003	Irwin, Michael R.; Pike, Jennifer L.; Cole, Jason C.; Oxman, Michael N.	Effects of a behavioral in- tervention, Tai Chi Chih, on varicella-zoster virus specif- ic immunity and health func- tioning in older adults	3,75	elders	36	RCT (2)	TC, wait list control	VZV specific immunity, health functioning
2003	Song, Rhayun; Lee, Eun-Ok; Lam, Paul; Bae, Sang- Cheol	Effects of tai chi exercise on pain, balance, muscle strength, and perceived dif- ficulties in physical function- ing in older women with os- teoarthritis: a randomized clinical trial	3	osteoarthritis (female)	72	RCT (2)	TC, controls	physical functioning, bal- ance, stength, flexibility, pain, stiffness
2003	Tsai, Jen-Chen; Wang, Wei-Hsin; Chan, Paul; Lin, Li- Jung; Wang, Chia- Huei; Tomlinson, Brian; Hsieh, Ming- Hsiung; Yang, Hung-Yu; Liu, Ju- Chi	The beneficial effects of Tai Chi Chuan on blood pres- sure and lipid profile and anxiety status in a random- ized controlled trial	3	adults with elevated blood pres- sure	76	RCT (2)	TC, seden- tary	blood pressure, lipid pro- file, anxiety status
2003	Wolf, Steven L.; Barnhart, Huimnan X.; Kutner, Nancy G.; McNeely, Eliz- abeth; Coogler, Carol; Xu, Tingsen	Selected as the best paper in the 1990s: Reducing frail- ty and falls in older persons: an investigation of tai chi and computerized balance training	3,75	elders	200	RCT (3)	TC, comput- erized bal- ance train- ing, educa- tion	biomedical, functional and psychosocial indica- tors of fraility, occurence of falls
Legend	1: N/A = not available,	TC = Tai Chi, RCT = randomiz	zed controlled t	rial, CT = contro	olled trial, C)S = observ	vational study	

I

Year	Authors	Title	Durati- on in months	Study population	Sample size (n)	Design (number of study arms)	Study arms	Outcome domains
2003	Wolf, Steven L.; Sattin, Richard W.; Kutner, Michael; O'Grady, Michael; Greenspan, Arlene I.; Gregor, Robert J.	Intense tai chi exercise train- ing and fall occurrences in older, transitionally frail adults: a randomized, con- trolled trial	12	elders	291	RCT (N/A)	TC, N/A	functional measures, fall occurence, adherence, falls efficacy, sickness, balance confidence
2004	Chan, Kaiming; Qin, Ling; Lau, Mingchu; Woo, Jean; Au, Szeki; Choy, Wingyee; Lee, Kwongman; Lee, Shiuhung	A randomized, prospective study of the effects of Tai Chi Chun exercise on bone min- eral density in postmenopau- sal women	12	post- menopausal	132	RCT (2)	TC, seden- tary	bone mineral density, frac- ture rates
2004	Hart, Jacob; Kan- ner, Hava; Gilboa- Mayo, Ronit; Haro- eh-Peer, Osnat; Rozenthul-Sorokin, Naomi; Eldar, Reuben	Tai Chi Chuan practice in community-dwelling persons after stroke	3	stroke survi- vors	18	RCT (2)	TC, physio- therapy	social and general function- ing, balance, walking speed
2004	Hass, Chris J.; Gregor, Robert J.; Waddell, Dwight E.; Oliver, Alanna; Smith, Dagan W.; Fleming, Richard P.; Wolf, Steven L.	The influence of Tai Chi train- ing on the center of pressure trajectory during gait initiation in older adults	12	elders	28	N/A (2)	TC, wellness education	postural control, center of pressure trajectory during gait initiation
2004	Li, Fuzhong; Fis- her, K. John; Har- mer, Peter; Irbe, Dainis; Tearse, Robert G.; Weimer, Cheryl	Tai chi and self-rated quality of sleep and daytime sleepi- ness in older adults: a ran- domized controlled trial	6	elders	118	RCT (2)	TC, low im- pact exer- cise	sleep quality, daytime sleepyness
2004	Li, Fuzhong; Harmer, Peter; Fisher, K. John; McAuley, Edward	Tai Chi: improving functional balance and predicting sub- sequent falls in older persons	6	elders	256	RCT (2)	TC, exercise stretching	functional balance, falls re- duction
2004	McGibbon, Chris A.; Krebs, David E.; Wolf, Steven L.; Wayne, Peter M.; Scarborough, Donna Moxley; Parker, Stephen W.	Tai Chi and vestibular rehabil- itation effects on gaze and whole-body stability	2,5	peripheral vestibular hypofunction	26	RCT (2)	TC, vestibu- lar rehabili- tation	ganze stability, whole body stability, footfall stability during locomotion
2004	Tsang, William W. N.; Hui-Chan, Christina W. Y.	Effect of 4- and 8-wk intensive Tai Chi Training on balance control in the elderly	2	elders	49	RCT (2)	TC, general education	balance control
2005	Choi, Jung Hyun; Moon, Jung-Soon; Song, Rhayun	Effects of Sun-style Tai Chi exercise on physical fitness and fall prevention in fall- prone older adults	3	elders	68	N/A (2)	TC, control	physical fitness, fall avoid- ance efficacy, fall episodes
Legend	d: N/A = not available,	TC = Tai Chi, RCT = randomize	d controlled	d trial, CT = con	trolled trial	, OS = obs	ervational study	1

Year	Authors	Title	Duration in months	Study population	Sample size (n)	Design (number of study arms)	Study arms	Outcome domains
2005	Galantino, Mary Lou; Shepard, Kay; Krafft, Larry; La- perriere, Arthur; Ducette, Joseph; Sorbello, Alfred; Barnish, Michael; Condoluci, David; Farrar, John T.	The effect of group aerobic exercise and t'ai chi on functional outcomes and quality of life for persons liv- ing with acquired immuno- deficiency syndrome	2	AIDS	38	RCT (3)	TC, aerobic exercise, control	strategies and exercise guidelines, functional out- comes, quality of life
2005	Jones, Alice Y.; Dean, Elizabeth; Scudds, Rhonda J.	Effectiveness of a commu- nity-based Tai Chi program and implications for public health initiatives	3	adults	100	СТ	TC, cross- sect control	lung function and physical activity, Resting heart rate, blood pressure, oxygen saturation, handgrip strength, flexibility, balance
2005	Li, Fuzhong; Har- mer, Peter; Fisher, K. John; McAuley, Edward; Chaume- ton, Nigel; Eck- strom, Elizabeth; Wilson, Nicole L.	Tai Chi and fall reductions in older adults: a random- ized controlled trial	6	elders	256	RCT (2)	TC, stret- ching	number of falls, balance, risk for falling
2005	McGibbon, Chris A.; Krebs, David E.; Parker, Ste- phen W.; Scar- borough, Donna M.; Wayne, Peter M.; Wolf, Steven L.	Tai Chi and vestibular re- habilitation improve ves- tibulopathic gait via different neuromuscular mecha- nisms: preliminary report	2,5	elders with vestibulo- pathy	36	RCT (2)	TC, vestibu- lar rehabili- tation	time-distance measures, physical performance
2005	Sattin, Richard W.; Easley, Kirk A.; Wolf, Steven L.; Chen, Ying; Kutner, Michael H.	Reduction in fear of falling through intense tai chi ex- ercise training in older, transitionally frail adults	N/A	elders	N/A	N/A	TC, wellness education	fear of falling
2005	Thomas, G. Neil; Hong, Athena W. L.; Tomlinson, Bri- an; Lau, Edith; Lam, Chris W. K.; Sanderson, John E.; Woo, Jean	Effects of Tai Chi and re- sistance training on cardio- vascular risk factors in el- derly Chinese subjects: a 12-month longitudinal, ran- domized, controlled inter- vention study	12	elders	207	RCT (3)	TC, re- sistance training, control	cardiovascular risk factors
2006	Audette, Joseph F.; Jin, Young Soo; Newcomer, Renee; Stein, Lauren; Duncan, Gillian; Frontera, Walter R.	Tai Chi versus brisk walking in elderly women	3	elders (fe- male)	19	RCT (3)	TC, brisk walking, se- dentary	aerobic capacity, heart rate variability, strength, flexibil- ity, balance, psychological status, quality of life
Legend	I: N/A = not available,	TC = Tai Chi, RCT = randomiz	zed controlled	d trial, CT = con	trolled trial	, OS = obs	ervational study	,

Year	Authors	Title	Durati- on in months	Study population	Sample size (n)	Design (number of study arms)	Study arms	Outcome domains
2006	Faber, Marjan J.; Bosscher, Ruud J.; Chin A Paw, Ma- rijke J.; van Wie- ringen, Piet C.	Effects of exercise programs on falls and mobility in frail and pre-frail older adults: A multicenter randomized con- trolled trial	5	elders	278	RCT (2)	TC, functio- nal walking	falls, functional perfor- mance, disability
2006	Lee, Hea-Young	[Comparison of effects among Tai-Chi exercise, aquatic ex- ercise, and a self-help pro- gram for patients with knee osteoarthritis]	N/A	knee ostoarthritis	50	N/A (3)	TC, aquatic exercise, self-help program	arthritis, muscle strength, balance, difficulty of per- forming activities
2006	Lin, Mau-Roung; Hwang, Hei-Fen; Wang, Yi-Wei; Chang, Shu-Hui; Wolf, Steven L.	Community-based tai chi and its effect on injurious falls, balance, gait, and fear of fall- ing in older people	1	elders	1200	CT (2)	TC, control	falls, falance, gait, fear of falling
2006	Mustian, Karen M.; Katula, Jeffrey A.; Zhao, Hongwei	A pilot study to assess the in- fluence of tai chi chuan on functional capacity among breast cancer survivors	3	breast cancer	21	RCT (2)	TC, psycho- social thera- py	functional capacity
2006	Nnodim, Joseph O.; Strasburg, De- bra; Nabozny, Mar- tina; Nyquist, Lin- da; Galecki, Andrzej; Chen, Shu; Alexander, Neil B.	Dynamic balance and step- ping versus tai chi training to improve balance and stepping in at-risk older adults	2,5	elders	213	N/A (2)	TC, com- bined bal- ance and step training	balance, stepping
2006	Orr, Rhonda; Tsang, Tracey; Lam, Paul; Comino, Elizabeth; Singh, Maria Fiata- rone	Mobility impairment in type 2 diabetes: association with muscle power and effect of Tai Chi intervention	5	diabetes ty- pe 2	37	RCT (2)	TC, western exercise	mobility, balance, physio- logic capacity, health status
2006	Robins, Jo Lynne W.; McCain, Nancy L.; Gray, D. Patri- cia; Elswick, R. K.; Walter, Jeanne M.; McDade, Elizabeth	Research on psychoneuro- immunology: tai chi as a stress management approach for individuals with HIV dis- ease	N/A	HIV	N/A	RCT	N/A	psychosocial variables
2006	Taylor-Piliae, Ruth E.; Haskell, William L.; Stotts, Nancy A.; Froelicher, Eri- ka Sivarajan	Improvement in balance, strength, and flexibility after 12 weeks of Tai chi exercise in ethnic Chinese adults with cardiovascular disease risk factors	3	elders	39	OS (1)	тс	balance, strength, endurance, flexibility
Legend	d: N/A = not available,	TC = Tai Chi, RCT = randomize	d controlled	d trial, CT = cor	trolled trial	, OS = obs	ervational study	1

Year	Authors	Title	Durati- on in months	Study population	Sample size (n)	Design (number of study arms)	Study arms	Outcome domains
2006	Taylor-Piliae, Ruth E.; Haskell, William L.; Waters, Cathe- rine M.; Froelicher, Erika Sivarajan	Change in perceived psycho- social status following a 12- week Tai Chi exercise pro- gramme	3	cardiavas- cular risk	39	OS (1)	тс	psychosocial status (mood, stress, self-efficacy to over- come barriers to Tai Chi, confidence to perform Tai Chi, perceived social sup- port)
2006	Wolf, Steven L.; O'Grady, Michael; Easley, Kirk A.; Guo, Ying; Kressig, Reto W.; Kutner, Michael	The influence of intense Tai Chi training on physical per- formance and hemodynamic outcomes in transitionally frail, older adults	12	elders	311	RCT (2)	TC, wellnes education	variables related to func- tion, behavior, and the bio- mechanics of movement.
2006	Zeeuwe, Petra E. M.; Verhagen, Ari- anne P.; Bierma- Zeinstra, Sita Ma; van Rossum, Erik; Faber, Marjan J.; Koes, Bart W.	The effect of Tai Chi Chuan in reducing falls among elderly people: design of a random- ized clinical trial in the Nether- lands [ISRCTN98840266]	3,25	elders	270	RCT (2)	TC, control	fall prevention, physical and psychosocial function
2006	Zhang, Jian-Guo; Ishikawa-Takata, Kazuko; Yamazaki, Hideo; Morita, Takae; Ohta, Tos- hiki	The effects of Tai Chi Chuan on physiological function and fear of falling in the less ro- bust elderly: an intervention study for preventing falls	2	elders	49	RCT (2)	TC, control	physiological function, fear of falling
2007	Brismée, Jean- Michel; Paige, Ro- bert L.; Chyu, Ming-Chien; Boatright, Julie D.; Hagar, James M.; McCaleb, Joseph A.; Quintela, Mau- ricio M.; Du Feng; Xu, Ke T.; Shen, Chwan-Li	Group and home-based tai chi in elderly subjects with knee osteoarthritis: a random- ized controlled trial	3	knee osteo- arthritis	41	RCT (2)	TC, health education	knee pain, knee range of motion, physical function
2007	Cheung, Siu Yin; Tsai, Eva; Fung, Lena; Ng, Judy	Physical benefits of Tai Chi Chuan for individuals with lower-limb disabilities	3,75	lower limb disability	39	N/A (2)	TC, control	cardiavascular function, pulmonary function, shoul- der range of motion
2007	Gatts, Strawberry K.; Woollacott, Marjorie Hines	How Tai Chi improves bal- ance: biomechanics of recov- ery to a walking slip in im- paired seniors	0,75	elders with surgical in- tervention to knees, hips and back	22	RCT (2)	TC, wait list control	kinematics, center of pres- sure, center of mass
Legend	l: N/A = not available,	TC = Tai Chi, RCT = randomize	d controlled	d trial, CT = con	trolled trial	, OS = obs	ervational study	

Year	Authors	Title	Durati- on in months	Study population	Sample size (n)	Design (number of study arms)	Study arms	Outcome domains
2007	Greenspan, Arlene I.; Wolf, Steven L.; Kelley, Mary E.; O'Grady, Michael	Tai chi and perceived health status in older adults who are transitionally frail: a random- ized controlled trial	12	elders	269	RCT (2)	TC, wellness education	perceived health
2007	Irwin, Michael R.; Olmstead, Richard; Oxman, Michael N.	Augmenting immune re- sponses to varicella zoster vi- rus in older adults: a random- ized, controlled trial of Tai Chi	4	elders	112	RCT (2)	TC, health education	vaccine-stimulated immune response
2007	Li, Fuzhong; Har- mer, Peter; Fisher, K. John; Xu, Jun- heng; Fitzgerald, Kathleen; Vongja- turapat, Naruepon	Tai Chi-based exercise for older adults with Parkinson's disease: a pilot-program eval- uation	5 days	Parkinson's Disease	17	OC (1)	тс	feasibility, safety, efficacy (physical performance
2007	Li, Yuhua; Devault, Cheri N.; van Ote- ghen, Sharon	Effects of extended Tai Chi in- tervention on balance and se- lected motor functions of the elderly	12	elderly with osteopenia or osteopo- rosis (male)	47	N/A (2)	TC, control	static and dynamic balance, choice reaction time, heel rise strength, ankle flexibil- ity
2007	Maciaszek, J.; O- siński, W.; Szekli- cki, R.; Stemp- lewski, R.	Effect of Tai Chi on body bal- ance: randomized controlled trial in men with osteopenia or osteoporosis	4,5	elderly with osteopenia or osteopo- rosis (male)	49	RCT (2)	TC, control	body balance, postura- graphy
2007	Richerson, Sa- mantha; Rosenda- le, Kyle	Does Tai Chi improve plantar sensory ability? A pilot study	6	diabetes and plantar sen- sory loss	18	OS (1)	тс	balance, plantar sensory perception
2007	Voukelatos, Alex- ander; Cumming, Robert G.; Lord, Stephen R.; Rissel, Chris	A randomized, controlled trial of tai chi for the prevention of falls: the Central Sydney tai chi trial	4	elders	702	RCT (2)	TC, waitlist control	balance
2007	Woo, Jean; Hong, Athena; Lau, Edith; Lynn, Henry	A randomised controlled trial of Tai Chi and resistance ex- ercise on bone health, muscle strength and balance in com- munity-living elderly people	4	elders	180	RCT (2)	TC, control	bone mineral density, mus- cle strength
2007	Yang, Yang; Ver- kuilen, Jay V.; Ro- sengren, Karl S.; Grubisich, Scott A.; Reed, Michael R.; Hsiao-Wecksler, Elizabeth T.	Effect of combined Taiji and Qigong training on balance mechanisms: a randomized controlled trial of older adults	6	elders	49	RCT ((2)	TC, wait list control	somatosensory, visual, ves- tibular ratios of the sensory organisation test; quiet stance base of support, feet opening angle

Legend: N/A = not available, TC = Tai Chi, RCT = randomized controlled trial, CT = controlled trial, OS = observational study

Year	Authors	Title	Durati- on in months	Study population	Sample size (n)	Design (number of study arms)	Study arms	Outcome domains
2007	Yang, Yang; Ver- kuilen, Jay; Ro- sengren, Karl S.; Mariani, Rachel A.; Reed, Michael; Grubisich, Scott A.; Woods, Jeffrey A.	Effects of a Taiji and Qigong intervention on the antibody response to influenza vaccine in older adults	5	elders	50	N/A (2)	TC, wait list control	immune response to influ- enza vaccine
2008	Chang, Rei-Yeuh; Koo, Malcolm; Yu, Zer-Ran; Kan, Chung-Ben; Chu, I- Tseng; Hsu, Chen- Tung; Chen, Cheng-Yun	The effect of t'ai chi exercise on autonomic nervous func- tion of patients with coronary artery disease	9	coronary artery dise- ase	61	N/A (2)	TC, control	heart rate variability
2008	Chen, Kuei-Min; Lin, Jong-Ni; Lin, Huey-Shyan; Wu, Hui-Chuan; Chen, Wen-Ting; Li, Chun-Huw; Kai Lo, Sing	The effects of a Simplified Tai-Chi Exercise Program (STEP) on the physical health of older adults living in long- term care facilities: a single group design with multiple time points	6	elders	51	OS (1)	тс	cardio-respiratory function, blood pressure, balance, hand-grip strength, lower body flexibility, and physical health actualization
2008	Cho, Kee-Lee	Effect of Tai Chi on depres- sive symptoms amongst Chi- nese older patients with major depression: the role of social support	3	elders	14	RCT (2)	TC, wait list control	depressive symptoms
2008	Hackney, Made- leine E.; Earhart, Gammon M.	Tai Chi improves balance and mobility in people with Parkin- son disease	3	Parkinson's Disease	33	RCT (2)	TC, control	balance, gait, mobility
2008	Irwin, Michael R.; Olmstead, Richard; Motivala, Sarosh J.	Improving sleep quality in older adults with moderate sleep complaints: A random- ized controlled trial of Tai Chi Chih	6	elders with sleep com- plaints	112	RCT (2)	TC, health education	sleep quality
2008	Lee, Hea-Young; Lee, Keum Jae	[Effects of Tai Chi exercise in elderly with knee osteoarthri- tis]	3	knee osteo- arthritis	46	N/A (2)	TC, control	pain, stiffness, disability, knee joint motion, mobility, balance, falling
2008	Li, Jing Xian; Xu, Dong Qing; Hong, Youlian	Effects of 16-week Tai Chi in- tervention on postural stability and proprioception of knee and ankle in older people	4	elders	N/A	N/A	N/A	postural stability, proprio- ception
2008	Matthews, Marga- ret M.; Williams, Harriet G.	Can Tai chi enhance cognitive vitality? A preliminary study of cognitive executive control in older adults after A Tai chi in- tervention	2,5	elders	20	OS (1)	тс	cognitive executive function
Legend	I: N/A = not available,	TC = Tai Chi, RCT = randomize	d controlled	d trial, CT = con	trolled trial	, OS = obse	ervational study	,

Year	Authors	Title	Durati- on in months	Study population	Sample size (n)	Design (number of study arms)	Study arms	Outcome domains
2008	Murphy, Lori; Singh, Betsy B.	Effects of 5-Form, Yang Style Tai Chi on older females who have or are at risk for devel- oping osteoporosis	3	osteoporosis	31	OS (1)	balance, functional strength, fall occurence	
2008	Shen, Chwan-Li; James, C. Roger; Chyu, Ming-C; Bixby, Walter R.; Brismée, Jean- Michel; Zumwalt, Mimi A.; Poklikuha, Glen	Effects of Tai Chi on gait kin- ematics, physical function, and pain in elderly with knee osteoarthritisa pilot study	1,5	knee osteo- arthritis	40	OS (1)	тс	knee pain and stiffness, gait kinematics, physical func- tion, pain, pain self-efficacy
2008	Tsang, William W. N.; Hui-Chan, Christina W. Y.	Sensorimotor control of bal- ance: a Tai Chi solution for balance disorders in older subjects	1	elders	N/A	N/A (2)	TC, general education	balance, limb joint proprio- ception, motor output at the level of knee muscles, inte- gration of neural signals in the centra nervous system for balance control
2008	Wang, Chenchen; Schmid, Christo- pher H.; Hibberd, Patricia L.; Kalish, Robert; Roubenoff, Ronenn; Rones, Ramel; Okpar- avero, Aghogho; McAlindon, Timo- thy	Tai Chi for treating knee oste- oarthritis: designing a long- term follow up randomized controlled trial	3	knee osteo- arthritis	40	RCT (2)	TC, wellness education and stretch- ing	WOMAC pain, function and stiffness, global assess- ment, lower extremity func- tion, knee proprioception, depression, self-efficacy, social support, quality of life, adherence, adverse events
2008	Wang, Jing Hao	Effects of Tai Chi exercise on patients with type 2 diabetes	2	diabetes type 2	12	OS (1)	TC	blood glucose, serum insu- lin, insulin receptor activity
2008	Yang, Yang; Ver- kuilen, Jay; Ro- sengren, Karl S.; Mariani, Rachel A.; Reed, Michael; Grubisich, Scott A.; Woods, Jeffrey A.; Schlagal, Bob	Effects of a traditional Tai- ji/Qigong curriculum on older adults' immune response to influenza vaccine	5	elders	50	N/A (2)	TC, controls	immune response to influ- enza vaccine
2008	Yeh, Gloria Y.; Mietus, Joseph E.; Peng, Chung- Kang; Phillips, Russell S.; Davis, Roger B.; Wayne, Peter M.; Gold- berger, Ary L.; Thomas, Robert J.	Enhancement of sleep stabil- ity with Tai Chi exercise in chronic heart failure: prelimi- nary findings using an ECG- based spectrogram method	3	heart failiure	18	RCT (2)	TC, usual care	sleep spectrogram (EEG based)
2008	Zhang, Ying; Fu, Frank H.	Effects of 14-week Tai Ji Quan exercise on metabolic control in women with type 2 diabetes	3,5	diabetes ty- pe 2 (fema- le)	20	RCT (2)	TC, control	metabolic control, lipid me- tabolism
Legend	1: N/A = not available,	TC = Tai Chi, RCT = randomize	d controlled	d trial, CT = con	trolled trial	, OS = obs	ervational study	,

Year	Authors	Title	Durati- on in months	Study population	Sample size (n)	Design (number of study arms)	Study arms	Outcome domains
2009	Blake, H.; Batson, M.	Exercise intervention in brain injury: a pilot randomized study of Tai Chi Qigong	2	traumatic brain injury	20	RCT (2)	TC, social control	mood, self-esteem, flexibil- ity, coordination, physical activity, social support
2009	Dechamps, Ar- naud; Gatta, Blan- dine; Bourdel- Marchasson, Isa- belle; Tabarin, An- toine; Roger, Pat- rick	Pilot study of a 10-week mul- tidisciplinary Tai Chi interven- tion in sedentary obese wom- en	2,5	sedentary obese (fe- male)	21	RCT (2)	TC, conven- tional exer- cise	weight, body composition, heart rate, blood pressure, mobility, mood, eating, self- efficacy
2009	Hackney, Made- leine E.; Earhart, Gammon M.	Health-related quality of life and alternative forms of exer- cise in Parkinson disease	3,25	Parkinson's Disease	75	RCT (4)	TC, Tango, Walz/Foxtrot t, control	mobility,social support, quality of life, PDQ-39
2009	Hall, Amanda M.; Maher, Chris G.; Latimer, Jane; Fer- reira, Manuela L.; Lam, Paul	A randomized controlled trial of tai chi for long-term low back pain (TAI CHI): study ra- tionale, design, and methods	2,5	low back pain	160	RCT (2)	TC, wait list control	symptoms, pain related dis- ability, quality of life, per- ceived effect of treatment
2009	Hall, Courtney D.; Miszko, Tanya; Wolf, Steven L.	Effects of Tai Chi intervention on dual-task ability in older adults: a pilot study	3	elders	15	N/A (2)	TC, health education	dual-task ability
2009	Hui, S. S. C.; Woo, J.; Kwok, T.	Evaluation of energy expendi- ture and cardiovascular health effects from Tai Chi and walk- ing exercise	3	middle-aged	N/A	N/A (2)	TC, walking	body composition, aerobic fitness, muscular fitness, fasting blood glucose, rest- ing metabolic rate, per- ceived health
2009	Lee, Hwa-Jin; Park, Hi-Joon; Chae, Younby- oung; Kim, Song- Yi; Kim, Seung- Nam; Kim, Seung- Tae; Kim, Je-Ho; Yin, Chang-Shik; Lee, Hyejung	Tai Chi Qigong for the quality of life of patients with knee osteoarthritis: a pilot, random- ized, waiting list controlled tri- al	2	knee osteo- arthritis	44	RCT (2)	TC, wait list contnrol	quality of life, symptoms, physical function
2009	Li, Jing Xian; Xu, Dong Qing; Hong, Youlian	Changes in muscle strength, endurance, and reaction of the lower extremities with Tai Chi intervention	4	elders	40	RCT (2)	TC, general education	muscle strength, endur- ance, reaction time of the lower extremities
Legend	I: N/A = not available,	TC = Tai Chi, RCT = randomize	d controlled	d trial, CT = con	trolled trial	, OS = obs	ervational study	

Year	Authors	Title	Durati- on in months	Study population	Sample size (n)	Design (number of study arms)	Study arms	Outcome domains
2009	Logghe, Inge H. J.; Zeeuwe, Petra E. M.; Verhagen, Ari- anne P.; Wijnen- Sponselee, Ria M. T.; Willemsen, Sten P.; Bierma- Zeinstra, Sita M. A.; van Rossum, Erik; Faber, Marjan J.; Koes, Bart W.	Lack of effect of Tai Chi Chuan in preventing falls in elderly people living at home: a randomized clinical trial	3,25	elders	269	RCT (2)	TC, usual care	falls, balance, fear of falling, cardiopulmonary funtion, physical activity, functional status
2009	Shen, Chwan-Li; Chyu, Ming-Chien; Yeh, James K.; Felton, Carol K.; Xu, Ke T.; Pence, Barbara C.; Wang, Jia-Sheng	Green tea polyphenols and Tai Chi for bone health: de- signing a placebo-controlled randomized trial	6	post- menopausal	140	RCT (4)	Placebo, green tea polyphenols, TC + place- bo, TC + green tea polyphenols	oxidative DNA damage markers, bone formation bi- omarkers, bone resorption biomarkers
2009	Song, Rhayun; Ahn, Sukhee; Roberts, Beverly L.; Lee, Eun Ok; Ahn, You Hern	Adhering to a t'ai chi program to improve glucose control and quality of life for individu- als with type 2 diabetes	6	diabetes ty- pe 2	99	CT (2)	TC 80% ad- herence, TC less than 80% adher- ence	glucose control, diabetic self care activities, quality of life
2010	Chang, Rei-Yeuh; Koo, Malcolm; Kan, Chung-Ben; Yu, Zer-Ran; Chu, I-Tseng; Hsu, Chen-Tung; Chen, Cheng-Yun	Effects of Tai Chi rehabilita- tion on heart rate responses in patients with coronary ar- tery disease	6	coronary artery dise- ase	54	N/A (2)	TC + usual care, usual care	prognostic factors of cardi- ac events, rate-pressure product and -reserve
2010	Dechamps, Ar- naud; Diolez, Philippe; Thi- audière, Eric; Tulon, Aurore; Oni- fade, Chérifa; Vuong, Tuan; Helmer, Catherine; Bourdel- Marchasson, Isa- belle	Effects of exercise programs to prevent decline in health- related quality of life in highly deconditioned institutionalized elderly persons: a randomized controlled trial	N/A	elders	N/A	RCT (N/A)	N/A	quality of life, ADL
2010	Huang, Hui-Chi; Liu, Chieh-Yu; Huang, Yu-Tai; Kernohan, W. George	Community-based interven- tions to reduce falls among older adults in Taiwan - long time follow-up randomised controlled study	5	elders	163	RCT (4)	TC, educa- tion, TC + education, control	falls and risk factors of falls, gait balance
2010	Lee, Linda Y. K.; Lee, Diana T. F.; Woo, Jean	The psychosocial effect of Tai Chi on nursing home resi- dents	6,5	elders	139	CT (2)	TC, usual care	psychosocial wellbeing in nursing home
2010Lelard, Thierry; Doutrellot, Pierre- Louis; David, Pas- cal; Ahmaidi, SaidEffects of a 12-week Tai Chi Chuan program versus a bal- ance training program on pos- tural control and walking abil- ity in older people3elders28							TC, balance training	postural control, walking a- bility
Legend	I: N/A = not available,	TC = Tai Chi, RCT = randomize	d controlled	trial, CT = con	trolled trial	, OS = obs	ervational study	,

Year	Authors	Title	Durati- on in months	Study population	Sample size (n)	Design (number of study arms)	Study arms	Outcome domains
2010	Li, Li; Manor, Brad	Long term Tai Chi exercise improves physical perfor- mance among people with pe- ripheral neuropathy	6	peripheral neuropathy	25	OS (1)	тс	plantar pressure detection, strength and standing bal- ance
2010	Liu, X.; Miller, Y. D.; Burton, N. W.; Brown, W. J.	A preliminary study of the ef- fects of Tai Chi and Qigong medical exercise on indicators of metabolic syndrome, gly- caemic control, health-related quality of life, and psychologi- cal health in adults with ele- vated blood glucose	3	adults with elevated blood glu- cose	11	OS (1)	тс	indicators of methabolic syndrome, glucose control, quality of life, stress and ddepressive symptoms
2010	Peppone, Luke J.; Mustian, Karen M.; Janelsins, Michelle C.; Palesh, Oxana G.; Rosier, Randy N.; Piazza, Ken- neth M.; Purnell, Jason Q.; Darling, Tom V.; Morrow, Gary R.	Effects of a structured weight- bearing exercise program on bone metabolism among breast cancer survivors: a feasibility trial	3	breast cancer sur- vivors	16	RCT (2)	TC, usual care	bone loss biomarkers
2010	Taylor-Piliae, Ruth E.; Newell, Kathryn A.; Cherin, Rise; Lee, Martin J.; King, Abby C.; Haskell, William L.	Effects of Tai Chi and West- ern exercise on physical and cognitive functioning in healthy community-dwelling older adults	6	elders	133	RCT (3)	TC, western exercise, at- tention- control	physical and cognitive func- tioning
2010	Uhlig, Till; Fongen, Camilla; Steen, El- dri; Christie, Anne; Ødegård, Sigrid	Exploring Tai Chi in rheuma- toid arthritis: a quantitative and qualitative study	3	rheumatoid arthritis	15	OS (1)	тс	disease activity, self- reported health status, physical performance
2010	Wang, Chenchen; Schmid, Chris- topherH; Rones, Ramel; Kalish, Robert; Yinh, Janeth; Golden- berg, DonL; Lee, Yoojin; McAlindon, Timothy	A randomized trial of tai chi for fibromyalgia	3	fibromyalgia	66	RCT (2)	TC + usual care, usual care	Fibromyalgia Impact Ques- tionanire (FIQ), physical and mental components of the SF-36 questionaire
2010	Wayne, Peter M.; Buring, Julie E.; Davis, Roger B.; Connors, Ellen M.; Bonato, Paolo; Patritti, Benjamin; Fischer, Mary; Yeh, Gloria Y.; Co- hen, Calvin J.; Car- roll, Danette; Kiel, Douglas P.	Tai Chi for osteopenic wom- en: design and rationale of a pragmatic randomized con- trolled trial	9	post- menopausal	N/A	RCT (2)	TC + usual care, usual care	bonde mineral density, se- rum markers, balance
Legend	1: N/A = not available,	TC = Tai Chi, RCT = randomize	d controlled	d trial, CT = con	trolled trial	, OS = obs	ervational study	

Year	Authors	Title	Durati- on in months	Study population	Sample size (n)	Design (number of study arms)	Study arms	Outcome domains
2010	Wu, Ge; Keyes, Lawrence; Callas, Peter; Ren, Xiaolin; Bookchin, Bea	Comparison of telecommuni- cation, community, and home- based Tai Chi exercise pro- grams on compliance and ef- fectiveness in elders at risk for falls	3,75	elders	64	RCT (3)	TC via tele- communica- tion, via community center, via video	exercise compliance, falls, fear of falling, balance, self- reported health
2010	Yeh, Gloria Y.; Roberts, David H.; Wayne, Peter M.; Davis, Roger B.; Quilty, Mary T.; Phillips, Russell S.	Tai chi exercise for patients with chronic obstructive pul- monary disease: a pilot study	3	chronic ob- structive pulmonary disease	10	RCT (2)	TC + usual care, usual care	quality of life, exercise ca- pacity
2011	Barbat-Artigas, Sébastien; Filion, Marie-Eve; Dupon- tgand, Sophie; Ka- relis, Antony D.; Aubertin-Leheudre, Mylène	Effects of tai chi training in dynapenic and nondynapenic postmenopausal women	3	post- menopausal	62	OS (1)	тс	body composition, handgrip strength, functional capaci- ty, cardiorespiratory func- tions
2011	Caminiti, Giusep- pe; Volterrani, Maurizio; Marazzi, Giuseppe; Cerrito, Anna; Massaro, Rosalba; Arisi, Ari- anna; Franchini, Alessio; Sposato, Barbara; Rosano, Giuseppe	Tai chi enhances the effects of endurance training in the rehabilitation of elderly pa- tients with chronic heart fail- ure	3	elderly with cronic heart failiure	60	RCT (2)	TC + endur- ance train- ing, endur- ance training	exercise tolerance, quality of life
2011	Carbonell-Baeza, Ana; Romero, Alejandro; Apari- cio, Virginia A.; Or- tega, Francisco B.; Tercedor, Pablo; Delgado- Fernández, Ma- nuel; Ruiz, Jonatan R.	Preliminary findings of a 4- month Tai Chi intervention on tenderness, functional capaci- ty, symptomatology, and qual- ity of life in men with fibrom- yalgia	4	fibromyalgia (male)	6	OS (1)	тс	tenderness, functional ca- pacity, symtomatology, quality of life
2011	Chan, Aileen W. K.; Lee, Albert; Suen, Lorna K. P.; Tam, Wilson W. S.	Tai chi Qigong improves lung functions and activity toler- ance in COPD clients: a sin- gle blind, randomized con- trolled trial	3	chronic ob- structive pulmonary disease	206	RCT (3)	TC, walking, control	respiratory functions, activi- ty tolerance
2011	Chang, Rei-Yeuh; Koo, Malcolm; Ho, Meng-Ying; Lin, Zi- Zi; Yu, Zer-Ran; Lin, Yen-Fen; Wang, Be-Jen	Effects of Tai Chi on adi- ponectin and glucose homeo- stasis in individuals with car- diovascular risk factors	60min	cardiovas- cular risk	26	OS (1)	тс	adiponectin, glucose home- ostasis
Legend	d: N/A = not available,	TC = Tai Chi, RCT = randomize	d controlle	d trial, CT = cor	ntrolled trial	, OS = obs	ervational study	1

Year	Authors	Title	Durati- on in months	Study population	Sample size (n)	Design (number of study arms)	Study arms	Outcome domains
2011	Fujimoto, Satoshi; Yamazaki, Sachiko; Wakaba- yashi, Akitsu; Matsuzaki, Yumi; Yasumura, Seiji	The effects of Tai-chi exercise for the prevention of long-term care in community-dwelling frail elderly people -New care- need certification and mortali- ty-	3,5	elders	118	CT (2)	TC, control	New care-need certification , motor fitness scale, maxi- mum walking speed over 10 meters, functional reach test, ability to stand after a long period of sitting, and maximum one step width.
2011	Huang, Tzu-Ting; Yang, Lin-Hui; Liu, Chia-Yih	Reducing the fear of falling among community-dwelling elderly adults through cogni- tive-behavioural strategies and intense Tai Chi exercise: a randomized controlled trial	N/A	elders	N/A	RCT (3)	TC + cogni- tive- behavioural, cognitive- behavioural, control	fear of falling
2011	Janelsins, Michelle C.; Davis, Paul G.; Wideman, Laurie; Katula, Jeffrey A.; Sprod, Lisa K.; Peppone, Luke J.; Palesh, Oxana G.; Heckler, Charles E.; Williams, Jacqueline P.; Mor- row, Gary R.; Mustian, Karen M.	Effects of Tai Chi Chuan on insulin and cytokine levels in a randomized controlled pilot study on breast cancer survi- vors	3	breast cancer sur- vivors	19	CT (2)	TC, control	insulin and cytokine levels
2011	Lam, Linda C. W.; Chau, Rachel C. M.; Wong, Billy M. L.; Fung, Ada W. T.; Lui, Victor W. C.; Tam, Cindy C. W.; Leung, Grace T. Y.; Kwok, Timo- thy C. Y.; Chiu, Helen F. K.; Ng, Sammy; Chan, W. M.	Interim follow-up of a random- ized controlled trial comparing Chinese style mind body (Tai Chi) and stretching exercises on cognitive function in sub- jects at risk of progressive cognitive decline	12	adults at risk of cognitive decline	389	RCT (2)	TC, stret- ching	cognitive function
2011	Toda, Masahiro; Den, Rei; Hasega- wa-Ohira, Masako; Morimoto, Kanehi- sa	Influence of personal patterns of behavior on the effects of Tai Chi: a pilot study	20min	healthy (fe- male)	22	OS	тс	Profile of Mood States (POMS) score
2012	Chen, Ellen W.; Fu, Amy S. N.; Chan, K. M.; Tsang, William W. N.	The effects of Tai Chi on the balance control of elderly per- sons with visual impairment: a randomised clinical trial	N/A	elders with visual im- pairment.	40	RCT (2)	TC, control	(i) passive knee joint reposi- tioning to test knee proprio- ception; (ii) concentric iso- kinetic strength of the knee extensors and flexors and (iii) a sensory organisation test to quantify an individu- al's ability to maintain bal- ance in a variety of complex sensory conditions
Legend	I: N/A = not available,	TC = Tai Chi, RCT = randomize	d controlled	trial, CT = con	trolled trial	, OS = obs	ervational study	,

Year	Authors	Title	Durati- on in months	Study population	Sample size (n)	Design (number of study arms)	Study arms	Outcome domains
2012	Jung, Seil; Lee, Eun-Nam; Lee, Sook-Ryon; Kim, Mi-Sook; Lee, Myeong Soo	Tai chi for lower urinary tract symptoms and quality of life in elderly patients with benign prostate hypertrophy: a ran- domized controlled trial	3	patients with benign prostate hy- pertrophy	56	RCT (2)	TC, usual care	lower urinary tract symp- toms (LUTSs), quality of life (QoL), and sex hormone levels
2012	Li, Fuzhong; Harmer, Peter; Fitzgerald, Kath- leen; Eckstrom, Elizabeth; Stock, Ronald; Galver, Johnny; Maddaloz- zo, Gianni; Batya, Sara S.	Tai chi and postural stability in patients with Parkinson's disease	6	Parkinson's Disease	195	RCT (3)	TC, re- sistance training, stretching	postural control
2012	Lu, Xi; Hui-Chan, Christina Wy; Tsang, William Wn	Effects of Tai Chi training on arterial compliance and mus- cle strength in female seniors	4	elders (fe- male)	31	RCT (2)	TC, educati- on	arterial compliance, muscle strength
2012	Reid-Arndt, Steph- anie A.; Matsuda, Sandy; Cox, Cathy R.	Tai Chi effects on neuropsy- chological, emotional, and physical functioning following cancer treatment: a pilot study	2,5	cancer sur- vivors (fe- male)	23	OS (1)	тс	neuropsychology, balance, self-report (neuropsycholo- gy, stress and mood, fa- tigue
2012	Taylor-Piliae, RuthE; Coull, BruceM	Community-based Yang-style Tai Chi is safe and feasible in chronic stroke: a pilot study	3	stroke survi- vors	28	RCT (2)	TC, usual care	safety, feasibility, recruit- ment rates, intervention ad- herence, adverse events, study satisfaction, drop- outs, adaequacy of out- come measures
2012	Tousignant, Michel; Corriveau, Helene; Roy, Pierre-Michel; Desrosiers, Jo- hanne; Dubuc, Ni- cole; Hebert, Re- jean; Tremblay- Boudreault, Va- lerie; Beaudoin, Audree-Jeanne	The effect of supervised Tai Chi intervention compared to a physiotherapy program on fall-related clinical outcomes: a randomized clinical trial	N/A	elders	152	RCT (2)	TC + physio- therapy	fall related variables (bal- ance, gait, fear of falling, functional autonomy, self- actualisation, self-efficacy)
2012	Wayne, Peter M.; Kiel, Douglas P.; Buring, Julie E.; Connors, Ellen M.; Bonato, Paolo; Yeh, Gloria Y.; Co- hen, Calvin J.; Mancinelli, Chiara; Davis, Roger B.	Impact of Tai Chi exercise on multiple fracture-related risk factors in post-menopausal osteopenic women: a pilot pragmatic, randomized trial	9	post- menopausal	86	RCT (2)	TC + usual care, usual care	bonde mineral density, se- rum markers, balance

Legend: N/A = not available, TC = Tai Chi, RCT = randomized controlled trial, CT = controlled trial, OS = observational study

t) , "?" This criterion was not mentioned in the manuscript)
011
I. (2
et a
Y Li
ąb
este
-66n
as si
SW C
erio
crit
This
*
(Legenc
ies.
stud
Shi s
ľai (
en]
sev
s of
ilysi
ana
iled
Deta
3:
dix
ben
ō

	Taylor-Piliae et al. (2012) Stroke # 7	RCT	1. Tai Chi 2. standard care	N = 28	Chronic stroke	m	0, 3	Ŷ	2	The aim was 1) to assess the safety and reaching vid 2.2-week program (35 one-hour sessions) of Yang 10, 24 optime and Tain Chini adult strike survivors at + three months posischek. 2) to describe within group changes in physical functioning and quality of file.	 Short physical performance Short physical performance speed, lower body strength Aerobic enturance: Caminus step-in-place test Caminus step-in-place test Caminus of file RF:36) Phibsurgh Step Quality Index. (FSIQ) Di Papression scale of the contex of epidemiologic studies (CES-D)
	Li et al. (2005) Seniors # 6	RCT	1. Tai Chi 2. stretching	N = 256	Seniors	Q	0, 3, 6 1 variable was assessed daily	12 1 variable was assessed daily	Yes, implementation research	The aim was The aim was 1) to evaluate the efficacy of a 6-month Tai Chi intervention on falls in a sample of adults sged 70 and older. 2) to sases functionate abiity (dealmee, physical petromone) and fear of fall physical petromone) and fear of tailen-ention follow up, whether intervention gains obtained during maintained maintained	 Daily fall calendar Balance Balance Berg balance scale Dynamic Gat Index Fundional reach School speed walk Dybsical performance School speed walk D Up & Go Test D Up & Go Test
ioned in the manuscript)	Wayne et al. (2010/2012) Osteopenic Women # 5	RCT	1. Tai Chi + standard care 2. standard care (waitlist)	N = 86 (women)	Osteopenia	σ	0, 3, 9	N	Yes, study rationale	The aim was the feasibility of conducting a RCT rial Chi exercise conducting a RCT rial Chi exercise for post-menopausal osteopenic women (recuriment, administering women (recuriment, administering women (recuriment) and the measurements, alciding subjects in the hall) 21 to collect preliminary data on the effectiveness of Tar and that on the effectiveness of Tar and that on the effectiveness of Tar and that on the hall) 21 to collect preliminary data evaluating the hall. 21 to collect preliminary data evaluating the homed-anical, physiological, and systological mechanisms through which Tar Chi mechanisms through which Tar Chi mechanisms through which Tar Chi mechanisms through which Tar Chi mechanisms through sections to provide Tar Chi mechanisms at anturalistic setting and manner.	 Bone turnover markers Bone turnover markers Quality of life Quality of life Quality of life Quality of life Tai Chi class attendance and home Tai Chi class attendance and home Inarcite compliance Non-Tai Chi and physical activity Substudy: biomotion Changes: in joint kinetics and dynamic balance control during gait
This criterion was not menti	Taylor-Piliae et al. (2010) Seniors # 4	RCT	1. Tai Chi 2. Western exercise 3. Attention control	N = 133	Seniors	Q	0, (3), 6	12	Yes, 2	The aim was to evaluate the effects of Ta Chi to evaluate the effects of Ta Chi versus a standard program of western exercises consisting of addorespiratory- tendurance strength of adultiny training on physical and cognitive functioning in healthy, community- dwelling adults age 80 and older.	 Physical functioning all allows single leg stance, all abatroce single leg stance, intructional reach test thruncate strength and endurances: thread am curd and chair-stand test of flexbibility. Back-socratch, sit and reach tests and reach tests
s suggested by Li et al. (2011) , "?"	Yang et al (2007) Seniors, (TC + QG) # 3	RCT	1. Tại Chi 2. wait list control	N = 49	Seniors	Q	0, 2, 6	No		We hypothesized that Tai Chi and Qigong (TQ) training would improve older adult's ability to effectively use perception information relevant for batance control. It as also hypothesized that TQ learners would adopt a larger starce width.	 Sensory Organisation Test (EquiTest) Base of support and feet opening angle
(Legend: * This criterion wa	Wang et al. (2010) Fibromyalgia # 2	RCT	1. Tai Chi 2. wellness education and stretching	N = 66 (men)	Fibromyalgia	ო	0, 3 1 variable was assessed weekly	Q		We hypothesized that at the end of the 12-week intervention period, patients in the Ta Chi group would have greater the Ta Chi group would have greater in musculositetal pain and greater improvements in sleep quality. Physical and psychological fundion, and hashir rated and psychological fundion, and those in the control group.	 Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire (FIQ) C) (FIQ) C) (Globb pain status (via VAS) Mumber of trander status Mumber of trander status Depression scale of the canter of epidemiologic studies (CES-D) Ducome expectations for exercise scale Chronic pain self efficacy scale Quality of file (SF-36)
seven Tai Chi studies.	Li et al. (2012) Parkinson # 1	RCT	1. Tai Chi 2. Resistance training 3. stretching	N = 195	Parkinson's Disease	9	0, 3, 6	σ	Previous research 3, study rationale included as attachment	We hypothesized that lai chi wuud be more effective in impoving postural stability in impoving tasks intan a resistance-based a varcise regimen or low-impact stretching (control).	 Limits of stability: In maximum excursion, In maximum excursion, Interchinal control of interchinal control Balance Master System) Buside Strent, isokinetic dynamoneter) Ruside Strent, isokinetic dynamoneter) Fundional reach Timed Up and Go Unitied Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale Falls Other Parkinson's Disease b) Habitua physical activity c) medication use (NCQ) Quality of fie(SF-36) I cuelting (SAFFE)
Detailed analysis of	Reporting criterion	Study design	Study groups	Sample size	Target population	Total duration of the intervention in months	Times of assessment (Months)	Was a follow up measure included?	Did the authors build on previously conducted research?	What was the hypothesis? What was the aim of the study?	Which outcome domains were included?
lix 3:	#	5	D-2	D-3	P4	D-5	D-6	D-7	D-8	2 2	0 - -
Append	Topic									Design	

Appendix 3: Detailed analysis of seven Tai Chi studies.. (Legend: * This criterion was suggested by Li et al. (2011), "?" This criterion was not mentioned in the manuscript)

	2012) Stroke	stablishing a tracking g personalized for al appetts of the for al appetts of the draft and the all chinistructor, in maintaining good quate subject safety outpatient rehabilitation vienne elebriators, all for rest periods and se if needed, the 1 al Chi bipects for correct foot in attendance at all	s were recruited in 10-12 and alcosted via todo of rancomtation educe drop outs: each w a slip of paper to be study arm.	of Tai Chi was well toherence was high, no adverse events and ly satistaction within	s was high. Ie Tai Chi group	aater improvements in	sater improvements in adurance and quality of ual care controls.
	Taylor-Piliae et al. # 7	Nes, several retention strategies e.g. method uning reculment, provid reback, using the same denot study, personal attention and enot study, personal attention and enot providing appropriate incentives comminication. Several strategies to provide ad e.g. small dass size, TC classes if activities opport with automated subjects had a chair mearby ball subjects had a chair mearby ball attention continuously monitored placements. a registered runse w sessions	ignments were barticipar uter-allocated spotal of the an elocated aiming to on was conducted subject di ssment.	ed greater tal number of falls, The dose us and injurious tolerated, g control group overal sti	ed greater By trend,	I measures of showed g	Il measures of showed g e, physical balance, fear of falling than u
	Li et al. (2005) Seniors # 6	ž	Randomization ass generated by comp random untrotes s of 11.1. Randomizati after baseline asse	Tai Chi group shov improvements in to proportion of falle falls than stretchin	Tai Chi group shov		functional balance functional balance
•	Wayne et al. (2010/2012) Osteopenic Women # 5	Yes: Trashiniy, Trashing of program fidelity, transhing of program fidelity, exit intervews, exit program and home practice logs exit ty practicemants the end of each month + non-compliant participants were contacted immediately to identify and overcome barriels)	Randomization assignments were genreated by a computer program using a permitted block design with a variable block ster. Pandomization assessment.	Tai Chi group showed greater improvements in bone metabolism than controls.			Tai Chi group greater improvements in
	Taylor-Piliae et al. (2010) Seniors # 4	2	Participants were randomized in a disproximeture with esproximeture manner with the work of the work of the work of the work of the store for the store for the store for the store for subsequent suplemental study.)Randomization was conducted after baseline assessment. 21 of the 383 eligible participants retursed randomizzation and withdrew from the study	Tai Chi group showed greater improvement in single leg stance than attention control group.	Western exercise group showed greater improvement in upper body flexibility than Tai Chi group and attention control	-	group.
	Yang et al (2007) Seniors, (TC + QG) # 3	Ves: Qualitative statistical interview conducted on select Tai Chi/Ogong participants	Participants were allocated using cluster randomization (for 3 sites separately) with the third generator of www.randomization.com by a random permutation of integers. Anticipating group cus, a greater number of periopants were assigned to the T al Chi group frast 70% of of the numbers). One coole received only one number in derive be assigned to the same group. Randomization was conducted after taseline assessment. 19 of the eligible 68 participants were not randomized due to choice, scheduling or convenience and were excluded from the data analysis		Tai Chi group performed consistently better than waitist controls in Sensory Organization Test and quiet stance Base of Support, Within Tai Chi group improvement		was greatest within the first 2 months. Tai Chi group adomted a wider stance width.
)	Wang et al. (2010) Fibromyalgia # 2	2	Participants were allocated in 3 randomization cycles, using computer- generated numbers. Remaination on cycles using computer baseline assessment. Preference: Pr	Tai Chi group higher improvement in Fibromyalgia impact Questionnaire than controls did. Improvements were maintained for 24 weeks.			Tai Chi group higher improvement in
	Li et al. (2012) Parkinson # 1	Yes: tracking of program fidelity, tracking on disrementation interview to determine the reasons for leaving the study	Randomization assignments were generated by permuted book randomization with an alocation of 1:1:1. Randomization was conducted after baseline assessment. 3 of 309 eligible patients refused randomization and withdrew from the study from the study restrictants on the the aim of the study was to compare three study was to compare three antimg to minimize precision. antimg to minimize precision antimg to minimize precision authors.	Tai Chi group performed consistently better than both control groups in the limits of stability test	Tai Chi group performed better than stretching control in all secondary outcomes.		Tai Chi group performed better
	Reporting criterion	Mas there a qualitative arm embedded in the study?	In RCTs: Which ranks used and was method was used and was preference an issue?	Primary Outcome			
	*	Ę	5	Ъ		-	
	Topic		Desig				:

No adverse events.

No serious adverse events, 9 minor adverse events (mainly musculoskeletal No adverse events related).

Not mentioned

Not mentioned

No adverse events

No serious adverse events

Adverse Events

R-3

Ta Chi group and resistance training group **lowered the** incidence of falls.

Taylor-Piliae et al. (2012) Stroke # 7	6	~	We examined recruitment rates of the inherential subjects adherence to the inherential subjects issues (i.e. fails or adverse events issues (i.e. fails or adverse events dono-outs, and adequacy of the outcomes measures; as indicators outcomes measures; as indicators dony cally the adverse outcomes events during Tai Chi classes.	Yes (overall satisfaction with being in the study, gain of personal benefits, would recommend the study to others)	The majority of subjects reported (71%, n=18), would recommend (71%, n=20), would recommend and reported their overall and reported their overall satisfaction as high (6.3 (50–1.9); 1=not satisfied, 10=most satisfied)	Yes (in a flowchart)	In a full-scale study, 52 subjects / full-scale study, 52 subjects / statistically significant between group differences. a dequacy of solucome measures is discussed improvements are suggested.	35/40
Li et al. (2005) Seniors # 6	Number of attended sessions were tracked	2	7 0 intervention related injuries or falls were observed during the course of the study.	Q	2	Yes (in a flowchart)	1) The way in which Tai Chi improved physical deficits occasioned by senescence b) Question of costs (e.g. costs per fail p) Question) c) Targehing frail elders with specific disease risks	3340
Wayne et al. (2010/2012) Osteopenic Women # 5	a) Number of attended sessions and additional practice time was tracked in both groups b) Tracking of program fidelity	? qualitative arm addressed this issue, but did not report results	Adverse events were tracked both through instructors and participants through instructors and participants (froms and monthy safety calls) for an adminibulation of the 1 st month) through the study staff the 1 st month) through the study staff minor AEs: 0 minor AEs: 0 minor AEs: 0 (7 in 1 st group, musculoskeletal related) to TC training, musculoskeletal related)	Yes (exit interviews of participants)	Participant reported satisfaction with their TC intervention was very high	Yes (in the text)	Suggestion of longer observation intervels, suggestion of more structured contact with study participants to improve adherence	37/40
Taylor-Piliae et al. (2010) Seniors # 4	~	2	~	No	~	Yes (in a flowchart)	Suggestion of longer observation intervals: For an exacts regimen to be "successful" for this population. It may not need to improve significant increases in functioning but simply prevention so welden so that increases and quality of the are maintened. To less they hypothesis, specific interventions will need to be tested for years, not just weeks of months.	29/40
Yang et al (2007) Seniors, (TC + QG) # 3	The content of the intervention was predetermined and described in a detailed schedule. No information is given about further evaluation or monitoring.	6	~	94	~	Yes (in a flowchart)	suggestion of 3 topics for future studies: a) importance of one sterright. In neuronuscular activity. In insurinuscular activity. In insuring a sterritic for a structure components of traditional Tai Chi forms: usgestion of short Tai Chi forms: the structure of the study association of structure of the structure descend in this study are deviced primer homes consored in this study are deviced primer homes of the study and any form choosegraphy. In other words, it is no thinportant where 12, 24, or 108 movement forms are a laught in an intervention (indeed, movement forms may discourage older adults and decrease participation).	22/40
Wang et al. (2010) Fibromyalgia # 2	Number of missed sessions were tracked, subjects were asked to complete daily logs about their training, subjects who missed a class were asked to attend a makeup class	2	Throughout the entire intervention period, we monitored adverse events, using a standard adverse-event case report form at each viry. This form included a description of all unanticipated benefits and undesirable experiences, penduarly falls and excerbations of fibromyaigia symptoms.	QN	~	Yes (in a flowchart)	Ŷ	32/40
Li et al. (2012) Parkinson # 1	Slandardized intervention protocol and process evaluation creachist: a instructor qualification and bi and distribution of the bi baaching distribution of the individual forms and movements consistency in training dosage across different sites weeky dass attendance e) weeky dass attendance	2	Adverse events were documented in an adverse log and, in the event of observing a mejor doverse event, reported immediately. A summary is provided in form of a table for "in dass" and "out of class' separately.	2	~	Yes (in a flowchart)	No. but their article poses a good example of reporting Tal Chi interventions	38/40
Reporting criterion	(How) Was the process of the intervention monitored?	Which barriers to participation were encountered?	How were adverse events monitored and reported?	Was the evaluation of the Tai Chi training and/or the instructor by study subjects available?	Did the participants like the intervention? There the participants interested in continuing with the activity?	Are the reasons for Drop Outs reported?	Do authors give any information or hints for future research attempts ?	How many items of the modified CONSORT statement provided by Li et al (2011) were reported?
#	Σ	E-2	<u>е</u>	Е-4*	ъ Ч	ę E	г- Э	۵ ۲
Topic			Experi-	ences				Quality of repor- ting

Appendix 3: Detailed analysis of seven Tai Chi studies. (Legend: * This criterion was suggested by Li et al. (2011), "?" This criterion was not mentioned in the manuscript)

	Taylor-Piliae et al. (2012) Stroke # 7	Tai Chi [] is a low-cost, low- impact, moderate-intensity
	Li et al. (2005) Seniors # 6	
tioned in the manuscript)	Wayne et al. (2010/2012) Osteopenic Women # 5	Tai Ohi alaa laasaa aa Tai Ohi Ohusaa
This criterion was not ment	Taylor-Piliae et al. (2010) Seniors # 4	
s suggested by Li et al. (2011) , "?"	Yang et al (2007) Seniors, (TC + QG) # 3	Tai Chi (commonly spelled "T'ai Chi" or "Tai Chi") is a centuries- old exercise that is a fusion of Chinese
(Legend: * This criterion wa	Wang et al. (2010) Fibromyalgia # 2	
even Tai Chi studies.	Li et al. (2012) Parkinson # 1	
Detailed analysis of s	Reporting criterion	
dix 3:	#	
Appen	Topic	

c # Reporting crite	0-1 How is Tai Chi define the authors?	0-2 What was the goal of intervention?
Li et al. (2012) rion Parkinson # 1	ad by a balance based exercise.	To maintain balance through postural control through a postural control through a taloved To for pogram to tax belance and dagram movements, such as weight shifting. controlled displacement of the center of mass over and lateral stepping.
Wang et al. (2010) Fibromyalgia # 2	Tai Chi is a mind-body practice that originated in China as a martial at. It combines meditation with slow, gentle, gradeli movements as well as deep preathing and relaxation, to move viral energy (or q) throughout the body.	None sportfed.
Yang et al (2007) Seniors, (TC + QG) # 3	Tai Chi (commonly spelled "Tai Chi" or "Tai Chi") is a conturies- old exercise that is a tusion of Chinese pribosophy and metal and healing at Tai Chi Thess pribosophy and metal and healing at Tai Chi Thess reserved increasing attention within both the public and signific communities because a the at is a holistic form of exercise heat was designed to improve, among other things, balance strength, condition aginy, reaction time, feedbilly, and postural control (ref). It are accordatistic forms of exercise and medical transmet, a century. Tai Chine for over a century of the adia norceasing the and other additoral forms of exercise and medical transmet, d) the relatively slow and gentle movements of the art are especially well suited to the defort, and are especially well suited to the defort are a	A traditional curriculum that emphasized both forms and starting and stiting Olgong meditation was intentionally examined. The form movements were chosen to focus on basic mobility shifting to both sides (stepping and pixoting forward, backward, sideways, diagonally, range of mobility shifting to both sides (stepping and pixoting forward, backward, sideways, and coordination. They were also select for their adaptability and use with an older population . The veatured movement set was utilized to reduce accomplishment over a short period.
Taylor-Piliae et al. (2010) Seniors # 4	Tai Chi is an Eastern form of exercise. It is a greater town and exercise that has been practiced in China for hundreds of years. During the hundreds of years. During the hundreds of years. During the hundriduales are taught to be middludes are taught to be with their bodies are adoing and how it release the goal is for the write body to remain relaxed while practicing and the breathing control.	None specified.
Wayne et al. (2010/2012) Osteopenic Women # 5	Tai Chi, also known as Tai Chi Chuan and Tai Chi Chuan, as ai si sorois in the and Tai Chi Chuan, as this roots in the and tai and the tark yet for centuries millions of Chinese lave, practiced lts howing, meditariwe movements to cuthreate and maintain health. Tai Chi employs detailed regimens of physical and maintain health. Tai Chi employs detailed regimens of physical cognitive tools (both visualization and cossed internal avaeness) to strengthen, relax and integrate the body and mind.	None specified.
Li et al. (2005) Seniors # 6	None spacified.	None specified.
Taylor-Piliae et al. (2012) Stroke # 7	Tai Chi [] is a bw-cost, low- magnet, molecul-misnisity exercise that propeals to older admits1 combining physical movements with mental convented on and releadon. The solum france is the contentuous sequence, while body movements are inheel together in control system to mentalm its control system to mentalm its are doing and how it feels while performing Tai Chi.	None specified.

Topic	#	Reporting criterion	Li et al. (2012) Parkinson # 1	Wang et al. (2010) Fibromyalgia # 2	Yang et al (2007) Seniors, (TC + QG) # 3	Taylor-Piliae et al. (2010) Seniors # 4	Wayne et al. (2010/2012) Osteopenic Women # 5	Li et al. (2005) Seniors # 6	Taylor-Piliae et al. (2012) Stroke # 7
	7	How long was the intervention (weeks)?	24	12	24	48	36	24	12
	1-2*	Was the Tai Chi training center-based or home- based or both?	Center-based	both	Center based: 3 senior centers	both	Both	center	Center based
	1-3*	If it is center-based, how often was the Tai Chi training class per week and how long did a Tai Chi training class last (minutes)?	2x / week. 60 minuues	2x / week, 60 minutes	3x / week 60minuuss (30min Qigong, 30min Tai Chi)	1ª 24 weeks. 1ª 24 week, 60min home: 3x / week, 2nd 24 weeks. home: 3x / week, 60min home: 3x / week	Minimum requirement: 14 A veeks. canter: 2x / week, 60min canter: 2x / week, 30min 2rd 32 weeks. canter: 1x / week, 60min home/canter: 3x / week, 30min	3x / week practice time not reported	3x / week, 50min
	1-4	How many groups were built? How many people were in one group? How was the group fitted together?	7, 8-12, 7	~	3 groups adding to N = 33	8-10	Participants weren't organized in groups, there were 6 TC schools involved	2	2 groups with 6 participants each
Dose	1-5	Where the participants provided with information materials?	ž	Yes: Printed materials on its (TCs) principles and techniques	~	Yes: a) motival counseling session by das instructor bour program schedule, saflety issues, intervention procedures powriten instructions, illustrations of the postures, videotape	~	~	Yes, after the end of the study period (DVD and TC workbook)
	-1-6	Did the participants have previous Tai Chi experience? How much?	~	Having practiced Tai Chi within the last 6 months was an exclusion criterion.	~	Yes: TC: 19%, western exercise: 25%, attention control: 25%	Rurrent regular practice of Tai Chi or within the past 2 years was an exclusion criterion.	6	~
	1-7	How were the rest periods determined during the intervention?	~	~	~	Chairs available for participants to rest as needed	2	6	Chairs available for participants to rest as needed, in addition participants were allowed to use canes or walkers as needed
		Which was the minimum adherence rate required? What attendance rate was achieved?	Expected adherence rate: 75%, exclusion with 4 consecutive classes missed	Expected adherence rate: 7, Achieved tabendance rate: TC: 77%, Control: 70%	~	1 ⁴ 24 weeks achieved adherence rate TC: 77%, western exercise: 68%, attention control: 67% 2 rd 24 weeks: achieved adherence rate TC: 65%, western exercise: 53%, attention control: 7	26 (60%) of the TC participants met the attendance rate saked (99.5h) verage attendance rate actived was 83.2h, range = 0.226h tan in other (lower tandance rate than in other tudies was attendance rate transing the component of a peer group sharing the same medical condition).	92. (80%) of the TC participants attended 50 sessions or more (of 78), 87. (81%) od stretching control attended 50 sessions or more median = 61 for both groups	TC: 92%, (33 of 36 sessions) usual care: 99%, (12 of 12 sessions)
	1-9	Did the participants practice at home?	forbidden	7, They were encouraged to practice at least 20min per day	~	7, Participants were assigned 3 home- based exercise essions per week. Tal Chi students were encouraged to practice daity.	?, Participants were assigned 2-3 home- based exercise sessions per week.	2	~

Appendix 3: Detailed analysis of seven Tai Chi studies. (Legend: * This criterion was suggested by Li et al. (2011), "?" This criterion was not mentioned in the manuscript)

Li et al. (2012) Wang et al. (2 # Reporting criterion Parkinson #1 #2 What style of Tai Chi (Yano.	Li et al. (2012) Wang et al. (3 Reporting criterion Parkinson Fibromyak #1 #2 What style of Tai Chi (Yano.	Li et al. (2012) Wang et al. (5 Parkinson Fibromyak #1 #2	Wang et al. () Fibromyalı # 2	2010) Jia	Yang et al (2007) Seniors, (TC + QG) # 3	Taylor-Piliae et al. (2010) Seniors # 4	Wayne et al. (2010/2012) Osteopenic Women # 5	Li et al. (2005) Seniors # 6	Taylor-Piliae et al. (2012) Stroke # 7
thma style of it all thin (Pang) Chen, Sun etc.) was used 2.1* in the Intervention described?	what stype of i at Chi (Pang, Chen, Sur etc.) was used in the Intervention described?	Tailored 8-Form Yang, 10-Form	Yang, 10-Form		Chen, a) tailored 7-Form adapted from 48-form b) one single figure "golden cock stands on one leg"	Yang, 24- form	fist forms of Yang (41%), Wu (59%), Chen, Sun style	Yang, 24-form	Yang, 24-form
What did a Tal Chi training What did a Tal Chi training session consists of in the session consists of in the study? Were than the other non-Tai Chi exercises 5-10min warm-up, core activities, review of principles, movements, in relating session? Warm-up and self-massage, training session? Satic training session 22* training session? Emin cool down Directing techniques and relexation Tai Chi in tai chi	What did a Tal Chi training seesion consists of in the seesion consists of in the seesion consists of the seesion of principles, movements, included in a Tal Chi finition session 7 fraining session 7 fraining session 7 fraining session 7 fraining session 7 static static mathing session (def	5-10min warm-up, core activities, Warm-up and self-massage. static review of principles, movements, Instr breathing techniques and relexation Tai (in fai chi	Warm-up and self-massage. static review of principles, movements, instr breathing techniques and relaxation Tai (in tai chi	static Instri Tai (deta	Qigong, dynamic Qigong, Tai Chi Form, Lioto demonstration, Xi Principles discussed lied schedule provided by the authors)	45min instruction including warm-up exercises	Essential curricular requirements included: Tail principles (see 2-5'). Non-Tai Chi to mponents were allowed if they were conducted in the spirit of Tai Chi: such as balance, fexbility, continuity and sef-awareness training, meditation, settimess, excluded was interactive Tail or hexercises. Excluded was ancillary equipment or matrial arts.	5-10min warm up, TC practice, 5-10min cool down, tastruction covered learning new movements and eviewing and eviewing movements learned in provements accompariment musical accompariment	20min warm up, 30 min TC, 10min œol down
Did the content of the class The first 10 weeks emphasized the change with time? The first 10 weeks emphasized the market of single interfacements and interfacements and interfacements and increase locared on repetitions: later weeks before and increase locared on. The first 10 weeks emphasized the market of the market on the single repetitions to enhance and increase locared on repetitions. The first 10 weeks emphasized the market on the single repetitions to enhance and increase locared on repetitions. The first 10 weeks emphasized the market on the single repetitions to enhance end betweeks emphasized the enhance end increase locared on repetitions. The first 10 weeks emphasized the enhance end first 10 weeks emphasized the enhance end betweek emphasized the enhance end first 10 weeks emphasized the enhance end the enh	Did the content of the class change with time? The first 10 weeks emphasized the three more than the first 10 weeks emphasized the matches of single interfaces the matches the matches represented on repetitions: later weeks the belance and increase loomotion.	The first 10 weeks emphasized the The multiple repetitions: later weeks to commutiple repetitions: later weeks to coused on repetitions to enhance balance and increase locomotion.	7The com exer (see	The coni exec end (see	seren individual movements were gradually reced by transions until threy could be used continuously, from start to finish, by the of the forth month. : schedule provided by the authors)	A new posture was laught each week month the first reveix, with the entire sequence of postures practiced together during the following 12 weeks: 12 additional postures were weeks 12 additional postures were taught, with participants learning a ball of 24 postures during the study.	~	~	The TC form was gradually taught over the 12 weeks
Were specific Tai Chi Yes Yes movements used in the training described and illustrated? Yes Yes	Were specific Tai Chi Yes Yes movements used in the training described and illustrated? Yes Yes	Yes Yes (lexit + reference: 3 articles) (1 monograph) (the	Yes (1 monograph)	Yes (the	ligures' names were reported)	Yes (reference: 3 monographs)	9V	Yes, (1 monograph)	Yes, (inventor of the form: Dr Pi-Lu Fei, 1 monograph, youtube link)
What were the major What were the major components (a. slow components (a. slow momentary momentary momentary concentration and deep concentration and deep Relax breaking) of rai Chi that shiftin were emphasized in the Netural breathing ? 25 training?	What were the major components (a. slow components), mental concentration and deep concentration and deep concentration and deep concentration and deep concentration and deep were emphasized in the Natural breathing training? ? ? ? ? ? ? ?	Netural breathing ? Prince	Relax shifth example princt	Relax: shiftin relaxa princir world	alon, range of motion, breathing, weight g, awareness, body alignment, carrying tion to Qigong and form, carrying Tai Chi Jies to daiy activities, interaction with the and importance of attitude/happiness	Body orientation, relaxation, breathing, attention to feeling. Inattention to thoughts, upright and relaxed postue, symmetry, weight shifting, a slow and relaxed pace	 Relaxed continuous movement Related continuous movement Wortical side alignment Mortical side alignment Mortical side alignment Instruction on breathing techniques 	Mutidirectional weight shifting, awareness of body alignment, budy alignment, begs, trunk) morement coordination	Basic TC elements: This short form contains no difficult or streatures yet contains all of the 13 key elements of Tai Chi that are essential for good health and emotorize hadrone. The key elements inclue: Ward Off (Pent), Rol Back (Lu), Press (J), Push (An), Pul (Ca), Slep (Lu), Press (J), Push (An), Pul (Ca), Slep (Lu), Press (J), Slep Back (Kun), Look Right (Kan), Look left (L), and Centering (Ding).
DId the participants ? <th?< th=""> <th?< th=""> ? <th?< th=""></th?<></th?<></th?<>	Did the participants ? ? ?	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	~	ć		~	2	6	~
Did the participants interact 7 7 2-7 within partner tasks or to help each other? 7 7	Did the participants interact view thin partner tasks or to 7 Performed and the factor of the peach other?	2 2	2	ذ		2	2	ć	6
Was the description of the control comparable to the description of the Tai Chi werden könnten. Gefragt werden training? Mit der beide gleich schlechtherichtet werden werden könnten. Gefragt werden misse incht nach der Beschreibung sondern nach der Art der Walt- Walt- Walt-	Was the description of the Mit de Frage bin ich unglucklich, da control comparable to the beide gleich schlecht berichtet description of the Tai Chi werden könnten. Gefragt werden training? Reschrebung sondern mach der Art der Sondern mach der Art der Durchtfihtung?	Mit der Frage bin ich unglücklich, da beide gleich schlecht benöthet werden könnten. Gefragt werden müsste incht nach der Beschreibung sondern nach der Art der Durchführung?	Wait-	Wait-I	ist control group	Yes	Yes, Usual care (wait list) control group, description of components of usual care provided	Yes (Stretching, mainly seated)	Y es usual care: description of components of usual care provided
What were the credentials TC instructors (N = ?) were trained of the Tal Chi instructors in and exception workshop. TC in the morkshop. TC in the pact instructors in and exception workshop. TC in the pact instructors in and activation of the trained in a strongle activation of the trained in a strongle activation who held the class when experience with adults and were experience with adults and were the trained or an experience with adults and were inter the teacher was sick? TC in the trained conter TC in the teacher and able to follow the research protocol	What were the credentials TC instructors (N = ?) were trained of the Ta. Chi instructors in workshop: TC instructors TC in workshop: the Ta. Chi instructors in workshop: workshop: 2.4ay TC in The p the study? Stretching and Resistance instructors (N = ?) had theat 10 was of community leaching TC in Tai CJ One single Tai	TC instructors (N = ?) were trained and confied during a 2-day workshop. TC in 7 in 7 in 7 in 8 part of community instructors (N = ?) had ribast 10 near the instructor. TC in 7 in p 7	TC in TC instructor: The p One single Tai Chi master at a single experi- teach center The in	TC in The p Tai Ch experiteachi teachi assist	structor: incipal investigator, a nationally recognized in instructor with more than 30 years of ence of traditional training and 20 years of og experience both in China and the US structor was supported by a different teaching and at each location.	TC instructor: a Tai Chi grand master a Tai Chi grand master certified avercise instructors: certified avercise leaders at a YMCA facity. attention control instructors: experenced professionals	Long lasting Tai Chi school, open to the public for a minimum of 5 years. Serior instructor with a minimum of 10 years of training. classes duy jurior instructors supervised by a senior instructor	Experienced TC instructors	Tai Chi instructor: Tai Chi instructor: Chi, cartified to teach the Yang Style of Tai Chi Chi, cartified to teach the Yang Style of Tai Chi with over 30 years of teaching experience, including older adults with chronic diseases Registerer and the experienced in exercise testing/supervision and possessing advanced cardiac file support certification

Appendix 3: Detailed analysis of seven Tai Chi studies. (Legend: * This criterion was suggested by Li et al. (2011), "?" This criterion was not mentioned in the manuscript)

4 Description of the Tai Chi Intervention

The 10-form Tai Chi protocol is a simple concept, adaptable to the abilities and needs of participants. The primary aim of each lesson is to provide the participants with an opportunity to employ in a self-determined exploration of the body and its abilities. Each lesson consists of four elements: warm-up, form, consolidation, cool-down. The warm-up phase includes two weight shifting exercises and is split in a time for conversation and a time in silence. Any further exercises are to be excluded to keep the intervention as simple as possible. The complete 10-form is practised several times each lesson. The number of repetitions varies depending on the mood of the participants. There may be several repetitions without a break in between. The time to complete the form once takes about 5 to 6 minutes. Additionally, each lesson contains a technique consolidation phase on specific elements of the form, based on the questions and needs of the participants. The lessons are concluded with a cool-down phase, comprising breathing and relaxation techniques which focus on body awareness and abdominal breathing in a sitting or lying position. This curricular concept allows for a ritualized course of Tai Chi training with a focus on the Tai Chi movements and principles. Included principles are body-alignment, moving the body slowly as a whole, staying balanced and aware of the body's centre of gravity as well as of the body's connection to the ground, awareness to weight-shifting and not falling into the step, mindful movement, relaxation and abdominal breathing. The training may be accompanied by music. We used the audiobook Shaolin Qi Gong - Energy in Motion (Energie in Bewegung) by Sayama and Shi Xinggui (2007).

Warm-up (10-20min)

The first exercise comprises rhythmic weight shifting from one leg to the other while swinging the relaxed arms from one side to the other via a rotation in the trunk and hip. The heel may be lifted from the floor when the body is turning away from it. The instructor should coach the participants regarding physiologic movement of the knees if necessary. During this activity, there is room for conversation.

The second exercise consists in shifting the body's weight to different directions in a relaxed and upright, standing position, feet hip-width apart. First, awareness is directed on a grounded, balanced and upright position, relaxed shoulders and comfort. Second, participants start slowly shifting their weight in different directions like a tree in the wind. They are encouraged to shifting within the comfort zone as well as beyond their comfort zone to explore their limits of stability. Third, the movements are reduced until the participants reach their centre, standing almost still.

10-Form

The 10-form is played in a symmetric way. While the figures commencement, cross hands and conclusion are played once, the remaining figures are played twice in opposite directions. The 10 figures are: commencement, reverse reeling forearms, brush knee and push, part the wild horse's mane, wave hands like clouds, rooster stands on one leg, kick with heel, grasp the peacock's tail, cross hands, conclusion. Depending on the way of counting, the 10-form is sometimes also called the 8-form (not counting the commencement and the conclusion). A video of the form can be found here: http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=P4Z4sQNQtJM or here http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=n_nfD5O15bk.

Consolidation

The consolidation phase is used to pick specific elements from the form or principles for more detailed explanation and practice. The content of the consolidation phase is variable, depending on the participants' questions and needs. The aim of this phase is to help the participants to get more comfortable with the Tai Chi form. The accuracy of the Tai Chi movements according to the standard version are supported but not demanded. During the first two months of the intervention, the one leg stances are practised with the free foot touching the ground with the toes (rooster stands on one leg) or heel (kick with heel). After two months, the teacher starts demonstrating the single leg stance version. Participants are encouraged to choose their preferred way of playing the positions. The teacher emphasizes that the relaxed stability of the position (even with the help of the free foot) is more important than barely managing a single leg stance.

Cool-down (15min)

During the cool-down phase, the attention is directed to the inside. The aim is mindful body awareness and abdominal breathing. First, the attention is directed to the body's contact to the ground and a feeling of being supported. Trusting this support, participants let go of weight and tension. Second, the attention is consecutively drawn to the breath—how and where it can be felt. Third, the hands are placed on the belly and try to feel the breathing. Forth, the incoming air is directed towards the hands to motivate abdominal breathing. Fifth, active engagement to breathing turns to simple awareness of the flowing movements of breathing and the alternation of expansion and release. Sixth, the attention is directed to the ground and further into the room, leading the participants back to the outside world. Seven, there is time for gentle movement, stretching and yawning. Eighth, in an upright position, the participants wake themselves up by tapping their body.

Balanc	e Test Description ¹	
1.	aim	Quantitative measure of balance ability
2.	tools	1 balance beam (10cm in width, 4m in length, 1cm in height)
		2 cones
		1 volleyball
3.	content	14 Items, rated dichotomously (1 = achieved task, 0 = failed task)
4.	course	test abortion after two consecutive fails

.

Coordination Test Description 1. aim Quantitative measure of balance ability 2. 1 balance beam (10cm in width, 4m in length, 1cm in height) tools 2 cones 1 volleyball 1 gymnastics ball 1 gymnastics stick 3 target marks (20cm in diameter, 70cm apart, two in the height of 1.18m, one in the height of 1.74m), 1 target mark (1m in diameter, in the height of 3m) 10 Items, rated dichotomously (1 = achieved task, 0 = failed task) 3. content 4. course test abortion after two consecutive fails

Conduction of the balance test and the coordination test combined

		#	task	description
Coordination	Balance		The Test is cor possible. It is in task. The test demonstrate th the task yourse of the task for each of the task	nprised of 24 tasks in a rising level of difficulty. Try to complete as many tasks as nportant that you keep up your concentration even when you failed to complete a s going to take this course: We do one task after the other. At first, I'm going to e task for you and explain its rules. While I'm doing that you are not allowed to try lf, instead you just watch and listen. When it's your turn, I'm going to repeat the aim you. Consecutively, you try to complete the task. You only have one single try for ts.
	x	1	One leg stance	As soon as you're ready, you lift one knee up to the front. ² Your free foot mustn't touch your standing leg and should be placed between the ankle and knee of you standing leg. The aim of this task is to keep standing on one leg for 15 seconds (s) without leaving the initial position of your standing foot. The time starts as soon as your foot left the ground.
	x	2	One leg stance, moving the free leg forth and back	As soon as you're ready, you start swinging one leg forth and back. The aim of this task is to stand 15s on one leg, while swinging the other. Your standing foot may not leave its initial position during the task. The time starts as soon as your foot left the ground.
	x	3	One leg stance after 360° turn	As soon as you're ready, you turn 360 degrees. Right after turning, you lift one knee up to the front. Your free foot mustn't touch your standing leg and should be placed between the ankle and knee of you standing leg. The aim of this task is to keep standing on one leg for 15s without leaving the initial position of your standing foot. The time starts as soon as you completed your turn and your foot left the ground.

¹ While the original balance test is comprised of 12 tasks, we included eyes-open conditions for two tasks involving only eyes-closed conditions (jumping jack and moving a foot around two poles in the figure of eight). We chose this procedure for safety reasons, as eyes-closed conditions are very difficult for some MS patients.

² In tasks involving one-legged stances, participants were instructed to stand on the leg which in their opinion was best capable to complete the task successfully. We chose this method for economic reasons: First, using only one leg for all tasks might have induced motor fatigue in some participants. Second, testing both legs for each task would have taken too much

Coordination	Balance	#	task	Description
X	x	4	Jumping Jack	Stand on this line with both feet touching each other and your arms relaxed beside your body. From this position, you jump into a wider stance and lift your arms sideways into the air simultaneously. Consecutively, you jump back into your initial position. The aim of this task is to do 5 jumping jacks, touching the line with at least one foot each time you land. As soon as you leave the line with both feet, you fail the task.
	X	5	One leg stance with eyes closed	As soon as you're ready, you lift one knee up to the front. Your free foot mustn't touch your standing leg and should be placed between the ankle and knee of you standing leg. Then you close your eyes. The aim of this task is to keep standing on one leg for 15s without leaving the initial position of your standing foot. The time starts as soon as you closed your eyes.
	x	6	One leg stance with eyes closed after 360° turn	As soon as you're ready, you turn 360 degrees. Right after turning, you lift one knee up to the front. Your free foot mustn't touch your standing leg and should be placed between the ankle and knee of you standing leg. Then you close your eyes. The aim of this task is to keep standing on one leg for 15s without leaving the initial position of your standing foot. The time starts as soon as you closed your eyes.
	x	7	One leg stance, moving the free leg forth and back with eyes closed	As soon as you're ready, you start swinging one leg forth and back. Then you close your eyes. The aim of this task is to stand 15s on one leg, while swinging the other. Your standing foot may not leave its initial position during the task. The time starts as soon as you closed your eyes
X	X	8	One leg stance, drawing the figure 8 around two cones	With one foot, you step between these cones, your feet should be about 15cm apart. The aim of this task is to draw the figure 8 around these cones with your leg. Keep this leg as straight as possible. You start drawing the figure 8 moving it sideways and then so the front around the front cone. After that, you move your leg between the cones and around the back cone and place it on its initial position between the cones. Try not to touch the cones on your way. Please do the task once with your eyes open and a second time with your eyes closed. If you don't feel comfortable closing your eyes, you may refrain from trying the task with your eyes closed.
x		9	Touch three targets with a stick	You stand sideways to the wall with your dominant hand facing the wall holding the stick. The aim of this task is to touch these 3 target marks consecutively with the stick. At first, you touch them with your eyes open. After that, you close your eyes and try to hit them again. Please do this task slowly and concentrated.
x		10	Moving pattern along the wall	The aim of this task is to move sideways to the right along the wall in a specific pattern. In the initial position, you are standing face to the wall with your hands touching the wall at about the height of your shoulders. Your feet are touching each other. Your hands are touching each other. Then you start the movement with your right foot and your left hand. Your right foot takes a step to the right. Simultaneously, your left hand crosses your right arm and is placed to the right of your right of it. Simultaneously your right hand crosses your right leg and is placed to the right of the right of your left hand. After each step either your arms or your legs are crossed. Do the task in a slow and concentrated manner. As soon as you move a limb that does not have its turn, you fail the task. The aim of the task is to complete 10 steps in this pattern. I'm going to count for you. Please go into the initial position. You start with your right foot and your left hand.
Coordination	Balance	#	task	Description
--------------	---------	----	---	---
x		11	Jumping pattern	The aim of this task is to jump in a specific pattern while rotating your arms in backward circles. You stand with your arms straight behind your back, then you make a step with one leg, jump in the air with this leg while lifting the knee of your other leg. Your arms move upwards together with your free leg. Then you land on the leg you jumped from and make a step with the leg, repeating the same pattern. You complete the task when you manage to do 5 jumps of this pattern in a row.
X		12	Catch a ball between the knees	In the initial position, you bend forward, holding the ball between your knees with both hands. One hand is holding the ball from the front and the other hand is holding the ball from the back. In this position, your arms are placed around one of your legs. The aim of the test is to let go of the ball and switch the position of your hands without dropping the ball on the ground. The hand that held the ball from the front should then be holding it from the back and the hand that held the ball from the back is holding it from the front. Now, your arms are placed around your other leg. You complete the task if you manage to switch the position of your hands 3 times without dropping the ball.
	x	13	cross the balance beam walking forwards	For your starting position, place one foot on the beam and the other foot next to the beam on the ground. As soon as you're ready, walk across the beam. At the end of the beam, you stop walking and stand safely with both feet on the beam for 3s.
	x	14	Walk forwards, turn in the middle and walk back	For your starting position, place one foot on the beam and the other foot next to the beam on the ground. As soon as you're ready, you start walking across the beam. As soon as you crossed the middle line, you turn 180° and walk back the way you came from. At the end of the beam, you stop walking and stand safely with both feet on the beam for 3s.
x	x	15	Walk backwards, turn in the middle, walk forwards	For your starting position, stand with your back to the beam, placing one foot on the beam and the other foot next to the beam on the ground. As soon as you're ready, you start walking backwards. When you crossed the middle line, turn 180° and continue walking forwards to the other end of the beam. At the end of the beam, you stop walking and stand safely with both feet on the beam for 3s.
	x	16	Walk backwards, turn 360° in the middle, continue walking backwards	For your starting position, stand with your back to the beam, placing one foot on the beam and the other foot next to the beam on the ground. As soon as you're ready, you start walking backwards. When you crossed the middle line, turn 360° and continue walking backward to the other end of the beam. At the end of the beam, you stop walking and stand safely with both feet on the beam for 3s.
x	x	17	Cross the beam walking forwards while dribbling a volleyball	You may try dribbling this ball prior to the following task. For your starting position, with the volleyball in your hands, place one foot on the beam and the other foot next to the beam on the ground. As soon as you're ready, you start dribbling the ball. Then you walk across the beam to the other end while dribbling. At the end of the beam, you stop walking and stand safely with both feet on the beam for 3s.
	Х	18	Walking forwards with eyes closed	For your starting position, place one foot on the beam and the other foot next to the beam on the ground. As soon as you're ready, you close your eyes and walk across the beam. You may touch the ground slightly while searching for the beam with your feet. At the end of the beam, you stop walking and stand safely with both feet on the beam for 3s.

Coordination	Balance	#	task	Description
х		19	Throw and catch a ball	You stand behind this line with the ball in your hands. The aim of this task is to throw the ball with one hand against this target mark and to catch it before it hits
				the ground. To catch the ball you may step across the line.
(x)		20	Throw the ball,	You stand with the ball in your hand. As soon as you're ready, you throw the ball
			turn 360°,	into the air, turn 360° and catch the ball before it hits the ground.
			catch the ball	(We omitted this task for safety reasons.)

Reference:

Bös, K., Wydra, G. & Karisch, G. (1992). Gesundheitsförderung durch Bewegung, Spiel und Sport. Ziele und Methoden des Gesundheitssports in der Klinik (Beiträge zur Sportmedizin, Bd. 38). Erlangen: perimed-Fachbuch-Verl.-Ges.

References

- Asano, M. & Finlayson, M. L. (2014). Meta-analysis of three different types of fatigue management interventions for people with multiple sclerosis: exercise, education, and medication. *Multiple Sclerosis International*, 2014, 1–12. doi:10.1155/2014/798285
- Au-Yeung, S. S. Y., Hui-Chan, C. W. Y. & Tang, J. C. S. (2009). Short-form Tai Chi improves standing balance of people with chronic stroke. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*, 23(5), 515–522. doi:10.1177/1545968308326425
- Bishop, S. R., Lau, M., Shapiro, S., Carlson, L., Anderson, N. D., Carmody, J., ... Devins, G. (2004). Mindfulness: A Proposed Operational Definition. *Clinical Psychology: Science* and Practice, 11(3), 230–241. doi:10.1093/clipsy.bph077
- Burschka, J., Hofstadt-van Oy, U. & Kuhn, P. (2012). Dem eigenen Körper vertrauen. Taijiquan bei Multipler Sklerose - eine explorative Studie. *Taijiquan und Qigong Journal*(1), 18–25.
- Burschka, J., Kuhn, P., Menge, U. & Oschmann, P. (2013). Research on Tai Chi as a sport in health care. *Sportwissenschaft*, *43*(3), 181–196. doi:10.1007/s12662-013-0300-1
- Burschka, J. M. & Hoos, O. (2010). Entwicklung eines Testsystems zur Objektivierung motorischer Ermüdbarkeit bei Multipler Sklerose (Diplomarbeit). Julius-Maximilians-Universität Würzburg.
- Burschka, J. M., Keune, P. M., Hofstadt-van Oy, U., Oschmann, P. & Kuhn, P. (2014). Mindfulness-based interventions in multiple sclerosis: beneficial effects of Tai Chi on balance, coordination, fatigue and depression. *BMC Neurology*, *14*, 1–9. doi:10.1186/s12883-014-0165-4
- Burschka, J. M., Keune, P. M., Menge, U., Hofstadt-van Oy, U., Oschmann, P. & Hoos, O. (2012). An exploration of impaired walking dynamics and fatigue in Multiple Sclerosis. *BMC Neurology*, *12*(161), 1–8. doi:10.1186/1471-2377-12-161
- Carlyle, L., Johnston, K., Rattray, S. & Wheeler, G. (2009). A Health Professionals Guide to Understanding Exercise and MS. Retrieved 25.10.2014, from http://mssociety.ca/ alberta/pdf/Active/MS_ActiveNOW-HP_Book2009.pdf
- Chiaravalloti, N. D. & DeLuca, J. (2008). Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *The Lancet Neurology*, 7(12), 1139–1151. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(08)70259-X
- Compston, A. & Coles, A. (2008). Multiple sclerosis. *Lancet*, *372*(9648), 1502–1517. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61620-7
- Dalgas, U. & Stenager, E. (2012). Exercise and disease progression in multiple sclerosis: can exercise slow down the progression of multiple sclerosis? *Therapeutic Advances in Neurological Disorders*, *5*(2), 81–95. doi:10.1177/1756285611430719
- Dalgas, U., Stenager, E. & Sloth, M. (2014). The effect of exercise on depressive symptoms in multiple sclerosis based on a meta-analysis and critical review of the literature. *European Journal of Neurology: the Official Journal of the European Federation of Neurological Societies*, Advance online publication. doi:10.1111/ene.12576

- DeLuca, J. & Nocentini, U. (2011). Neuropsychological, medical and rehabilitative management of persons with multiple sclerosis. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*, 29(3), 197–219. doi:10.3233/NRE-2011-0695
- Dobkin, B. H. (2008). Fatigue Versus Activity-Dependent Fatigability in Patients With Central or Peripheral Motor Impairments. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*, 22(2), 105– 110. doi:10.1177/1545968308315046
- Döring, A., Pfueller, C. F., Paul, F. & Dörr, J. (2012). Exercise in multiple sclerosis an integral component of disease management. *European Association for Predictive Preventive & Personalized Medicine*, 3(1), 1–13. doi:10.1007/s13167-011-0136-4
- Ellis, T. & Motl, R. W. (2013). Physical Activity Behavior Change in Persons With Neurologic Disorders. *Journal of Neurologic Physical Therapy*, *37*(2), 85–90. doi:10.1097/NPT.0b013e31829157c0
- Feinstein, A., Magalhaes, S., Richard, J.-F., Audet, B. & Moore, C. (2014). The link between multiple sclerosis and depression. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 10(9), 507–517. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2014.139
- Flachenecker, P., Buckow, K., Pugliatti, M., Kes, V. B., Battaglia, M. A., Boyko, A., ... Yaldizli,
 O. (2014). Multiple sclerosis registries in Europe results of a systematic survey. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 1–10. doi:10.1177/1352458514528760
- Flachenecker, P., Müller, G., König, H., Meissner, H., Toyka, K. V. & Rieckmann, P. (2006). "Fatigue" bei Multipler Sklerose. Entwicklung und Validierung des "Würzburger Erschöpfungsinventars bei MS". *Der Nervenarzt*, 77(2), 165–174. doi:10.1007/s00115-005-1990-x
- Frohman, E. M., Racke, M. K. & Raine, C. S. (2006). Multiple sclerosis-the plaque and its pathogenesis. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 354(9), 942–955. doi:10.1056/NEJMra052130
- Frohman, T. C., Davis, S. L., Beh, S., Greenberg, B. M., Remington, G. & Frohman, E. M. (2013). Uhthoff's phenomena in MS–clinical features and pathophysiology. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 9(9), 535–540. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2013.98
- Gerlach, M. & Kuhn, P. (2011). *Das Üben von Taijiquan aus Sicht von Patienten mit Multipler Sklerose: Eine Interviewstudie* (Bachelorarbeit). Universität Bayreuth.
- Haghikia, A. & Gold, R. (2013). Current and Future Treatments of Multiple Sclerosis. In T. Yamamura & B. Gran (Eds.), *Multiple Sclerosis Immunology* (pp. 357–384). Springer New York. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-7953-6_17
- Hawelka, T. & Kuhn, P. (2012). Auswirkungen von Taijiquan als Bewegungstherapie auf die subjektive Lebensqualität von Menschen mit Multipler Sklerose (Bachelorarbeit). Universität Bayreuth.
- Johnston, K., Carlyle, L. & Rattray, S. (2007). Activating Your Life: A guide to exercise for persons with multiple sclerosis. Retrieved 25.10.2014, from http://mssociety.ca/ alberta/pdf/Active/GuideToExerciseForPersonsWithMS.pdf
- Johnston, K., Carlyle, L. & Rattray, S. (2008). Understanding MS and Exercise: A Fitness and Lifestyle Providers Guide. Retrieved 25.10.2014, from http://mssociety.ca/alberta/ pdf/Active/UnderstandingMSandExercise.pdf
- Johnston, K., Wheeler, G. & Rattray, S. (2009a). Adopting and Maintaining an Active Lifestyle: A Guide for Persons Living with Multiple Sclerosis. Retrieved 25.10.2014, from http://mssociety.ca/alberta/pdf/Active/Adapting_and

_Maintaining_an_Active_Lifestyle.pdf

- Johnston, K., Wheeler, G. & Rattray, S. (2009b). Overcoming the Barriers: A Fitness Professionals Guide to Removing Fitness Facility Barriers for Persons with Multiple Sclerosis. Retrieved 25.10.2014, from http://mssociety.ca/alberta/pdf/Active/Overcoming the Barriers-Fitness_Professional_Guide.pdf
- Josefsson, T., Lindwall, M. & Archer, T. (2014). Physical exercise intervention in depressive disorders: meta-analysis and systematic review. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, *24*(2), 259–272. doi:10.1111/sms.12050
- Kamm, C. P., Uitdehaag, B. M. & Polman, C. H. (2014). Multiple sclerosis: current knowledge and future outlook. *European Neurology*, *72*(3-4), 132–141. doi:10.1159/000360528
- Keng, S.-L., Smoski, M. J. & Robins, C. J. (2011). Effects of mindfulness on psychological health: a review of empirical studies. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *31*(6), 1041–1056. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2011.04.006
- Khan, F., Amatya, B. & Galea, M. (2014). Management of fatigue in persons with multiple sclerosis. *Frontiers in Neurology*, *5*(177), 1–15. doi:10.3389/fneur.2014.00177
- Kobelt, G., Berg, J., Lindgren, P., Fredrikson, S. & Jönsson, B. (2006). Costs and quality of life of patients with multiple sclerosis in Europe. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery,* and Psychiatry, 77(8), 918–926. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2006.090365
- Kos, D., Kerckhofs, E., Nagels, G., D'hooghe, M. B. & Ilsbroukx, S. (2008). Origin of fatigue in multiple sclerosis: review of the literature. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*, 22(1), 91–100. doi:10.1177/1545968306298934
- Krupp, L. B., Serafin, D. J. & Christodoulou, C. (2010). Multiple sclerosis-associated fatigue. *Expert Review of Neurotherapeutics*, *10*(9), 1437–1447. doi:10.1586/ern.10.99
- Kurtzke, J. F. (1983). Rating neurologic impairment in multiple sclerosis: an expanded disability status scale (EDSS). *Neurology*, *33*(11), 1444–1452. doi:10.1212/WNL.33.11.1444
- Latimer-Cheung, A. E., Martin Ginis, K. A., Hicks, A. L., Motl, R. W., Pilutti, L. A., Duggan, M., ... Smith, K. M. (2013a). Development of Evidence-Informed Physical Activity Guidelines for Adults With Multiple Sclerosis. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 94(9), 1829–1836.e7. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2013.05.015
- Latimer-Cheung, A. E., Pilutti, L. A., Hicks, A. L., Martin Ginis, K. A., Fenuta, A. M., MacKibbon, K. A. & Motl, R. W. (2013b). Effects of Exercise Training on Fitness, Mobility, Fatigue, and Health-Related Quality of Life Among Adults With Multiple Sclerosis: A Systematic Review to Inform Guideline Development. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 94(9), 1800–1828.e3. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2013.04.020
- Li, F., Harmer, P., Fitzgerald, K., Eckstrom, E., Stock, R., Galver, J., ... Batya, S. S. (2012).
 Tai chi and postural stability in patients with Parkinson's disease. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *366*(6), 511–519. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1107911
- Li, L. & Manor, B. (2010). Long term Tai Chi exercise improves physical performance among people with peripheral neuropathy. *The American Journal of Chinese Medicine*, *38*(3), 449–459. doi:10.1142/S0192415X1000797X
- Lublin, F. D. & Reingold, S. C. (1996). Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: results of an international survey. *Neurology*, *46*(4), 907–911. doi:10.1212/WNL.46.4.907
- Lublin, F. D., Reingold, S. C., Cohen, J. A., Cutter, G. R., Sørensen, P. S., Thompson, A. J.,

... Polman, C. H. (2014). Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: the 2013 revisions. *Neurology*, *83*(3), 278–286. doi:10.1212/WNL.00000000000560

- Luessi, F., Kuhlmann, T. & Zipp, F. (2014). Remyelinating strategies in multiple sclerosis. *Expert Review of Neurotherapeutics*, *14*(11), 1315–1334. doi:10.1586/14737175.2014.969241
- MacAllister, W. S. & Krupp, L. B. (2005). Multiple sclerosis-related fatigue. *Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Clinics of North America*, 16(2), 483–502. doi:10.1016/j.pmr.2005.01.014
- Mills, N., Allen, J. & Carey-Morgan, S. (2000). Does Tai Chi/Qi Gong help patients with Multiple Sclerosis? *Journal of Bodywork and Movement Therapies*, 4(1), 39–48. doi:10.1054/jbmt.1999.0139
- Mills, R. J. & Young, C. A. (2008). A medical definition of fatigue in multiple sclerosis. QJM: Monthly Journal of the Association of Physicians, 101(1), 49–60. doi:10.1093/qjmed/hcm122
- Milo, R. & Miller, A. (2014). Revised diagnostic criteria of multiple sclerosis. Autoimmunity Reviews, 13(4-5), 518–524. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2014.01.012
- Motl, R. W. (2013). Ambulation and Multiple Sclerosis. *Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Clinics of North America*, *24*(2), 325–336. doi:10.1016/j.pmr.2012.11.004
- Motl, R. W. & Pilutti, L. A. (2012). The benefits of exercise training in multiple sclerosis. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 8(9), 487–497. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2012.136
- Motl, R. W., Sandroff, B. M. & Benedict, R. H. B. (2011). Cognitive dysfunction and multiple sclerosis: developing a rationale for considering the efficacy of exercise training. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 17(9), 1034–1040. doi:10.1177/1352458511409612
- Multiple Sclerosis Council for Clinical Practice Guidelines. (1998). Fatigue and multiple sclerosis: Evidence-based management strategies for fatigue in multiple sclerosis: clinical practice guidelines. Washington, DC. Retrieved 04.01.2015, from http:// www.kintera.org/AccountTempFiles/Account403152/ECSoft/MS-FatigueCPG.pdf
- Murray, T. J. (2009). The history of multiple sclerosis: the changing frame of the disease over the centuries. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 277(1), S3–S8. doi:10.1016/S0022-510X(09)70003-6
- National Clinical Guideline Centre. (2014). Multiple sclerosis: Management of multiple sclerosis in primary and secondary care: NICE Clinical Guidelines, No. 186. London. Retrieved 04.01.2015, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmedhealth/PMH0068954/ pdf/TOC.pdf
- Nedeljkovic, M., Wirtz, P. H. & Ausfeld-Hafter, B. (2012). Effects of Taiji Practice on Mindfulness and Self-Compassion in Healthy Participants—A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Mindfulness*, 3(3), 200–208. doi:10.1007/s12671-012-0092-7
- Siegert, R. J. & Abernethy, D. A. (2005). Depression in multiple sclerosis: a review. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry, 76(4), 469–475. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2004.054635
- Simmons, R. D., Ponsonby, A.-L., van der Mei, I. A. F. & Sheridan, P. (2004). What affects your MS? Responses to an anonymous, Internet-based epidemiological survey. *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, *10*(2), 202–211. doi:10.1191/1352458504ms1006oa
- Simpson, R., Booth, J., Lawrence, M., Byrne, S., Mair, F. & Mercer, S. (2014). Mindfulness based interventions in multiple sclerosis - a systematic review. *BMC Neurology*,

14(15), 1-9. doi:10.1186/1471-2377-14-15

- Stroud, N., Minahan, C. & Sabapathy, S. (2009). The perceived benefits and barriers to exercise participation in persons with multiple sclerosis. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, *31*(26), 2216–2222. doi:10.3109/09638280902980928
- Tallner, A., Mäurer, M. & Pfeifer, K. (2013). Multiple Sklerose und körperliche Aktivität. *Der Nervenarzt*, *84*(10), 1238–1244. doi:10.1007/s00115-013-3838-0
- Tallner, A. & Pfeifer, K. (2008). Bewegungstherapie bei Multipler Sklerose Wirkungen von körperlicher Aktivität und Training. B&G Bewegungstherapie und Gesundheitssport, 24(3), 102–108. doi:10.1055/s-2008-1004799
- Tomassini, V., Matthews, P. M., Thompson, A. J., Fuglo, D., Geurts, J. J., Johansen-Berg, H., ... Palace, J. (2012). Neuroplasticity and functional recovery in multiple sclerosis. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 8(11), 635–646. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2012.179
- Tousignant, M., Corriveau, H., Roy, P.-M., Desrosiers, J., Dubuc, N., Hebert, R., ... Beaudoin, A.-J. (2012). The effect of supervised Tai Chi intervention compared to a physiotherapy program on fall-related clinical outcomes: a randomized clinical trial. *Disability* and Rehabilitation, 34(3), 196–201. doi:10.3109/09638288.2011.591891
- Vollmer, T. (2007). The natural history of relapses in multiple sclerosis. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, *256*(1), S5-S13. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2007.01.065
- Wang, C., Schmid, C., Rones, R., Kalish, R., Yinh, J., Goldenberg, D., ... McAlindon, T. (2010). A randomized trial of tai chi for fibromyalgia. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 363(8), 743–754. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0912611
- Wayne, P. M. & Kaptchuk, T. J. (2008). Challenges inherent to t'ai chi research: part II-defining the intervention and optimal study design. *Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine*, 14(2), 191–197. doi:10.1089/acm.2007.7170B
- World Health Organization. (2014). *Physical activity: Fact sheet N 385.* Retrieved 20.12.2014, from http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs385/en/
- World Health Organization. (2015). International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems: 10th Revision, WHO Version. Retrieved from http://apps .who.int/classifications/icd10/browse/2015/en#/

Acknowledgements

Die Verwirklichung dieser Arbeit war eine echte Herausforderung und eine wertvolle Erfahrung, die mich fachlich und persönlich immens wachsen ließ. Ich bedanke mich ganz herzlich bei all denen, die mich auf meinem Weg begleitet und unterstützt haben.

Mein Dank gilt vor allem meinem Betreuer und Mentor Prof. Dr. Peter Kuhn. Seine Fähigkeit, mich sicher zu führen und mir dabei gleichzeitig große Freiräume für die Umsetzung eigener Ideen zu gewähren, erinnert an die hohe Kunst des Pushhand im Tai Chi. Mein Dank gilt außerdem Herrn Prof. Dr. Oschmann, Chefarzt der Neurologischen Klinik, für sein Interesse, seine kompetente Beratung und sein Engangement, die Rahmenbedingungen für die Planung, Finanzierung und Umsetzung der durchgeführten Studien bereitzustellen.

Für ihre persönliche wie fachliche Unterstützung und gute Zusammenarbeit bedanke ich mich bei allen Kolleginnen und Kollegen der Klinik Hohe Warte, der Universität Bayreuth und bei meinen Freunden. Insbesondere gilt mein Dank Dr. Philipp Keune für seine Einsatzbereitschaft bei der Auswertung, Interpretation und Publikation der Ergebnisse; Dr. Uwe Menge für seine wertvolle Unterstützung und Beratung in der Konzeption und Durchführung der beiden Studien; Diana Perzewski für ihre moralische Unterstützung, spaßige Zeit am gemeinsamen Schreibtisch und gleichzeitige Nachsicht gegenüber meinen spontanen Tai Chi Experimenten im Büro; dem Team der neurologischen Ambulanz für die Unterstützung bei der Probandenrekrutierung und die gemeinsamen Wanderungen zur Mittagspause; Dr. Ulrich Hofstadt-van Oy für seine Hilfe bei der Erhebung klinischer Daten und die gewissenhafte Organisation und Motivation unserer Laufgruppe; meinen geschätzten Kollegen von der Sporttherapie, die mich immer wieder daran erinnerten, auch mal Pausen einzulegen; Prof. Dr. Susanne Tittlbach für die kompetente Beratung zur Durchfühung und Auswertung der motorischen Tests; Nehemiah McKnight Monrose, meinem Schulfreund und Outdoor Survival Kollegen aus Montreal, Kanada, für seine geduldige Beratung zu sprachlichen Fragen; Ronja Majeed, für die treue Begleitung und die wissenschaftlichen Diskussionen.

Für die finanzielle Unterstützung bedanke ich mich zum einen bei Novartis Pharma GmbH für die Ermöglichung der Tai Chi Studie und zum anderen bei der Deutschen Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) und bei der Universität Bayreuth für die Förderung der beiden Open Access Publikationen.

An dieser Stelle möchte ich mich auch ganz herzlich bei meinem Tai Chi Mentor Daniel Grolle und meinen Tai Chi Mitspielern für die wunderbare Ausbildungszeit in Aschaffenburg, Bremen und Hamburg bedanken. Ihr habt meinen Entdeckergeist geweckt und mich immer wieder aufs Neue motiviert und beflügelt!

Letztendlich danke ich allen Teilnehmerinnen und Teilnehmern der beiden Studien für die tatkräftige Mithilfe und Einsatzbereitschaft. Ich freue mich riesig über die beiden entstandenen Tai Chi Gruppen, die sich jetzt (zwei Jahre nach Abschluss der Tai Chi Intervention) auch weiterhin noch zum gemeinsamen Tai Chi Spielen treffen. Es ist wunderbar erfüllend mitzuerleben, wie Ihr Euch die Prinzipien des Tai Chi aneignet, sie im Leben verwirklicht und sichtlich Freude daran habt, im Üben und Spielen immer wieder Neues zu entdecken.

Janina Burschka



Diplom Sportwissenschaftlerin

Angaben zur Person

geboren am 30. August 1984 in Würzburg

Berufstätigkeit: Klinik Hohe Warte, Bayreuth

seit 2012	Sporttherapeutin.
2010 - 2012	Wissenschaftliche Mitarbeiterin.

Bildungsgang

Gymnasium

1995-2002	Wirsberg	Gymnasium,	Würzburg.
-----------	----------	------------	-----------

- 2002-2003 John Abbott College, Montreal, Canada.
- 2003-2005 Friedrich-König Gymnasium, Würzburg.
 - 2005 Abitur, Friedrich-König Gymnasium, Würzburg.

Hochschulstudium

- 2005-2010 **Diplom Sportwissenschaft (Prävention und Rehabilitation)**, Julius-Maximilians-Universität, Würzburg.
- 2010-2015 **Promotion**, Universität Bayreuth.

Tai Chi Ausbildung

- 2005, 2009 **Julius-Maximilians-Universität**, *Würzburg*, 10-Form, 24-Form (Yang Stil).
 - 2011 **bei Manfred Spiske**, *Bayreuth*, 24-Form (Yang Stil), Kurzform nach Zheng Man Qing.
 - 2011 bei Dr. Wentao Li, nationally ranked first level martial arts sportsman and referee from Shenyang Sports University, China, Universität Bayreuth, 24-Form (Yang Stil).
 - seit 2011 **500 Unterrichtsstunden bei Daniel Grolle**, Pushhand, Kurzform nach Zheng Man Qing.
 - 2015 Zertifizierung als Tai Chi Lehrerin.

Ehrenamt

seit 2012 **Tai Chi Lehrerin für MS Betroffene**, *im Verein ZanshinDokan e.V.*, Bayreuth.

Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Ich versichere hiermit an Eides statt, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit ohne unzulässige Hilfe Dritter und ohne Benutzung anderer als der angegebenen Hilfsmittel angefertigt habe; die aus fremden Quellen direkt oder indirekt übernommenen Gedanken sind als solche kenntlich gemacht.

Darüberhinaus versichere ich, dass ich weder bisher Hilfe von gewerblichen Promotionsberatern bzw. -vermittlern in Anspruch genommen habe noch künftig in Anspruch nehmen werde. Die Arbeit wurde bisher weder im Inland noch im Ausland in gleicher oder ähnlicher Form einer anderen Prüfungsbehörde vorgelegt und ist auch noch nicht veröffentlicht.

Ort, Datum

Janina Burschka